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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) of Seritage Growth Properties contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Any statements that do not relate to historical or current facts or matters are forward-looking statements. 
You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” 
“approximately,” “intends,” “plans,” “pro forma,” “estimates” or “anticipates” or the opposite of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases which 
are predictions of or indicate future events or trends and which do not relate solely to historical matters. Statements concerning current conditions may 
also be forward-looking if they imply a continuation of current conditions. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, 
plans or intentions.

Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you should not rely on them as predictions of future events. Forward-looking 
statements depend on assumptions, data or methods which may be incorrect or imprecise and we may not be able to realize them. The following factors, 
among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

• Declines in retail, real estate and general economic conditions;

• Competition and related challenges in the real estate and retail industries and the ability of our top tenants to successfully operate their 
businesses;

• Failure to achieve expected occupancy and/or rent levels within the projected time frame or at all;

• Risks relating to our redevelopment activities and potential acquisition or disposition of properties;

• The process and results of our review of strategic alternatives and our Plan of Sale (defined below);

• The impact of ongoing negative operating cash flow on our ability to fund operations and ongoing development; 

• Contingencies to the commencement of rent under signed leases;

• Environmental, health, safety and land use and other laws and regulations;

• The terms of our indebtedness and availability or sources of liquidity; and

• Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence or cybersecurity interests.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. Except as required by law, we disclaim any 
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying assumptions or factors of new information, data or 
methods, future events or other changes. For a further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or 
transactions, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Seritage Growth Properties (“Seritage”) (NYSE: SRG), a Maryland real estate investment trust formed on June 3, 2015, operated as a fully integrated, 
self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) as defined under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) 
from formation through December 31, 2021. On March 31, 2022, Seritage revoked its REIT election and became a taxable C Corporation effective 
January 1, 2022. Seritage’s assets are held by and its operations are primarily conducted, directly or indirectly, through Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., 
a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, Seritage, as the sole 
general partner, has exclusive responsibility and discretion in the management and control of the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise expressly 
stated or the context otherwise requires, the “Company” and “Seritage” refer to Seritage, the Operating Partnership and its owned and controlled 
subsidiaries.

Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of Sale (defined below), Seritage was principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment, 
management, sale and leasing of diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. Seritage will continue to actively manage each 
location until such time as each property is sold. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s portfolio consisted of interests in 32 properties comprised of 
approximately 4.1 million square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”) or build-to-suit leased area and 460 acres of land. The portfolio consists of 
approximately 2.8 million square feet of GLA and 326 acres held by 23 wholly owned properties (such properties, the “Consolidated Properties”) and 1.2 
million square feet of GLA and 134 acres held by nine unconsolidated entities (such properties, the “Unconsolidated Properties”).

The Company’s mission is to maximize value for our shareholders in accordance with the Plan of Sale.

Background 

The Company commenced operations on July 7, 2015 following a rights offering to the shareholders of Sears Holding Corporation (“Sears Holdings” or 
“Sears”) to purchase common shares of Seritage in order to fund, in part, the $2.7 billion acquisition of certain of Sears Holdings’ owned properties and 
its 50% interests in three joint ventures which were simultaneously leased back to Sears Holdings under master lease agreements (the “Original Master 
Lease” and the “JV Original Master Leases”, respectively). 

On October 15, 2018, Sears Holdings and certain of its affiliates filed voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code 
with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court”). Subsequently, the Company and certain affiliates 
of Transform Holdco LLC (“Holdco”), an affiliate of ESL Investments, Inc., executed a master lease (the “Holdco Master Lease”) with respect to 51 
Consolidated Properties, which became effective when the Bankruptcy Court issued an order approving the rejection of the Original Master Lease.

Since March 2021, the Company has not leased any properties to Sears Holdings or its successors after giving effect to the termination of the remaining 
Consolidated Properties.

Edward S. Lampert is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ESL Investments, Inc, which owns Holdco. Mr. Lampert was also the Chairman of 
Seritage prior to his retirement, effective March 1, 2022, and controlled each of the tenant entities that was a party to the Holdco Master Lease prior to 
their respective terminations.

Review of Strategic Alternatives

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees has commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to 
enhance shareholder value. The Board of Trustees created a special committee of the Board of Trustees (the “Special Committee”) to oversee the 
process. The Special Committee retained Barclays Capital, Inc. (“Barclays”) as its financial advisor from March 2022 through August 2023 to assist with 
the strategic review. The Company sought a shareholder vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of our assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that 
would allow our Board of Trustees to sell all of our assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company, which Plan of Sale can 
be suspended by the Board of Trustees.
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The 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, at which time the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders, following our 
filing of a final proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on September 14, 2022. See Note 1 – Organization of the Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Plan of Sale. 
The strategic review process remains ongoing as the Company executes the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value 
maximizing alternatives, including a potential sale of the Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or 
that the Company will be successful in fully executing on the Plan of Sale. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—
There can be no assurance that our review of strategic alternatives will result in any transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of 
Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

Market Update

Since the latter months of 2022, the Company, along with the commercial real estate market as a whole, has experienced and continues to experience 
challenging market conditions as a result of, among other things, the rise in interest rates, increases to required return hurdles for institutional buyers, 
availability of debt capital (including the willingness of commercial banks to lend in light of potential recession risks and balance sheet constraints), 
continued inflation resulting in higher construction and labor costs for development (which has the effect of, among other things, making cost estimates in 
development proformas more challenging), decreased demand for office development (with concerns about long term demand for office space including, 
but not limited to, continued work-from-home trends), slowing rent growth expectations due to potential recession concerns, political and election 
uncertainty in the United States and the possibility of geopolitical conflict spreading to other regions. These conditions have applied and continue to apply 
downward pricing pressure on all of our assets. In making decisions regarding whether and when to transact on each of the Company’s remaining 
assets, the Company will consider various factors including, but not limited to, the breadth of the buyer universe, macroeconomic conditions, the 
availability and cost of financing, as well as corporate, operating and other capital expenses required to carry the asset. If these challenging market 
conditions persist, then we expect that they will impact the Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets and the amounts and timing of distributions to 
shareholders. 

Business Strategies

The Company’s primary objective is to create value for its shareholders through the monetization of the Company’s assets in accordance with the Plan 
of Sale, which can be suspended by the Board of Trustees. Additionally, we have identified various sites that we believe have the demand and 
demographic profile to support other uses such as residential, biotechnology, office and others, which could create greater value for shareholders. Given 
our fee ownership of these properties and control over parking lots and outparcels, we believe that these sites are well positioned for such value creation 
opportunities. We additionally will look to further lease our built retail footprint and densify any excess land through the addition of triple net (“NNN”) or 
ground lease pad sites, which are standalone sites upon which a customized space can be built or leased for a tenant, to the extent that we believe these 
actions would be accretive to shareholder value.

In order to achieve its objective, the Company intends to execute the following strategies: 

• Multi-tenant Retail: Our portfolio of six multi-tenant retail assets provides positive cash flow and are primarily leased to a variety of national credit 
tenants. As of December 31, 2023, this portfolio was 71.6% leased. A majority of our leases are subject to collect recoveries from tenants based 
on the structure of our leases, providing an important inflation hedge. We are working to maximize value of these assets and position them for sale.

• Densification and Redevelopment Opportunities: In particular, we have identified various sites that we believe have the demand and 
demographic profile to support other uses such as residential, biotechnology, office and others. Given our fee ownership of these properties and 
control over parking lots and outparcels, we believe that these sites are well positioned for such value creation opportunities through entitlements, 
leasing and development. As of December 31, 2023, our full portfolio included approximately 460 acres of land, or an average of 14.4 acres per 
site, and our most significant geographic concentrations were in higher growth markets in California, Florida, Texas, and the Northeast. We have 
redeveloped a number of properties to completion or near completion and have achieved leasing of 100% at UTC and 69% at Aventura.

• Non-core Assets: We continue to assess the best use for all sites within our portfolio, including residential, retail, and converting excess land 
area to pad sites. The non-core assets are those assets where we believe we will maximize value by selling in its current state. 

Significant Tenants

Management believes the Company’s portfolio is reasonably diversified and does not contain any significant concentrations of credit risk. As of 
December 31, 2023, the Company has one tenant that comprises 15.7% of annualized base rent, with no other tenants exceeding 10% of annualized 
base rent. The Company's portfolio of 23 Consolidated Properties and nine Unconsolidated Properties was diversified by location across 13 states.
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Competition

We currently compete with other properties located in markets in which our assets are located both from an operations perspective and with respect to 
the disposition of our assets. We cannot assure you that the competitive pressures we face will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

We compete for prospective tenants with REITs, real estate partnerships and other real estate companies, private individuals, investment companies, 
private equity and hedge fund investors, sovereign funds, pension funds, insurance companies, lenders and other investors, including retail operators that 
may close stores and pursue similar real estate strategies. In addition, revenues from our properties are dependent on the ability of our tenants and 
operators to compete.

As a landlord, we compete in the real estate market with numerous developers and owners of properties, including the shopping centers in which our 
properties are located. Some of our competitors have greater economies of scale, relationships with national tenants at multiple properties which are 
owned or operated by such competitors, access to more resources and greater name recognition than we do. If our competitors offer space at rental rates 
below the current market rates or below the rentals we currently charge, or on terms and conditions which include locations at multiple properties, we 
may lose our existing and/or potential tenants and we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates or to offer substantial rent abatements, tenant 
improvement allowances, early termination rights or below-market renewal options in order to win new tenants and retain tenants when our leases expire.

With respect to the disposition of our assets, our ability to compete is also impacted by national and local economic trends, availability of investment 
alternatives, availability and cost of capital, construction and renovation costs, existing laws and regulations, new legislation and population trends.

Environmental Matters

Our properties are subject to environmental laws regulating, among other things, air emissions, wastewater discharges and the handling and disposal of 
waste. Certain properties were built during the time that asbestos-containing building materials were routinely installed in residential and commercial 
structures. In addition, a substantial portion of the properties we acquired from Sears Holdings currently include, or previously included, automotive care 
center facilities and retail fueling facilities, and are or were subject to laws and regulations governing the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous 
substances contained in some of the products or materials used or sold in the automotive care center facilities (such as motor oil, fluid in hydraulic lifts, 
antifreeze and solvents and lubricants), the recycling/disposal of batteries and tires, air emissions, wastewater discharges and waste management. In 
addition to these products or materials, the equipment in use or previously used at such properties, such as service equipment, car lifts, oil/water 
separators, and storage tanks, has been subject to increasing environmental regulation relating to, among other things, the storage, handling, use, 
disposal, and transportation of hazardous materials. Our leases include, or are expected to include, provisions obligating the operator to comply with 
applicable environmental laws and to indemnify us if such operator’s noncompliance results in losses or claims against us with respect to environmental 
matters first arising during such operator’s occupancy. An operator’s failure to comply could result in fines and penalties or the requirement to undertake 
corrective actions which may result in significant costs to the operator and thus adversely affect their ability to meet their obligations to us. 

Pursuant to U.S. federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real property may be required to 
investigate, remove and/or remediate a release of hazardous substances or other regulated materials at, or emanating from, such property. Further, 
under certain circumstances, such owners or operators of real property may be held liable for property damage, personal injury and/or natural resource 
damage resulting from or arising in connection with such releases. Certain of these laws have been interpreted to be joint and several unless the harm is 
divisible and there is a reasonable basis for allocation of responsibility. We also may be liable under certain of these laws for damage that occurred prior 
to our ownership of a property or at a site where we sent waste for disposal. The failure to properly remediate a property may also adversely affect our 
ability to lease, sell or rent the property or to borrow funds using the property as collateral.

In connection with the ownership of our current or past properties and any properties that we may acquire in the future, we could be legally responsible 
for environmental liabilities or costs relating to a release of hazardous substances or other regulated materials at or emanating from such property. We 
are not aware of any environmental issues that are expected to have a material impact on the operations of our properties. However, we can make no 
assurances that the discovery of previously unknown environmental conditions or future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose material 
environmental liabilities on us, or the current environmental condition of our properties will not be affected by tenants, the condition of land or operations 
in the vicinity of our properties (such as releases from underground storage tanks), or by third parties unrelated to us.
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Insurance

We have comprehensive liability, property and rental loss insurance, as applicable, with respect to our portfolio of properties. We believe that such 
insurance provides adequate coverage.

REIT Qualification

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to 
terminate the Company's REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required to 
operate under REIT rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its stockholders, which provides the Company 
with greater flexibility to use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income 
at applicable tax rates and is no longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT for the 2021 tax year and prior 
tax years, and existing REIT requirements and limitations, including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place 
through December 31, 2021. Refer to Note 7 – Income Taxes of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IV of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

Financial Information about Industry Segments

We currently operate in a single reportable segment, which includes the ownership, development, redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of real 
estate properties. We review operating and financial results for each property on an individual basis. We, therefore, aggregate all of our properties into 
one reportable segment due to their similarities with regard to the nature and economics of the properties, tenants and operational process.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2023, we had 19 full-time employees, all of whom are located in the United States, with the majority located in New York. As of 
January 1, 2024, due to the expiration of certain retention agreements, the number of employees decreased to 14 full-time employees. In conjunction with 
adopting the Plan of Sale, the Company provided retention agreements to its employees to ensure that it has the talent in place to execute the Plan of 
Sale.

We believe that diversity and inclusion at all levels of our organization are imperative to our success. We have focused our diversity and inclusion efforts 
on remaining employee engagement, consulting engagements, community outreach and partnering with like-minded organizations. As of December 31, 
2023, our organization was comprised of 42% women and 21% people of color. Our management team, which is defined as Senior Vice Presidents and 
above, including consultants who hold roles in those positions, was comprised of 25% women and we had three female members of our Board of 
Trustees. All employees receive training in the prevention and reporting of sexual harassment, discriminatory and abusive conduct in the workplace. 

Because the engagement of our employees is important, we encourage a work environment that fosters collaboration across departments and levels. We 
take pride in being able to have the newest member of the team work side-by-side with our most tenured and senior executives. We believe this 
encourages creativity, creates opportunities for improvements and efficiencies, and strengthens our team. We regularly solicit feedback from our 
employees and take actions designed to increase employee engagement.

We depend on our people to create value in our portfolio and company. We offer attractive compensation with comprehensive benefits for employees and 
their dependents.

Available Information

Our office is located at 500 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10110 and our telephone number is (212) 355-7800. Our website address is 
www.seritage.com. Our reports electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act can be accessed 
through this site, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such reports. These filings are also available on 
the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Our website also contains copies of our corporate governance guidelines and code of business conduct and ethics as 
well as the charters of our audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees. The information on our website is not part of this 
or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. You should consider carefully the risks 
and uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and 
related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or 
that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks actually 
occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading 
price of our common shares of beneficial interest could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risk Factor Summary

The following is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

• There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any strategic transaction or strategic change on terms satisfactory to the Board of 
Trustees.

• We have experienced challenging market conditions and there can be no assurances that these challenges will abate, which may adversely impact 
the net Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets.

• We cannot assure our shareholders of the amount they will receive in shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale or when they will receive 
them.

• If we are unable to find buyers for our assets on a timely basis or at our expected sales prices, our shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale 
may be delayed or reduced. 

• Our expected sales prices may be impacted by tenant issues at our properties. 

• We have ongoing capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing or other sources of funding on acceptable terms. 

• Real estate taxes may increase, and if these increases are not passed on to tenants, our net income will be reduced.

• Changes in building and/or zoning laws may require us to meet additional or more stringent construction requirements.

• Our real estate assets and equity method investments may be subject to impairment charges.

• We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and such material weaknesses have not yet been fully 
remediated. No assurance can be made that additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not occur in the future. If we fail to 
maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, our 
stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our common stock.

• Properties in our portfolio may be subject to ground leases; if we are found to be in breach of these ground leases or are unable to renew them, we 
could be materially and adversely affected.

• Certain properties within our portfolio are subject to restrictions pursuant to reciprocal easement agreements, operating agreements, or similar 
agreements, some of which contain a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer in favor of a third party.

• Economic conditions, higher interest rates and a possible recession could materially adversely affect our business.

• Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

• We may face increased risks and costs associated with volatility in commodity and labor prices or as a result of supply chain or procurement 
disruptions, which may adversely affect the status of our construction projects.

• Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act may require us to make expenditures.

• Environmental, health, safety and land use laws and regulations may limit or restrict some of our operations or otherwise cause us to incur 
significant costs.

• Environmental costs and liabilities associated with contamination at real estate properties owned by us may materially and adversely affect us.

• Our business faces potential risks associated with natural disasters, severe weather conditions and climate change and related legislation and 
regulations, which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and operating results.

• Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence or cybersecurity incidents could adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations.

• Cybersecurity incidents could cause a disruption to our operations, a compromise of confidential information and damage to our business 
relationships, all of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and operating results.
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• We may incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks.

• Covenants in our Term Loan Facility may limit our operational flexibility and a covenant breach or default could adversely affect our business and 
financial condition.

• Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited.

• Our Declaration of Trust and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent an acquisition of Class A common shares or a 
change in control.

• We may experience insurance related losses or insurance proceeds may not be available to us, which could result in a significant loss, decrease 
anticipated future revenues or cause us to incur unanticipated expense.

• Mr. Lampert may exert substantial influence over us, and his interests may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders. 

• Our investments in or redevelopment of properties may be unsuccessful or fail to meet our expectations.

• Current and future redevelopment may not yield expected returns.

• If members of our management team terminate their employment with us or we are unable to retain talented employees our financial results and/or 
the Plan of Sale may be adversely affected.

• The future outbreak of highly infectious or contagious diseases may, materially and adversely impact the business of our tenants and our business.

Risks Related to Our Tax Status 

• If we experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Code, our ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital loss 
carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce our future taxable income could be limited, potentially increasing the net taxable income on which 
we must pay corporate-level taxes, and potentially adversely affecting our liquidity, and our desire to preserve our net operating losses and net 
capital loss carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

• If we do not qualify to be taxed as a REIT for any taxable year through 2021, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a regular corporation 
and could face a substantial tax liability, which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders. 

• We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and reduce 
the price of our common stock. 

Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

• The market price and trading volume of our securities may be volatile.

• We have issued Series A Preferred Shares, which, along with future offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, rank senior to our common 
shares for purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, may adversely affect the market price of our common shares.

• The number of shares available for future sale and our earnings could adversely affect the market price of Class A common shares.

• The Series A preferred shares have not been rated.

• A lack of active trading market for the Series A Preferred Shares may negatively affect the market value of, and the ability of holders of our Series 
A Preferred Shares to transfer or sell, their shares.

• The Series A Preferred Shares are subordinate in right of payment to debt. The interests of holders of Series A Preferred Shares could be diluted 
by transactions such as the issuance of additional preferred shares.

• Dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, are discretionary. 

• Holders of Series A Preferred Shares have limited voting rights.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete any strategic transaction or strategic change on terms satisfactory to the Board of 
Trustees.

On March 1, 2022, we announced that our Board of Trustees had commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to enhance 
shareholder value. The Board of Trustees created a Special Committee to oversee the process. The strategic review process remains ongoing. The 
Company sought a shareholder vote to approve the Plan of Sale that would allow our board to sell all of our assets, distribute the net proceeds to 
shareholders and dissolve the Company. The affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all outstanding common shares of the Company was required to 
approve the Plan of Sale. The 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, following our filing of a final proxy statement with the 
SEC on September 14, 2022. During the meeting, the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders.

Edward Lampert, who owned approximately 25% of our outstanding Class A shares as of December 31, 2023, voted in favor of the Plan of Sale, 
pursuant to an agreement with the Company.

Further, as we commence implementing the Plan of Sale, it may dissuade parties that might have an interest in acquiring our Company as a whole by 
means of a merger transaction or otherwise from pursing such an acquisition and may also preclude other possible courses of action not yet identified by 
our Board. The strategic review process remains ongoing, and the Company remains open-minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a 
potential sale of the Company. There can be no assurance regarding the success of the process.

We have experienced challenging market conditions and there can be no assurances that these challenges will abate, which may adversely 
impact the net Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets.

Since the latter months of 2022, we, along with the commercial real estate market as a whole, have experienced and continue to experience more 
challenging market conditions, as a result of, among other things, the rise in interest rates, increases to required return hurdles for institutional buyers, 
availability of debt capital (including the willingness of commercial banks to lend in light of potential recession risks and balance sheet constraints), 
continued inflation resulting in higher construction and labor costs for development (which has had the effect of, among other things, making cost 
estimates in development proformas more challenging), decreased demand for office development (with concerns about long term demand for office 
space including, but not limited to, continued work-from-home trends), slowing rent growth expectations due to potential recession concerns, political and 
election uncertainty in the United States and the possibility of geopolitical conflict spreading to other regions. These challenging market conditions have 
applied and may continue to apply downward pricing pressure on all of our assets. In making decisions regarding whether and when to transact on each 
of our remaining assets, we will consider various factors including, but not limited to, the breadth of the buyer universe, macroeconomic conditions, the 
availability and cost of financing, as well as corporate, operating and other capital expenses required to carry the asset. If these challenging market 
conditions persist, then we expect that they will adversely impact the Plan of Sale proceeds from our assets and the amounts and timing of distributions to 
our shareholders.

We cannot assure our shareholders of the amount they will receive in shareholder distributions under the Plan of Sale or when they will 
receive them. 

The net proceeds that will be distributed to our Class A shareholders over time (directly or through a liquidating trust or other liquidating entity) from the 
Plan of Sale will be based on a number of factors including: (a) the actual proceeds from the sale of our assets; (b) the repayment of our Term Loan 
Facility, (c) the redemption of the Company’s outstanding Series A Preferred Shares, (d) the settlement of certain financial obligations, (e) the debt 
service and dividends on Series A Preferred Shares prior to repayment and redemption, (f) the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the sale of 
our assets, (g) the expenses and capital expenditures to be incurred and revenue to be generated from our properties prior to disposition and estimates 
of the general administrative expenses, (h) the wind-down costs of the Company and (i) the Company’s taxes and other liabilities. The estimates initially 
prepared and included in our most recent annual proxy statement about the amount of shareholder distributions that we may make in connection with the 
Plan of Sale were based on many estimates and assumptions (which were derived based on data and information reviewed by Company management 
and advisors as of or prior to June 2022), one or more of which may prove to be incorrect and/or, as noted above, may be adversely affected by market 
conditions and other circumstances that have changed since the preparation of those estimates. As a result, the actual amount of shareholder 
distributions may be less than we initially estimated and/or may be paid later than we predicted.
 

- 7 -



 

We also note that, if our liabilities (including, without limitation, tax liabilities and compliance costs) are greater than we currently expect or if the sales 
prices of our assets are less than we expect, shareholders will receive less distributions for each common share that they currently own than we initially 
estimated. In addition, such estimated shareholder distributions do not reflect estimated costs or liabilities related to pending and any future litigation.

If we are unable to find buyers for our assets on a timely basis or at our expected sales prices, our shareholder distributions under the Plan of 
Sale may be delayed or reduced. 

In calculating our estimated total shareholder distributions, we assumed that we will be able to find buyers for all of our assets at amounts based on our 
estimated range of gross real estate sales prices (based on data and information reviewed by Company management and advisors as of or prior to early 
June 2022). However, we may have overestimated the sales prices that we will ultimately be able to obtain for these assets and/or, as noted above, 
market conditions and other circumstances have changed in the months since the preparation of those estimates. For example, in order to find buyers in 
a timely manner, we may be required to lower our asking price below the low end of our current estimate of the asset’s market value. If we are not able to 
find buyers for these assets in a timely manner, if we have overestimated the sales prices we will receive, and/or if market conditions continue to 
deteriorate, our shareholder distributions to our shareholders will be delayed or reduced. 

Furthermore, real estate sales prices are constantly changing and fluctuate with changes in interest rates, supply and demand dynamics, occupancy 
percentages, lease rates, the availability of suitable buyers, the perceived quality and dependability of income flows from tenancies and a number of other 
factors, both local and national. In addition, transactional fees and expenses or unknown liabilities, if any, may adversely impact the net Plan of Sale 
proceeds from our assets.

Additionally, our ability to sell our Unconsolidated Properties or interests in unconsolidated entities are subject to certain limitations in the governing 
documents of these unconsolidated entities.

Our expected sales prices may be impacted by tenant issues at our properties.

We may be impacted by issues with our tenants that can affect sales prices of assets as we execute the Plan of Sale. At any time, our tenants may 
experience a downturn in their respective businesses that may significantly weaken their financial condition, particularly during periods of economic 
uncertainty. This uncertainty may be exacerbated as a result of actual changes in economic conditions, including as a result of market dynamics, trends 
in consumer income, rising energy prices, high interest rates, tariffs or trade disputes, and natural or manmade disasters, including epidemic or pandemic 
disease, or the impact of the fear of such changes on consumer behavior. As a result, our tenants may delay lease commencements, decline to extend 
or renew leases upon expiration, fail to make rental payments when due, close a number of locations or declare bankruptcy. Such issues could 
negatively impact buyers view of the properties and result in lower than expected sales prices. In addition, such tenant issues might potentially lower 
rents or result in higher maintenance expenditures that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations pending 
those sales.

Our sales prices may also be impacted by competition with regards to the leasing environment. Our properties operate in locations that compete with 
other retail properties and also compete with other forms of retailing, such as catalogs and e-commerce websites. Competition may also come from strip 
centers, outlet centers, lifestyle centers and malls, and both existing and future development projects. New construction, renovations and expansions at 
competing sites could also negatively affect our properties. In addition, we compete with other retail property companies for tenants. Any inability to lease 
newly developed space or re-lease vacant space can negatively impact our ability to sell our assets and monetize them in line with expectations.

We have ongoing capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing or other sources of funding on acceptable terms. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had aggregate outstanding indebtedness of $360 million. Our existing debt could require a substantial portion of our cash 
flow to make interest and principal payments. Demands on our cash resources from debt service will reduce funds available to us to pay dividends on our 
preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, make capital expenditures or carry out other aspects of our business strategy. Our 
indebtedness may also limit our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions, make us more vulnerable to general adverse economic and 
industry conditions and create competitive disadvantages for us compared to other companies with relatively lower debt levels. Increased future debt 
service obligations may limit our operational flexibility, including our ability to finance or refinance our properties, contribute properties to joint ventures or 
sell properties as needed.
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Our primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt 
service, and the reinvestment in and redevelopment of our properties. As a result of a decrease in occupancy levels due to our recapture of space for 
redevelopment purposes and the execution of termination rights under the Original Master Lease and Holdco Master Lease, our property rental income, 
which is a source of operating cash flow, did not fully fund property operating and other expenses incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
Our asset sales are our principal source of cash flow. Property operating and other expenses are projected to continue to exceed property rental income 
until such time as additional tenants commence paying rent, and we plan to incur additional development expenditures as we continue to invest in the 
redevelopment of certain assets. While we do not currently have the liquid funds available to fully fund projected property and other expenses and 
planned development expenditures, we expect to fund these uses of cash with a combination of capital sources including, but not limited to, sales of 
Consolidated Properties, sales of interests in Unconsolidated Properties and potential financing transactions, subject to compliance with certain 
conditions and/or the consent of our lender under our Term Loan Facility. 

As of December 31, 2023, we were not in compliance with certain financial metrics applicable to us under the agreements governing our term loan 
facility. Additionally, the lender had the right to request mortgages against our assets pursuant to the mortgage and collateral requirement. As of 
December 31, 2023, at the request of the lender, nearly all Consolidated Properties have mortgages. 

The Term Loan Facility also provides for a $400 million incremental facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”). Our ability to access the Incremental 
Funding Facility is subject to (i) our achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases 
expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of 
not less than $200 million, (ii) our good faith projection that rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to 
commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the 
incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted 
under the amendment to the Term Loan Agreement (as defined below) as further described below. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not yet 
achieved the requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility.

On February 2, 2023, the Company made a $230 million voluntary prepayment on the Term Loan Facility. This prepayment brought the outstanding 
balance on the Term Loan Facility to $800 million. Pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility, by reducing our outstanding principal balance to $800 
million, the maturity date for the Term Loan Facility was extended for two years to July 31, 2025. Subsequent to February 2, 2023, the Company made 
additional aggregate principal prepayments of $470 million on the Term Loan Facility, reducing the Term Loan Facility balance to $330 million as of March 
22, 2024.

As of March 22, 2024, the Company has assets under contract for anticipated proceeds of $53.6 million and has accepted offers and is currently 
negotiating definitive purchase and sale agreements of approximately $15.2 million. The Company continues to use the proceeds from sold assets to 
further reduce the outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility. See Note 1— Going Concern of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the going concern.

Real estate related taxes may increase, and if these increases are not passed on to tenants, our income will be reduced.

Some local real property tax assessors may seek to reassess some of our properties as a result of our acquisitions and/or redevelopment of properties. 
Generally, from time to time, our property taxes increase as property values or assessment rates change or for other reasons deemed relevant by the 
assessors. An increase in the assessed valuation of a property for real estate tax purposes will result in an increase in the related real estate taxes on 
that property. Although some leases may permit us to pass through such tax increases to the tenants for payment, there is no assurance that renewal 
leases or future leases will be negotiated on the same basis. Increases not passed through to tenants will reduce our income.

Changes in building and/or zoning laws may require us to update a property or prevent us from fully restoring a property in the event of a 
substantial casualty loss and/or require us to meet additional or more stringent construction requirements.

Due to changes in, among other things, applicable building and zoning laws, ordinances and codes that may affect certain of our properties that have 
come into effect after the initial construction of the properties, certain properties may not comply fully with current building and/or zoning laws, including 
electrical, fire, health and safety codes and regulations, use, lot coverage, parking and setback requirements, but may qualify as permitted non-
conforming uses. Such changes in building and zoning laws may require updating various existing physical conditions of buildings in connection with our 
recapture, renovation, and/or redevelopment of properties. In addition, such changes in building and zoning laws may limit our or our tenants’ ability to 
restore the premises of a property to its previous condition in the event of a substantial casualty loss with respect to the property or the ability to refurbish, 
expand or renovate such property to remain compliant, or increase the cost of construction in order to comply with changes in building or zoning codes 
and regulations. If we are unable to restore a property to its prior use after a substantial casualty loss or are required to comply with more stringent 
building or zoning codes and regulations, we may be unable to re-lease the space at a comparable effective rent or sell the property at an acceptable 
price, which may materially and adversely affect us.
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Our real estate assets and equity method investments may be subject to impairment charges.

On a periodic basis, we must assess whether there are any indicators that the value of our real estate assets and other investments may be impaired. If 
an impairment indicator is identified, a property’s value is considered to be impaired only if management’s estimate of current and projected operating 
cash flows (undiscounted and unlevered), taking into account the anticipated and probability weighted holdings periods, are less than the carrying value 
of the property. In our estimate of cash flow projections, we consider factors such as expected future operating income, trends and prospects, the effects 
of demand, competition and other factors. If we are evaluating the potential sale of an asset, the undiscounted future cash flows consider the most likely 
course of action at the balance sheet date based on current plans, intended holding periods and available market information. We are required to make 
subjective assessments as to whether there are impairments in the value of our real estate assets and other investments. These assessments may have 
a direct impact on our earnings because recording an impairment charge results in an immediate negative adjustment to earnings. We may take 
impairment charges in the future related to the impairment of our assets, and any future impairment could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations in the period in which the impairment charge is taken.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and such material weaknesses have not yet been fully 
remediated. No assurance can be made that additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not occur in the future. If we fail to 
maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, 
our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our common stock.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. 

In the course of preparing our financial statements, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that existed due to 
deficiencies in the design and operating effectiveness of our controls over the impairment of investments in real estate and other than temporary 
impairment of equity method investments. The deficiencies related to the identification of impairment indicators. Additionally, management did not 
maintain adequate evidence of the review of information used in the impairment indicator analysis and the fair value of investments in real estate and 
equity method investments. Further, management identified a deficiency in the operating effectiveness in our review over the calculation of other than 
temporary impairments. These deficiencies contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Additionally, we identified a material weakness due to a deficiency in the design of our controls over the accounting for certain non-routine transactions 
particularly related to accounting for transactions with joint ventures and certain consulting contracts. For these transactions, management did not 
possess the adequate technical capabilities to appropriately assess these non-routine transactions to ensure compliance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. This deficiency contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements. These 
areas are described in more detail in Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

Since identifying these material weaknesses, we have been, and are currently in the process of, remediating them. While progress has been made to 
remediate the material weaknesses we have not yet fully remediated these material weaknesses because additional time is needed to complete the 
remediation and allow for the internal controls to be tested by management. Accordingly, we will continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting. For further discussion of our remedial efforts, see Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

There can be no assurance that similar control issues will not be identified in the future. If we are unable to remediate successfully our existing material 
weaknesses or if any other material weaknesses or other deficiencies arise in the future, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results, 
which could cause our financial results to be materially misstated and require restatement. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with 
securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose 
confidence in our financial reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any 
measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to remediate the control deficiencies that led to these material weaknesses in our internal control 
over financial reporting or that they will prevent or avoid potential future material weaknesses. 
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Properties in our portfolio may be subject to ground leases; if we are found to be in breach of these ground leases or are unable to renew 
them, we could be materially and adversely affected.

We currently have one property in our consolidated portfolio that is on land subject to a ground lease. Accordingly, we only own a long-term leasehold in 
the land underlying this property, and we own the improvements thereon only during the term of the ground lease. If we are found to be in breach of a 
ground lease, we could lose the right to use the property and could also be liable to the ground lessor for damages. In addition, unless we can purchase 
a fee interest in the underlying land or extend the terms of this lease before its expiration, which we may be unable to do, we will lose our right to operate 
this property and our interest in the improvements upon expiration of the lease. Our ability to exercise options to extend the term of our ground lease is 
subject to the condition that we are not in default under the terms of the ground lease at the time that we exercise such options, and we may not be able 
to exercise our options at such time. Furthermore, we may not be able to renew our ground lease upon its expiration (after the exercise of all renewal 
options). We are currently in litigation with the ground lessor as to whether we were in breach at the time we exercised our renewal option. If we were to 
lose the right to use a property due to a breach or non-renewal or final expiration of the ground lease, we would be unable to derive income from such 
property, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial conditions or results of operations.

Certain properties within our portfolio are subject to restrictions pursuant to reciprocal easement agreements, operating agreements, or 
similar agreements, some of which contain a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer in favor of a third party.

Many of the properties in our portfolio are subject to use restrictions and/or operational requirements imposed pursuant to ground leases, restrictive 
covenants or conditions, reciprocal easement agreements or operating agreements (collectively, “Property Restrictions”) that could adversely affect our 
ability to redevelop the properties or lease space to third parties or sell the properties. Such Property Restrictions could include, for example, limitations 
on alterations, changes, expansions, or reconfiguration of properties; limitations on use of properties, including for retail uses only; limitations affecting 
parking requirements; restrictions on exterior or interior signage or facades; or access to an adjoining mall, among other things. In certain cases, consent 
of the other party or parties to such agreements may be required when altering, reconfiguring, expanding, redeveloping or re-leasing properties. Failure to 
secure such consents when necessary may harm our ability to execute leasing, redevelopment or expansion strategies, which could adversely affect our 
business, financial condition or results of operations. In certain cases, a third party may have a purchase option or right of first refusal or right of first offer 
that is activated by a sale or transfer of the property, or a change in use or operations, including a closing of the Sears operation or cessation of business 
operations, on the encumbered property. These restrictions may impact our ability to sell assets as contemplated in the Plan of Sale. From time to time, 
we have been involved in disputes or legal proceedings relating to such Property Restrictions, which may result in the incurrence of legal costs and 
diversion of management resources to resolve. 

Economic conditions, high interest rates and a possible recession could materially adversely affect our business and/or the net proceeds 
available from the sale of our assets.

Our business is affected by a number of factors that are largely beyond our control but may nevertheless have a significant negative impact on us and on 
the Plan of Sale. These factors include, but are not limited to:

• interest rates and credit spreads have increased significantly during 2022 and 2023, which could negatively impact potential buyers’ ability to 
purchase our properties;

• the availability of credit, including the price, terms and conditions under which it can be obtained;

• a decrease in consumer spending or sentiment, including as a result of increases in savings rates and tax increases, and any effect that this may 
have on retail activity;

• the actual and perceived state of the real estate and retail markets and public capital markets in general;

• unemployment rates, both nationwide and within the primary markets in which we operate; and

• an economic slowdown, in the U.S. or globally, including the possibility of a recession.

In addition, economic conditions such as inflation or deflation could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Deflation may have an impact on our ability to repay our debt. Deflation may delay consumption and thus weaken tenant sales, which may reduce our 
tenants’ ability to pay rents. Deflationary pressure on retailers may diminish their ability to rent our space and decrease our ability to re-lease the space on 
favorable terms to us.

The U.S. economy has experienced and may continue to experience higher inflation than in prior periods. During inflationary periods, interest rates have 
historically increased. Our general and administrative expenses would also be expected to increase at a rate higher than rents we collect. Also, inflation 
may adversely affect tenant leases with stated rent increases, which could be lower than the increase in inflation at any given time. Inflation could also 
have an adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ sales and, in turn, our own results of operations.
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Any economic slowdown, including a possible recession, could impair our ability to sell our properties. Any rise in interest rates, beyond potentially 
reducing the market appetite for our properties, could lead to a potential recession that might impact the sale of our assets as contemplated in the Plan of 
Sale. Additionally, any rise in interest rates will make any planned financing for prospective buyers of our properties more expensive, which might 
diminish our ability to sell our properties and/or the prices at which we might sell our properties.

Restricted lending practices may negatively impact our tenants’ ability to obtain credit. Decreases in consumer demand can have a direct impact on our 
tenants and the rents we receive.

Rising expenses could reduce cash flow.

If any property is not fully occupied or becomes vacant in whole or in part, or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient to cover operating 
costs and expenses, we could be required to expend funds with respect to that property for operating expenses. Our properties are subject to increases in 
tax rates and tax assessments, utility costs, insurance costs, repairs, maintenance and administrative expenses, and other operating expenses. We may 
also incur significant expenditures as a result of deferred maintenance for the properties we have already acquired (subject to reserved funds to cover 
certain of these costs). If we are unable to lease properties on a triple-net-lease basis or on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of such 
expenses, or if tenants fail to pay required tax, utility and other impositions and other operating expenses, we could be required to pay those costs.

We may face increased risks and costs associated with volatility in commodity and labor prices or as a result of supply chain or procurement 
disruptions, which may adversely affect the status of our construction projects.

The price of commodities and skilled labor for our construction projects may increase unpredictably due to external factors, including, but not limited to, 
performance of third-party suppliers and contractors; overall market supply and demand; government regulation; international trade; supply chain 
disruptions; and changes in general business, economic, or political conditions. As a result, the costs of raw construction materials and skilled labor 
required for the completion of our development and redevelopment projects may fluctuate significantly from time to time.

While we do not rely on any single supplier or vendor for the majority of our materials and skilled labor, we may experience difficulties obtaining 
necessary materials from suppliers or vendors whose supply chains might become impacted by economic or political changes, or difficulties obtaining 
adequate skilled labor from third-party contractors in a tightening labor market. It is uncertain whether we would be able to source the essential 
commodities, supplies, materials, and skilled labor timely or at all without incurring significant costs or delays, particularly during times of economic 
uncertainty resulting from events outside of our control. We may be forced to seek new third-party suppliers or contractors, who we have not worked with 
in the past.

Beginning in 2021 and continuing through the present, industry prices for certain construction materials experienced significant increases as a result of 
low inventories; surging demand fueled by the U.S. economy rebounding from the effects of COVID-19; tariffs imposed on imports of foreign steel, 
including on products from key competitors in the European Union and China; and significant changes in the U.S. steel production landscape stemming 
from the consolidation of certain steel-producing companies. Price surges on construction materials may result in corresponding increases in our overall 
construction costs as our projects undergo construction.

In addition, as of December 31, 2023, the U.S. continues to be experiencing supply chain backlogs. Supply chain constraints have impacted the cost, 
availability, and timing of certain materials deliveries. If not resolved, these backlogs and related logistics issues could result in project delays and 
increased costs for our construction activities and the US economy generally.

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act may require us to make expenditures that adversely affect our cash flows.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”) has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities,” but 
generally requires that buildings be made accessible to people with disabilities. Compliance with the ADA requirements could require removal of access 
barriers, and non-compliance could result in imposition of fines by the United States government or an award of damages to private litigants, or both. 
While the tenants to whom our properties are leased are generally obligated by law or lease to comply with the ADA provisions applicable to the property 
being leased to them, if required changes involve other property not being leased to such tenants, if the required changes include greater expenditures 
than anticipated, or if the changes must be made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ability of these tenants to cover costs could be 
adversely affected. Moreover, certain other leases may require the landlord to comply with the ADA with respect to the building as a whole and/or the 
tenant’s space. As a result of any of the foregoing circumstances, we could be required to expend funds to comply with the provisions of the ADA, which 
could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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Environmental, health, safety and land use laws and regulations may limit or restrict some of our operations or otherwise cause us to incur 
significant costs.

As the owner or operator of various real properties and facilities, we must comply with various federal, state and local environmental, health, safety and 
land use laws and regulations. We and our properties are subject to such laws and regulations relating to the use, storage, disposal, emission and 
release of hazardous and non-hazardous substances and employee health and safety, as well as zoning restrictions. A substantial portion of our 
properties that have resulted in certain remediation activities currently include, or previously included, automotive care center facilities and retail fueling 
facilities, and/or above-ground or underground storage tanks, and are or were subject to laws and regulations governing the handling, storage and 
disposal of hazardous substances contained in some of the products or materials used or sold in the automotive care center facilities (such as gasoline, 
motor oil, fluid in hydraulic lifts, antifreeze, solvents and lubricants), the recycling/disposal of batteries and tires, air emissions, wastewater discharges and 
waste management. In addition to these products, the equipment in use or previously used at such properties, such as service equipment, car lifts, 
oil/water separators, and storage tanks, has been subject to increasing environmental regulation relating to, among other things, the storage, handling, 
use, disposal and transportation of hazardous materials. There are also federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances that govern the use, 
removal and/or replacement of underground storage tanks in the event of a release on, or an upgrade or redevelopment of, certain properties. Such laws, 
as well as common-law standards, may impose liability for any releases of hazardous substances associated with the underground storage tanks and 
may provide for third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators of such properties for damages associated with such releases. If hazardous 
substances are released from any underground storage tanks on any of our properties, we may be materially and adversely affected. In a few states, 
transfers of some types of sites are conditioned upon clean-up of contamination. If any of our properties are subject to such contamination, we may be 
subject to substantial clean-up costs in order to sell or otherwise transfer the property.

As the owner or operator of real property, we may also incur liability based on various building conditions. For example, buildings and other structures on 
properties that we currently own or operate or those we acquire or operate in the future contain, may contain, or may have contained, asbestos-
containing material (or “ACM”). Environmental, health and safety laws require that ACM be properly managed and maintained and may impose fines or 
penalties on owners, operators or employers for non-compliance with those requirements. These requirements include special precautions, such as 
removal, abatement or air monitoring, if ACM would be disturbed during maintenance, renovation or demolition of a building, potentially resulting in 
substantial costs. In addition, we may be subject to liability for personal injury or property damage sustained as a result of exposure to ACM or releases of 
ACM into the environment. In addition, the presence of significant mold or other airborne contaminants at any of our properties could require us to 
undertake a costly remediation program to contain or remove the mold or other airborne contaminants or increase ventilation and/or expose us to liability 
from our tenants, employees of our tenants, or others if property damage or personal injury occurs. 

Moreover, additional laws which may be passed in the future, or a finding of a violation of or liability under existing laws, could require us and/or one or 
more of the unconsolidated entities to make significant expenditures and otherwise limit or restrict some of our or its or their operations, which could have 
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental costs and liabilities associated with contamination at real estate properties owned by us may materially and adversely affect 
us.

Our properties may be subject to known and unknown environmental liabilities under various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to 
human health and the environment. Certain of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on certain statutory classes of persons, 
including current and former owners or operators, for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated properties. These laws and regulations 
apply to past and present business operations on the properties, including the use, storage, handling and recycling or disposal of hazardous substances 
or wastes. We may face liability for costs relating to the investigation and clean-up of any of our properties from which there has been a release or 
threatened release of hazardous substances or other regulated material or any third-party sites to which we have arranged for the disposed of hazardous 
substances, regardless of our knowledge of the contamination, the timing of the contamination, the cause of the contamination or the party responsible 
for the contamination of the property.

In addition to these costs, which could exceed a property’s value, we could be liable for certain other costs, including governmental fines, and injuries to 
persons, property or natural resources. Further, some environmental laws create a lien on the contaminated site in favor of the government for damages 
and the costs the government incurs in connection with such contamination. Any such costs or liens could have a material adverse effect on our business 
or financial condition. Moreover, the presence of contamination or the failure to remediate contamination may adversely affect our ability to sell or lease 
the real estate or to borrow using the real estate as collateral.

Although existing and future leases are expected to require tenants generally to indemnify us for their non-compliance with environmental laws as a result 
of their occupancy, such tenants typically will not be required to indemnify us for environmental non-compliance arising prior to their occupancy. In such 
cases, we may incur costs and expenses under such leases or as a matter of law. The amount of any environmental liabilities could exceed the amounts 
for which third parties would be required to indemnify us (or the applicable unconsolidated entity) or their financial ability to do so. 
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Each unconsolidated entity is subject to similar risks relating to environmental compliance costs and liabilities associated with its Unconsolidated 
Properties, which may reduce the value of our investment in, or distributions to us by, one or more unconsolidated entities, or require that we make 
additional capital contributions to one or more unconsolidated entities.

Our business faces potential risks associated with natural disasters, severe weather conditions and climate change and related legislation 
and regulations, which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow and operating results.

Climate change may add to the unpredictability and frequency of natural disasters and severe weather conditions and create additional uncertainty as to 
future trends and exposures. Certain of our properties are located in areas that are subject to natural disasters and severe weather conditions, such as 
hurricanes, droughts, snow storms, floods and fires. Over time, the impact of climate change or the occurrence of natural disasters can delay new 
development and redevelopment projects, increase the costs of such projects if required to include resiliency measures to address climate-related risks, 
increase investment costs to repair or replace damaged properties, increase operating costs, create additional investment costs to make improvements to 
existing properties to comply with climate change regulations, increase future property insurance costs, and otherwise negatively impact the tenant 
demand for space. In addition, changes in federal, state and local legislation and regulations relating to climate change, such as “green building codes,” 
could result in increased operating expenses and capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our properties, or potentially result in fines for 
noncompliance. We may not be able to effectively pass on such costs to our tenants. Moreover, any such legislation and regulations could impose 
substantial costs on our tenants, thereby impacting the financial condition of our tenants and their ability to meet their lease obligations and to lease or re-
lease our properties. In addition, geographic concentrations of certain of our properties in areas such as California and Florida may further expose us to 
certain of these risks more than if we had a smaller concentration of our properties in such areas.

Possible acts of war, terrorist activity or other acts of violence could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Acts of war, terrorist attacks or other acts of violence may result in declining economic activity, which could harm the demand for goods and services 
offered by our tenants and the value of our properties and might adversely affect the value of an investment in our securities. Such a resulting decrease in 
retail demand, could make it difficult for us to renew or re-lease our properties at lease rates equal to or above historical rates. War, terrorist activities or 
violence also could directly affect the value of our properties through damage, destruction or loss, and the availability of insurance for such acts, or of 
insurance generally, might be lower or cost more, which could increase our operating expenses and adversely affect our financial condition and results of 
operations. To the extent that our tenants are affected by future attacks, their businesses similarly could be adversely affected, including their ability to 
continue to meet obligations under their existing leases. These acts might erode business and consumer confidence and spending and might result in 
increased volatility in national and international financial markets and economies. Any one of these events might decrease demand for real estate, 
decrease or delay the occupancy of our redeveloped properties, and limit our access to capital or increase our cost of raising capital.

Cybersecurity incidents could cause a disruption to our operations, a compromise of confidential information and damage to our business 
relationships, all of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and operating results.

We are susceptible to cybersecurity risks that include, among other things, theft, unauthorized monitoring, release, misuse, loss, destruction or corruption 
of confidential and highly restricted data; malware, ransomware; denial of service attacks; phishing and other social engineering compromises; 
unauthorized access to relevant systems, compromises to networks or devices; or operational disruption or failures in the physical infrastructure or 
operating systems of our information systems. Our information systems are essential to the operation of our business and our ability to perform day-to-
day operations, including for the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and personal information. Any system failure or event that 
causes interruptions in our operations could result in a material disruption to our business, and we may incur additional costs to remedy damages caused 
by such disruptions. We have engaged a third-party managed security services provider to monitor and maintain our systems to protect our technology 
infrastructure and data from misappropriation, corruption and disruption, however there can be no assurance that these measures will be effective in 
preventing or limiting the impact of future cybersecurity incidents. Cybersecurity risks may also impact properties in which we invest on behalf of clients 
and tenants of those properties, which could result in a loss of value in our clients’ investment. In addition, due to our interconnectivity with third-party 
service providers and other entities with which we conduct business, we could be adversely impacted if such entities are subject to a successful cyber 
incident. Although we and our service providers have implemented processes, procedures and controls to help mitigate these risks, there can be no 
assurance that these measures will be effective or that security breaches or disruptions will not occur. The result of these incidents may include disrupted 
operations, liability for loss or misappropriation of data, stolen assets or information, increased cybersecurity protection and insurance costs, increased 
compliance costs, litigation, regulatory enforcement actions and damage to our reputation or business relationships.
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We may incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks.

We may incur mortgage debt and pledge all or some of our real properties as security for that debt to finance newly acquired properties or capital 
contributions to joint ventures, or to fund re-tenanting and redevelopment projects. Since December 31, 2019, we were required to provide mortgages to 
the lender under our term loan facility on a majority of our portfolio. The mortgages, together with the other provisions of the Term Loan Facility, limits our 
ability to obtain additional secured financing using such properties as collateral. On February 2, 2023, the Company made a $230.0 million voluntary 
prepayment on the Term Loan Facility. This prepayment brought the outstanding balance on the Term Loan Facility to $800 million. Pursuant to the 
terms of the Term Loan Facility, by reducing our outstanding principal balance to $800 million, the maturity date for the Term Loan Facility was extended 
for two years to July 31, 2025. Subsequent to February 2, 2023, the Company made additional aggregate principal prepayments of $470 million on the 
Term Loan Facility, reducing the outstanding Term Loan Facility balance to $330 million as of March 22, 2024. In addition, incurring mortgage debt 
increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could 
lose the property securing the loan that is in default. If any mortgages contain cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single 
property could affect multiple properties. If any properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, our ability to pay cash distributions to our shareholders 
may be adversely affected.

Covenants in our Term Loan Facility may limit our operational flexibility and a covenant breach or default could adversely affect our business 
and financial condition.

Our Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern certain collateral and covenant exceptions set forth in the agreement, including: (i) a 
total fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 
1.30 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 65%; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of not more than 60%; and (v) a minimum 
net worth of at least $1.2 billion. Any failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics will limit our ability to dispose of assets via sale or joint venture and 
trigger a requirement for us to provide mortgage collateral to our lender, but will not result in an event of default, mandatory amortization, cash flow sweep 
or similar provision. Since the year ended December 31, 2019, we have been in breach of one or more of the financial metrics described above, therefore 
we were required to provide mortgages to the lender under the Term Loan Facility with respect to a majority of our portfolio. The Term Loan Facility also 
includes certain limitations relating to, among other activities, our ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of our 
assets; incur additional debt; incur certain liens; enter into, terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the material agreements for our properties; 
make certain investments (including limitations on joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay distributions on or repurchase our capital stock; and 
enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

The Term Loan Facility also provides for the Incremental Funding Facility. Our ability to access the incremental facility is subject to (i) our achieving rental 
income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 
months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $200 million, (ii) our good faith 
projection that rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) 
for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental facility is accessed) will be not less 
than $200 million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the amendment to the Term Loan 
Agreement. As of December 31, 2023, we have not achieved this level of rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited.

As permitted by Maryland Law, the Company’s Declaration of Trust limits the liability of its trustees and officers to Seritage and its shareholders for 
money damages, except for liability resulting from:

• actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

• a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the trustee or officer that was material to the cause of action 
adjudicated.

In addition, our Declaration of Trust authorizes us and our bylaws obligate us to indemnify our present and former trustees and officers for actions taken 
by them in those capacities and to pay or reimburse their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding to the maximum extent 
permitted by Maryland law, and we have entered into indemnification agreements with our trustees and executive officers. As a result, the Company and 
our shareholders may have more limited rights against our trustees and officers than might otherwise exist absent the provisions in our Declaration of 
Trust and bylaws or that might exist with other companies. Accordingly, in the event that our trustees or officers are immune or exculpated from, or 
indemnified against, liability in connection with actions taken by any such trustees or officers, which actions impede our performance, the Company and 
our shareholders’ ability to recover damages from that trustee or officer will be limited.
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Our Declaration of Trust and bylaws and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent an acquisition of Class A common 
shares or a change in control.

The Company’s Declaration of Trust and bylaws and Maryland law contain a number of provisions, the exercise or existence of which could delay, defer 
or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our shareholders or otherwise be in their best interests, including 
the following:

• The Company’s Board of Trustees Has the Power to Cause Us to Issue Additional Shares of Beneficial Interest and Classify and Reclassify Any 
Unissued Class A Common Shares without Shareholder Approval. Our Declaration of Trust authorizes us to issue additional authorized but 
unissued common shares or preferred shares of beneficial interest. We have also issued 2,800,000 Series A Preferred Shares that are senior to our 
common shares with respect to priority of dividend payments and rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In addition, the Board of 
Trustees may, without shareholder approval, (i) amend the Declaration of Trust to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of 
beneficial interest or the number of shares of beneficial interest of any class or series that we have authority to issue and (ii) classify or reclassify any 
unissued common shares or preferred shares of beneficial interest and set the preferences, rights and other terms of the classified or reclassified 
shares. As a result, the Board of Trustees may establish a class or series of common shares or preferred shares of beneficial interest that could 
delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for Class A common shares or otherwise be in the best 
interests of our shareholders.

• Trustee Elections Require a Vote of Two-Thirds of the Class A Common Shares and Class B Non-Economic Common Shares Votes Cast. In 
accordance with the Company’s bylaws, in both contested and uncontested elections at any Annual Meeting of Shareholders, trustees are elected 
by the vote of two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of Class A common shares and Class B non-economic common shares (voting together as 
a single class). In the event that an incumbent trustee does not receive a sufficient percentage of votes cast for election, he or she will continue to 
serve on the Board of Trustees until a successor is duly elected and qualifies. The requirement that trustee nominees receive a vote of two-thirds of 
the votes cast by the holders of Class A common shares and Class B non-economic shares (voting together as a single class) may have the effect 
of making it more difficult for shareholders to change the composition of the Board of Trustees. The requirement that trustee nominees receive a 
vote of two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of the Class A common shares and Class B non-economic shares (voting together as a single 
class) may also have the effect of making it more difficult for shareholders to elect trustee nominees that do not receive the votes of shares of our 
largest shareholder, Mr. Lampert, who owned approximately 25% of the Company’s outstanding Class A common shares as of December 31, 2023.

• Certain Provisions of Maryland Law May Limit the Ability of a Third Party to Acquire Control of Us. Certain provisions of the Maryland General 
Corporation Law (the “MGCL”) applicable to Maryland REITs may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from acquiring us or of impeding a change 
of control of the Company under circumstances that otherwise could provide Class A common shareholders with the opportunity to realize a 
premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares or otherwise be in the best interest of shareholders, including:

o “business combination” provisions that, subject to certain exceptions and limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between a 
Maryland REIT and an “interested shareholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more 
of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting shares or an affiliate or associate of the Maryland REIT who, at any time within 
the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then-
outstanding shares of the Company) or an affiliate of any interested shareholder and the Maryland REIT for five years after the most 
recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder, and thereafter imposes two supermajority shareholder voting 
requirements on these combinations;

o “control share” provisions that provide that, subject to certain exceptions, holders of “control shares” of our company (defined as voting 
shares that, if aggregated with all other shares owned or controlled by the acquirer, would entitle the acquirer to exercise one of three 
increasing ranges of voting power in electing trustees) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition 
of issued and outstanding “control shares”) have no voting rights with respect to the control shares except to the extent approved by our 
shareholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all interested 
shares; and

o Additionally, Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL permits the Board of Trustees, without shareholder approval and notwithstanding any 
contrary provisions in our Declaration of Trust or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses.
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The Board of Trustees has, by resolution, exempted from the provisions of the Maryland Business Combination Act all business combinations (a) 
between us and (i) Sears Holdings or its affiliates or (ii) ESL Investments, Inc. or Fairholme Capital Management L.L.C. (“FCM”) and/or certain clients of 
FCM or their respective affiliates and (b) between us and any other person, provided that in the latter case the business combination is first approved by 
the Board of Trustees (including a majority of our trustees who are not affiliates or associates of such person). In addition, our bylaws contain a provision 
opting out of the Maryland control share acquisition act.

We may experience uninsured or underinsured losses, or insurance proceeds may not otherwise be available to us which could result in a 
significant loss of the capital we have invested in a property, decrease anticipated future revenues or cause us to incur unanticipated 
expense.

While many of our existing leases require, and new lease agreements are expected to require, that comprehensive general insurance and hazard 
insurance be maintained by the tenants with respect to their premises, and we have obtained casualty insurance with respect to the vast majority of our 
properties other than certain vacant properties and development land sites, there are certain types of losses, generally of a catastrophic nature, such as 
earthquakes, hurricanes and floods, that may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. Insurance coverage (net of deductibles) may not be effective 
or be sufficient to pay the full current market value or current replacement cost of a loss. Inflation, changes in building and zoning codes and ordinances, 
environmental considerations, and other factors also might make it infeasible to use insurance proceeds to restore or replace the property after such 
property has been damaged or destroyed. Under such circumstances, the insurance proceeds received might not be adequate to restore the economic 
position with respect to such property or to comply with the requirements of our mortgages and Property Restrictions. Moreover, the holders of any 
mortgage indebtedness may require some or all property insurance proceeds to be applied to reduce such indebtedness, rather than being made 
available for property restoration.

If we experience a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds our policy coverage limits, we could lose the capital invested in the damaged properties as well 
as the anticipated future cash flows from those properties. In addition, if the damaged properties were subject to recourse indebtedness, Property 
Restrictions or ground leases, we could continue to be liable for the indebtedness or subject to claims for damages even if these properties were 
irreparably damaged.

In addition, even if damage to our properties is covered by insurance, a disruption of our business or that of our tenants caused by a casualty event may 
result in the loss of business and/or tenants. The business interruption insurance we or our tenants carry may not fully compensate us for the loss of 
business or tenants due to an interruption caused by a casualty event. Further, if one of our tenants has insurance but is underinsured, that tenant may 
be unable to satisfy its payment obligations under its lease with us or its other payment or other obligations.

A disruption in the financial markets may make it more difficult to evaluate the stability, net assets and capitalization of insurance companies and any 
insurer’s ability to meet its claim payment obligations. A failure of an insurance company to make payments to us upon an event of loss covered by an 
insurance policy, losses in excess of our policy coverage limits or disruptions to our business or the business of our tenants caused by a casualty event 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Each unconsolidated entity may also experience uninsured or underinsured losses, and also faces other risks related to insurance that are similar to 
those we face, which could reduce the value of our investment in, or distributions to us by, one or more unconsolidated entities, or require that we make 
additional capital contributions to one or more unconsolidated entities.

Mr. Lampert may exert substantial influence over us, and his interests may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.

As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Lampert owned approximately 25% of our outstanding Class A common shares. Mr. Lampert previously served as the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Sears Holdings and was previously the Chairman of the Seritage Board of Trustees. In 
any matter affecting us, the interests of Mr. Lampert may differ or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.

On March 1, 2022, Mr. Lampert filed a Schedule 13D/A with the SEC disclosing his support for our Board of Trustees’ efforts to explore and pursue 
strategic alternatives and his intention to explore alternatives for his investment in the Company, which may include, among other things, participating 
with third parties that may be interested in acquiring some or all of our assets and buying or selling shares in open market transactions. In the event of 
any such transaction, the interests of Mr. Lampert and his affiliates, may differ from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.
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Our investments in or redevelopment of properties may be unsuccessful or fail to meet our expectations.

We have historically grown our business through investments in, and acquisitions or development of, properties, including through the recapture and 
redevelopment of space at many of our properties. However, our industry is highly competitive, and we face competition from REITs, investment 
companies, private equity and hedge fund investors, sovereign funds, lenders, and other investors, some of whom are significantly larger and have 
greater resources and lower costs of capital. This competition makes it more challenging to successfully capitalize on redevelopment opportunities that 
meet our investment objectives. If we are unable to finance redevelopment opportunities on commercially favorable terms, our business, financial 
condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Our business entails risks associated with real estate investments generally, 
including (but not limited to) the following risks and as noted elsewhere in this section:

• we may incur significant costs and divert management attention in connection with redevelopments, including ones that we are subsequently 
unable to complete;

• we may not successfully manage and lease redeveloped properties to meet our expectations;

• we may spend more than budgeted to make necessary improvements or renovations to our properties;

• market conditions may result in higher than expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates; and

• our properties may be subject to liabilities and without any recourse, or with only limited recourse, with respect to unknown liabilities.

The redevelopment of properties involves the risks associated with real estate development activities generally. If we are unable to successfully 
redevelop properties or to lease the redeveloped properties to third parties on acceptable terms, our business, results of operations and financial 
condition could be materially adversely affected.

Current and future redevelopment may not yield expected returns.

We are currently undertaking redevelopment and reinvestment projects involving our properties. These projects are subject to a number of risks including 
(but not limited to):

• abandonment of redevelopment activities after expending resources to determine feasibility;

• loss of rental income, as well as payments of maintenance, repair, real estate taxes and other charges;

• restrictions or obligations imposed pursuant to other agreements; 

• construction and/or lease-up costs (including tenant improvements or allowances) and delays and cost overruns, including construction costs that 
exceed original estimates;

• failure to achieve expected occupancy and/or rent levels within the projected time frame or at all;

• failure to successfully manage, or find suitable third-party development partners for, the development of residential, office or other mixed-use 
properties;

• inability to successfully integrate re-developed properties into existing operations;

• difficulty obtaining financing on acceptable terms or paying operating expenses and debt service costs associated with redevelopment properties 
prior to sufficient occupancy and commencement of rental obligations under new leases;

• changes in zoning, building and land-use laws, and conditions, restrictions or limitations of, and delays or failures to obtain, necessary zoning, 
building, occupancy, land-use and other governmental permits;

• changes in local real-estate market conditions, including an oversupply of, or a reduction in demand for, retail space or retail goods, and the 
availability of current and prospective tenants;

• negative perceptions by retailers or shoppers of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the property;

• exposure to fluctuations in the general economy due to the significant time lag between commencement and completion of redevelopment 
projects; and 

• vacancies or ability to rent space on favorable terms, including possible market pressures to offer tenants rent abatements, tenant 
improvements, early termination rights or below-market renewal options.

If any of these events occur at any time during the process with respect to any project, overall project costs may significantly exceed initial cost estimates, 
which could result in reduced returns or losses from such investments. In addition, we may not have sufficient liquidity to fund such projects, and delays 
in the completion of a development project may provide various tenants the rights to withdraw from a property.
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If members of our management team terminate their employment with us or we are unable to retain talented employees our financial results 
and/or the Plan of Sale may be adversely affected.

Our business depends, to a meaningful extent, upon the continued services of our management team and, more broadly, our employees generally. Our 
executives have substantial experience in our industry. During 2023, in an effort to continue to incentivize and retain our management team, we amended 
the employment agreement with Ms. Andrea Olshan and extended and revised the retention agreements with Mr. Matthew Fernand and Mr. Eric 
Dinenberg. The amended agreements are structured generally to incentivize the executives to remain employed until the Plan of Sale has been fully, or 
nearly fully, completed, but each of these executives could elect to terminate their respective agreements at any time. Notwithstanding, the loss of 
services of one or more members of our management team, or our failure to retain talented employees generally could harm our business and our 
prospects and could adversely affect the Plan of Sale. Additionally, we have engaged third-party contractors and consultants to handle certain of our day 
to day functions, including accounting and finance, and to assist us in the Plan of Sale. The contractual arrangements governing these services can be 
terminated by either party upon advance notice and may not be as effective in providing direct control over the Plan of Sale. Any third-party contractor 
and consultant agreement terminations may adversely affect the Plan of Sale. Third-parties may fail to take actions required for our Plan of Sale despite 
their contractual obligation to do so. If the third-party advisors fail to perform under their agreements with us, we may have to rely on legal remedies 
under the law, which may not be effective. In addition, the termination of third-party contractors who oversee the accounting and finance functions could 
impact internal controls over financial reporting.

The future outbreak of highly infectious or contagious diseases may, materially and adversely impact the business of our tenants and 
materially or adversely impact and disrupt our business, income, cash flow, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects and 
ability to service our debt obligations.

A future pandemic could have material and adverse effects on our ability to successfully operate and on our financial condition, results of operations, 
liquidity and cash flows due to, among other factors:

• Difficulty accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, impacts to our credit ratings, and a severe disruption and instability in the 
global financial markets or deteriorations in credit and financing conditions may affect our access to capital necessary to fund business operations or 
address maturing liabilities on a timely basis and our tenants' ability to fund their business operations and meet their obligations to us;

• The financial impact could negatively impact our ability to pay dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares;

• The financial impact of a pandemic could negatively impact our future compliance with financial covenants of our term loan facility (the “Term Loan 
Facility”) with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska (“Berkshire Hathaway”) or result in a default and potentially an acceleration 
of indebtedness, which non-compliance could negatively impact our ability to make additional borrowings under our Incremental Funding Facility (as 
defined below), conduct asset sales, fund development activity or pay dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares;

• The worsening of estimated future cash flows due to a change in our plans, policies, or views of market and economic conditions as it relates to 
one or more of our adversely impacted properties could result in the recognition of substantial impairment charges imposed on our assets;

• The credit quality of our tenants could be negatively impacted and we may significantly increase our allowance for doubtful accounts;

• Difficulties completing our redevelopment projects on a timely basis, on budget or at all; 

• A general decline in business activity and demand for real estate transactions could adversely affect our ability or desire to reinvest in or redevelop 
our properties; and

• The potential negative impact on the health of our personnel, particularly if a significant number of them are impacted, could result in a 
deterioration in our ability to ensure business continuity during this disruption.
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Risks Related to Our Tax Status

If we experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Code, our ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital 
loss carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce our future taxable income could be limited, potentially increasing the net taxable 
income on which we must pay corporate-level taxes, and potentially adversely affecting our liquidity, and our desire to preserve our net 
operating losses and net capital loss carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

If we experience an “ownership change,” our future ability to utilize our net operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards to reduce our taxable income 
may be limited by certain provisions of the Code. Specifically, the Code limits the ability of a company that undergoes an “ownership change” to utilize its 
net operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards and certain built-in losses to offset taxable income earned in years after the ownership change. An 
ownership change occurs if, during a three-year testing period, more than 50% of the stock of a company is acquired by one or more persons (or certain 
groups of persons) who own, directly or constructively, 5% or more of the stock of such company. An ownership change can occur as a result of a public 
offering of stock, as well as through secondary market purchases of our stock and certain types of reorganization transactions. Generally, when an 
ownership change occurs, the annual limitation on the use of net operating loss and net capital loss carryforwards and certain built-in losses is equal to 
the product of the applicable long-term tax exempt rate and the value of the company’s stock immediately before the ownership change. We have 
substantial net operating and net capital loss carry forwards which we have used, and will continue to use, to offset our taxable income.

If we experience an ownership change, our income tax liability could materially increase. In addition, if we were to undergo an ownership change, our net 
operating losses and net capital loss carryforwards could become subject to additional limitations, which could result in us incurring materially greater tax 
liability than if we had not undergone such an ownership change. The determination of whether an ownership change has occurred or will occur is 
complicated and depends on changes in percentage stock ownership among stockholders. In addition, we may decide in the future that it is necessary or 
in our interest to take certain actions that could result in an ownership change. Therefore, no assurance can be provided as to whether an ownership 
change will occur in the future. Moreover, the potential negative consequences of the limitations that would result from an ownership change may 
discourage us from, among other things, redeeming our stock or issuing additional common stock to raise capital or to acquire businesses or assets. 
Accordingly, our desire to preserve our net operating losses and net capital loss carryforwards may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

If we do not qualify to be taxed as a REIT for any taxable year through 2021, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as a regular 
corporation and could face a substantial tax liability, which would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders.

We elected for U.S. federal income tax purposes to be treated as a REIT for the 2021 taxable year and in prior taxable years and we operated in a 
manner intended to qualify us as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes for such years. However, qualification as a REIT involves the application of 
highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, for which only a limited number of judicial and administrative interpretations exist. Even a technical 
or inadvertent violation could jeopardize our REIT qualification through 2021. Our qualification as a REIT through 2021 depends on the satisfaction of 
certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, shareholder ownership and other requirements. Moreover, there can be no assurance that the IRS will 
not challenge our qualification as a REIT for years in which we intended to qualify as a REIT. Although we believe we did qualify as a REIT in each such 
year, if the IRS were to successfully challenge our previous REIT status, we would suffer adverse tax consequences, such as those described below.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year through 2021, and no available relief provision applied, we would be subject to U.S. federal 
income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates (which is 21% for periods ending after December 31, 2017 through 2021), as well as U.S. 
state and local income tax, and dividends paid to our shareholders would not be deductible by us in computing our taxable income. Any resulting 
corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders, which in turn could have an 
adverse impact on the value of our common shares.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and 
reduce the price of our common stock.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the 
U.S. Department of the Treasury. Changes to the tax laws or interpretations thereof, with or without retroactive application, could materially and adversely 
affect our investors or us. We cannot predict how changes in the tax laws might affect our investors or us. Any such changes could have an adverse 
effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or the resale potential of our assets. You are urged to consult with your tax advisor with 
respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares.
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Risks Related to Ownership of our Securities

The market price and trading volume of our securities may be volatile.

The market price of our securities may be volatile, and the trading volume in our securities may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. 
Some of the factors that could negatively affect the market price of our securities or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our securities 
include:

• actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results of operations;

• changes in our funds from operations or earnings estimates;

• publication of research reports about us or the real estate or retail industries;

• increases in market interest rates that may cause purchasers of our securities to demand a higher yield;

• changes in market valuations of similar companies;

• adverse market reaction to any additional debt we may incur in the future;

• actions by ESL, or by institutional shareholders;

• speculation in the press or investment community about our company or industry or the economy in general;

• adverse performance or potential financial distress or bankruptcy of our major tenants;

• the occurrence of any of the other risk factors presented in this filing;

• complications, or any public perception of complications, regarding the Plan of Sale;

• specific real estate market and real estate economic conditions; and

• general market and economic conditions, including a possible recession.

We have issued Series A Preferred Shares, which, along with future offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, rank senior to our 
common shares for purposes of distributions or upon liquidation, may adversely affect the market price of our common shares.

We have issued 2,800,000 Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares, which are senior to our common shares for purposes of distributions or 
upon liquidation. The Series A Preferred Shares may limit our ability to make distributions to holders of our common shares.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred equity securities, including medium-
term notes, trust preferred securities, senior or subordinated notes and preferred shares. Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities, Series A 
Preferred Shares and any additional preferred shares and lenders with respect to other borrowings may receive distributions of our available assets prior 
to the holders of our common shares. Any additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing shareholders or reduce the market price of 
our common shares, or both. Holders of our common shares are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against dilution, and will have no 
voting rights in connection with the issuance of these securities. Our Series A Preferred Shares have, and any additional preferred shares of beneficial 
interest issued could have, a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on distribution payments that could limit our ability to make a 
distribution to the holders of our common shares. Since our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend in part on market conditions and 
other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our shareholders bear the risk 
of our future offerings reducing the market price of our common shares and diluting their holdings in us.

The number of shares available for future sale could adversely affect the market price of Class A common shares.

We cannot predict whether future issuances of Class A common shares or the availability of Class A common shares for resale in the open market will 
decrease the market price per share of Class A common shares. Sales of a substantial number of Class A common shares in the public market, or the 
perception that such sales might occur, could adversely affect the market price of the Class A common shares.
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The Series A Preferred Shares have not been rated.

The Series A Preferred Shares have not been rated, and may never be rated, by any nationally recognized statistical rating organization, which may 
negatively affect their market value and your ability to sell such shares. It is possible, however, that one or more rating agencies might independently 
determine to assign a rating to the Series A Preferred Shares or that we may elect to obtain a rating of the Series A Preferred Shares in the future. 
Furthermore, we may elect to issue other securities for which we may seek to obtain a rating. If any ratings are assigned to the Series A Preferred Shares 
in the future or if we issue other securities with a rating, such ratings, if they are lower than market expectations or are subsequently lowered or 
withdrawn, could adversely affect the market for or the market value of the Series A Preferred Shares. Ratings only reflect the views of the issuing rating 
agency or agencies, and such ratings could at any time be revised downward or withdrawn entirely at the discretion of the issuing rating agency. Any 
such downward revision or withdrawal of a rating could have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series A Preferred Shares. Further, a rating is 
not a recommendation to purchase, sell or hold any particular security, including the Series A Preferred Shares. In addition, ratings do not reflect market 
prices or suitability of a security for a particular investor and any future rating of the Series A Preferred Shares may not reflect all risks related to us and 
our business, or the structure or market value of the Series A Preferred Shares.

An active trading market may not develop for the Series A Preferred Shares or, even if it does develop, may not continue, which may 
negatively affect the market value of, and the ability of holders of our Series A Preferred Shares to transfer or sell, their shares.

Since the Series A Preferred Shares have no stated maturity date, investors seeking liquidity will be limited to selling their shares in the secondary 
market. The Series A Preferred Shares are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “SRG PRA,” but there can be no assurance that an active trading 
market on the NYSE for the Series A Preferred Shares will develop or continue, in which case the market price of the Series A Preferred Shares could be 
materially and adversely affected and the ability to transfer or sell Series A Preferred Shares would be limited. The market price of the shares will depend 
on many factors, including:

• prevailing interest rates;

• the market for similar securities;

• investors’ perceptions of us;

• our issuance of additional preferred equity or indebtedness;

• complications, or any public perception of complications, regarding the Plan of Sale;

• general economic and market conditions, including a possible recession; and

• our financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects.

The Series A Preferred Shares are subordinate in right of payment to our existing and future debt, and the interests of the holders of Series A 
Preferred Shares could be diluted by the issuance of additional preferred shares, including additional Series A Preferred Shares, and by other 
transactions.

The Series A Preferred Shares rank junior to all of our existing and future debt and to other non-equity claims on us and our assets available to satisfy 
claims against us, including claims in bankruptcy, liquidation or similar proceedings. Our future debt may include restrictions on our ability to pay 
dividends to preferred shareholders. As of December 31, 2023, our total indebtedness was $360 million. In addition, we may incur additional 
indebtedness in the future. Our Declaration of Trust currently authorizes the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred shares in one or more 
classes or series. Our board of trustees has the power to reclassify unissued common shares and preferred shares and to amend our Declaration of 
Trust, without any action by our shareholders, to increase the aggregate number of shares of beneficial interest of any class or series, including preferred 
shares, that we are authorized to issue. The issuance of additional preferred shares on parity with or senior to the Series A Preferred Shares with respect 
to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up would dilute the interests of the holders 
of the Series A Preferred Shares, and any issuance of preferred shares senior to the Series A Preferred Shares or of additional indebtedness could 
adversely affect our ability to pay dividends on, redeem or pay the liquidation preference on the Series A Preferred Shares. Other than the limited 
conversion right afforded to holders of Series A Preferred Shares that may occur in connection with a Change of Control, none of the provisions relating to 
the Series A Preferred Shares contain any provisions relating to or limiting our indebtedness or affording the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares 
protection in the event of a highly leveraged or other transaction, including a merger or the sale, lease or conveyance of all or substantially all our assets 
or business, that might adversely affect the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, so long as the rights of holders of the Series A Preferred Shares are 
not materially and adversely affected.
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Dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, are discretionary. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to pay 
dividends in the future or what the actual dividends will be for any future period.

Future dividends on our preferred shares, including the Series A Preferred Shares, will be authorized by our Board of Trustees and declared by us at the 
discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, cash flow from operations, financial condition and 
capital requirements, any debt service requirements and any other factors our Board of Trustees deems relevant. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that 
we will be able to make cash dividends on our preferred shares or what the actual dividends will be for any future period. However, until we declare 
payment and pay or set apart the accrued dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares, our ability to pay dividends and make other distributions on our 
common shares and non-voting shares (including redemptions) will be limited by the terms of the Series A Preferred Shares.

Holders of Series A Preferred Shares will have limited voting rights.

Holders of the Series A Preferred Shares have limited voting rights. Our Class A common shares and our non-economic shares are currently the only 
shares of beneficial interest of our company with full voting rights. Voting rights for holders of Series A Preferred Shares exist primarily with respect to the 
right to elect two additional trustees to our Board of Trustees in the event that six quarterly dividends (whether or not consecutive) payable on the Series 
A Preferred Shares are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to our Declaration of Trust or articles supplementary relating to the Series A 
Preferred Shares that would materially and adversely affect the rights of holders of the Series A Preferred Shares or create additional classes or series of 
our shares that are senior to the Series A Preferred Shares with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets in the event of any 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs. Other than in limited circumstances, holders of Series A Preferred Shares will not have any voting 
rights.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no unresolved comments from the staff of the SEC as of the date of this Annual Report.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
 
Risk Management and Strategy
 
We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing risk associated with cybersecurity threats. We have implemented cybersecurity 
processes, technologies, and controls to aid in our efforts to assess, identify, and manage such risks. We have developed and implemented a 
cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and information.
 
Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management program, and shares common methodologies, 
reporting channels, and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, 
operational, and financial risk areas. As part of this process, we have elected to engage third-party managed service providers to maintain our network 
and to manage the monitoring, detection, mitigation, and prevention of cybersecurity threats. These service providers are responsible for managing our 
hosted services, all of the computer and computer-related hardware and software we use, and for managing our backup processes. Our primary 
managed service provider supplies management with weekly updates and activity reports related to network alerts, connectivity issues, and help desk 
tickets. 
 
Our management team has taken additional steps to implement our cybersecurity risk management program. For example, we have implemented 
periodic management reviews of our controls related to provisioning of user access to certain third-party hosted applications that we use in connection 
with the business and risks posed by certain critical vendors; this includes reviewing System and Organizational Control audit reports of such vendors. 
We maintain cybersecurity insurance coverage intended to mitigate our financial exposure to certain cybersecurity threats, and we consult with external 
advisors regarding opportunities and enhancements to strengthen our cybersecurity processes and practices.
 
We are subject to risks from cybersecurity threats and incidents. As of December 31, 2023, we do not believe such risks have materially affected or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including the Company’s business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, there 
can be no assurance that the Company will not be materially affected by such risks in the future. For additional information regarding risks from 
cybersecurity threats, refer to Item 1A, “Risk Factors”, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Governance
Our Board of Directors (the “Board”) considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function. In February 2024, the Board delegated to its Audit 
Committee oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks. Our Audit Committee oversees management’s implementation of our 
cybersecurity risk management program. Our Audit Committee will receive periodic reports from our Interim Chief Financial Officer or our Chief Legal 
Officer on our cybersecurity risks. In addition, our Interim Chief Financial Officer or our Chief Legal Officer will update our Audit Committee, as necessary, 
regarding any significant cybersecurity incidents impacting our information systems. Our entire Board will also receive briefings from our Interim Chief 
Financial Officer or Chief Legal Officer on our cybersecurity risk management program as part of our overall business risk updates. 
 
 
Our management, represented by our Interim Chief Financial Officer, John Garilli, oversees the Company’s cybersecurity risk management program. We 
have elected to engage third-party providers to maintain our network defenses and to manage and assess cybersecurity risk management and strategy 
for the Company. Our third-party providers update Mr. Garilli and other members of our executive management team with any network issues on a weekly 
basis and make recommendations for security upgrades as needed. The Interim Chief Financial Officer or the Chief Legal Officer will update the Audit 
Committee quarterly, or more frequently in the case of a significant cybersecurity incident impacting our information systems.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s portfolio consisted of interests in 32 properties comprised of approximately 4.1 million square feet of GLA or 
build-to-suit leased area, approximately 1.2 million square feet of which consists of Unconsolidated Properties, approximately 126 acres held for or under 
development until time of sale and approximately 1.6 million square feet or approximately 138 acres to be disposed of in its current state. The following 
tables set forth certain information regarding our Consolidated Properties and Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31, 
2023, including signed but not yet open leases (“SNO” or “SNO Leases”): 
 
        GLA (1)     Land       

  City  
St
ate  Planned Usage (3)  Total   

Leas
ed   

Not 
Lease

d     Acres   Significant Tenants (1)  Leased  

1  Temecula  CA  Multi-Tenant Retail   
126
,50

0
   

126
,50

0
   -      10   

Round One Entertainment, Dick's Sporting Goods, 
Texas Roadhouse   100.0 %

2  Braintree  M
A

 Multi-Tenant Retail   85,
100

   85,
100

   -      34   Nordstrom Rack, Ulta Beauty, Amazon   100.0 %

3  Watchung (4)  NJ  Multi-Tenant Retail   87,
300

   87,
300

   -      7   HomeGoods, Sierra Trading Post, Ulta Beauty, 
Chick-fil-A , City MD, Starbucks

  100.0 %

4  King of Prussia (2)  PA  Multi-Tenant Retail   
208
,70

0
   

174
,50

0
   

34,2
00      14   Dick's Sporting Goods, Primark,Yardhouse   83.6 %

5  Clearwater  FL  Multi-Tenant Retail   
212
,90

0
   

75,
500    

137,
400      14   Whole Foods, Nordstrom Rack   35.5 %

6  Albany  NY  Multi-Tenant Retail   
242
,80

0
   

141
,10

0
   

101,
700      21   Whole Foods, Ethan Allen   58.1 %

7  Aventura  FL  Premier   
216
,10

0
   

149
,40

0
   

66,7
00      13   CCRM, Industrious, Pinstripes   69.1 %

8  Boca Raton  FL  Premier   4,2
00

   4,2
00

   -      19   n/a   100.0 %

9  Dallas  TX  Premier   -    -    -      23   n/a   0.0 %
1
0

 Redmond  W
A

 Premier   7,5
00

   7,5
00

   -      15   n/a   100.0 %

1
1

 Riverside - Resi  CA  Residential   -    -    -      14   n/a   0.0 %

1
2

 Riverside - Retail  CA  Residential   33,
200

   33,
200

   -      5   Bank of America, Aldi   100.0 %

1
3

 North Little Rock - 
Outparcel

 AR  Non-Core 
Properties

  16,
800

   13,
000

   3,80
0

     13   Aspen Dental, Longhorn Steakhouse   77.4 %

1
4  North Little Rock - Box (4)  AR  

Non-Core 
Properties   

160
,50

0
   -    

160,
500      2   n/a   0.0 %

1
5

 Yuma (4)  AZ  Non-Core 
Properties

  90,
100

   -    90,1
00

     15   n/a   0.0 %

1
6  Doral  FL  

Non-Core 
Properties   

195
,60

0
   -    

195,
600      13   n/a   0.0 %

1
7  Panama City  FL  

Non-Core 
Properties   

134
,30

0
   -    

134,
300      15   n/a   0.0 %

1
8  Cedar Rapids (4)  IA  

Non-Core 
Properties   

146
,30

0
   -    

146,
300      12   n/a   0.0 %

1
9  Plantation  FL  

Non-Core 
Properties   

204
,10

0
   -    

204,
100      18   n/a   0.0 %

2
0  Mesa  AZ  

Non-Core 
Properties   

136
,00

0
   -    

136,
000      5   n/a   0.0 %

2
1  San Bernardino  CA  

Non-Core 
Properties   

264
,70

0
   -    

264,
700      20   n/a   0.0 %

2
2  Ft. Myers  FL  

Non-Core 
Properties   

146
,80

0
   -    

146,
800      12   n/a   0.0 %

2
3  Edgewater (4)  

M
D  

Non-Core 
Properties   

122
,00

0
   -    

122,
000      14   n/a   0.0 %

  Total - Consolidated Properties   
2,8
41,

500
   

897
,30

0
   

1,94
4,20

0
     328      31.6 %

  Average - Consolidated Properties   
123
,54

3
   

39,
013    

84,5
30      14      31.6 %
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        GLA (1)     Land       

  
City  

St
ate  Planned Usage (3)  Total   

Leas
ed   

Not 
Lease

d   Joint Venture  Acres   Significant Tenants (1)  Leased  

1  Santa Monica  CA  Premier   
103
,00

0
   -    

103,
000   Mark 302 JV   3   

n/a
  0.0 %

2  San Diego  CA  Premier   
212
,50

0
   

212
,50

0
   -   UTC JV   13   Amazon, Williams-Sonoma, Rejuvenation   100.0 %

3  Alexandria  VA  Premier   -    -    -   Foulger Pratt / 
Howard Hughes

  41   n/a   0.0 %

4  
Altamonte Springs  FL

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 186

,90
0

   9,5
00

  
 

177,
400   

GGP II JV
 

 17   n/a  
 5.1 %

5  
Frisco  TX

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 174

,90
0

   12,
000

  
 

162,
900   

GGP I JV
 

 11   n/a  
 6.9 %

6  
Santa Rosa  CA

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 165

,40
0

   -   
 

165,
400   

Simon JV
 

 7   n/a  
 0.0 %

7  
Nanuet  NY

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 221

,40
0

   -   
 

221,
400   

Simon JV
 

 14   n/a  
 0.0 %

8  
Austin  TX

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 164

,60
0

   -   
 

164,
600   

Simon JV
 

 16   n/a  
 0.0 %

9  
Austin  TX

 
Other 

Unconsolidated 
Properties

 
 -    -   

 -   
RD 

Development JV  
 11   n/a  

 0.0 %

  Total - Unconsolidated Properties   
1,2
28,

700
   

234
,00

0
   

994,
700      133    

 
 19.0 %

  Average - Unconsolidated Properties   
136
,52

2
   

26,
000    

110,
522      15    

 
 19.0 %

                          

(1) Based on signed leases as of December 31, 2023, including SNO Leases.               

(2) Property subject to a lease or ground lease.               
(3) Planned usage may be subject to entitlements.               
(4) Asset sold subsequent to December 31, 2023.               
                          

  Grand Total - All Properties   
4,0
70,

200
   

1,1
31,

300
   

2,93
8,90

0
     461      27.8 %

  Grand Total - All Properties (at Share)   
3,4
55,

850
   

1,0
14,

300
   

2,44
1,55

0
     395      29.4 %

 
 

Planned Usage  Total   Built SF / Acreage(2)  Leased SF (2) (3)   Avg. Acreage / Site  
Consolidated            

Multi-Tenant Retail   6    963 sf / 100 acres   690    16.7  
Residential (3)   2    33 sf / 19 acres   33    9.5  
Premier   4    228 sf / 69 acres   161    17.2  
Non-Core(4)   11    1,617 sf / 138 acres   13    12.5  

Unconsolidated            
Other Entities   6    457 sf / 77 acres   11    12.8  
Premier   3    158 sf / 57 acres   106    19.0  

(1) Square footage is presented at the Company’s proportional share.
(2) Based on signed leases at December 31, 2023.
(3) Square footage represents built ancillary retail space whereas acreage represents both retail and residential acreage.
(4) Represents assets the Company previously designated for sale.
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Consolidated Properties

Geographic Diversification

The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic diversification of the portfolio based on signed leases as of December 31, 2023:

 
  Number of   Annual   % of Total   Rent  
State  Properties   Rent   Annual Rent   PSF  
Florida   7   $ 12,049    43.1 % $ 52.58  
California   4    2,910    10.4 %  18.22  
Pennsylvania   1    4,897    17.5 %  28.06  
New Jersey   1    2,643    9.5 %  30.27  
New York   1    2,454    8.8 %  17.39  
Massachusetts   1    2,421    8.7 %  28.44  

Arkansas   2    
347

   
1.2

%  26.65  
Washington   1    190    0.7 %  25.33  
Texas   1    13    0.0 %  -  
Arizona   2    -    0.0 %  -  
Iowa   1    -    0.0 %  -  
Maryland   1    -    0.0 %  -  

Total   23   $ 27,924    100.0 % $ 31.13  

Tenant Overview

The following table provides a summary of annual base rent for the portfolio based on signed leases as of December 31, 2023:

  
Number 

of   
Lease

d   % of Total   
Gross Annual 

Base   % of Total   Gross Annual  

Tenant  Leases   GLA   
Leasable 

GLA   Rent ("ABR")   
Annual 

Rent   
Rent PSF ("ABR 

PSF")  
In-place leases   41    733    25.8 % $ 20,530    73.5 % $ 28.01  
SNO leases (1)   24    165    5.8 %  7,394    26.5 %  44.81  

Total   65    897    31.6 % $ 27,924    100.0 % $ 31.13  
(1) SNO = Signed not yet opened leases                   
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Top Tenants

The following table lists the top tenants in our portfolio based on rental income as of December 31, 2023:

 Number of    Total  % of Total   
Tenant Leases  SF  Rent  Rent  Concepts / Brands

 Dick's Sporting Goods  2   137,020  $ 3,223,480   15.7 % 
 Round One Entertainment  1   48,658   1,179,957   5.7 % 
 Nordstrom Rack  2   74,668   1,758,604   8.6 % 
 Primark  1   65,747   1,643,675   8.0 % 
 Pinstripes  1   26,515   1,482,139   7.2 % 
 Industrious  1   26,501   1,431,054   7.0 % 
 Whole Foods  2   71,235   1,257,772   6.1 % 
 CCRM  1   18,230   1,002,650   4.9 % 
 TJX  2   41,926   838,520   4.1 % HomeGoods, Sierra Trading Post
 Joey  1   8,150   733,500   3.6 % 
 Ulta Salon  2   21,498   686,485   3.3 % 
 Darden  2   18,661   581,658   2.8 % Longhorn Steakhouse, Yardhouse

 Floor & Décor  1   57,204   514,836   2.5 % 
 One Medical  1   4,093   429,765   2.1 % 
 North Italia  1   6,883   378,565   1.8 % 
 BJ's Restaurants & Brewhouse  1   7,807   343,508   1.7 % 
 CityMD  1   4,225   295,750   1.4 % 
 David's Bridal  1   7,802   284,773   1.4 % 
 Ethan Allen  1   8,000   256,000   1.2 % 

Unconsolidated Properties

Geographic Diversification

The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic diversification of the Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of 
December 31, 2023:

  Number of   Annual   % of Total   Rent  
State  Properties   Rent   Annual Rent   PSF  
California   3   $ 14,921    97.2 % $ 140.44  
Texas   3    240    1.6 %  40.00  
Florida   1    186    1.2 %  39.44  
New York   1    -    0.0 %  -  

Virginia   1    -    
0.0

%  -  
Total   9   $ 15,347    100.0 % $ 131.21  
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Tenant Overview

The following table provides a summary of annual base rent for the Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31, 2023:

  Number of   Leased   % of Total   

Gross 
Annual 
Base   % of Total   

Gross 
Annual  

Tenant  Leases   GLA   
Leasable 

GLA   
Rent 

("ABR")   Annual Rent   

Rent PSF 
("ABR 
PSF")  

In-place leases   28    234    19.0 % $ 15,347    100.0 % $ 65.59  
SNO leases (1)   0    -    0.0 %  -    0.0 %  -  

Total   28    234    19.0 % $ 15,347    100.0 % $ 65.59  
(1) SNO = Signed not yet opened leases                   

Top Tenants

The following table lists the top tenants in our Unconsolidated Properties based on signed leases as of December 31, 2023:

 Number of    Total  % of Total   
Tenant Leases  SF  Rent  Rent  Concepts / Brands

 Amazon  1   123,386  $ 8,439,602   55.0 % 
 Williams-Sonoma  1   16,315   734,139   4.8 % 
 Amalfi Llama  1   7,138   571,040   3.7 % 
 CB2  1   9,688   494,088   3.2 % 
 Rejuvenation  1   9,608   480,400   3.1 % 
 Natuzzi  1   6,324   399,993   2.6 % 
 Purple Innovation  1   3,863   397,889   2.6 % 
 Pacific Catch  1   4,724   363,748   2.4 % 
 Sweetgreen  1   2,963   325,000   2.1 % 
 Westfield  1   -   303,298   2.0 % 
 P.volve Fitness  1   3,157   260,453   1.7 % 
 4 Wheel Parts  1   12,000   240,000   1.6 % 
 Feast California Café  1   3,693   223,427   1.5 % 
 Brilliant Earth  1   1,983   204,923   1.3 % 
 Ideal Image  1   2,403   204,255   1.3 % 
 Darden  1   9,450   186,340   1.2 % Seasons 52
 Pilates Republic  1   2,169   162,675   1.1 % 
 Menya Ultra  1   1,842   154,728   1.0 % 
 Smashburger  1   1,921   149,838   1.0 % 
 Board & Brew  1   1,729   138,364   0.9 % 
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business and due to the current 
environment. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available information, 
that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations, cash flows or liquidity of 
the Company. As of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the Company did not record any amounts for litigation or other matters aside from the 
settlement payment of $35.5 million made during the year ended December 31, 2022. This settlement payment was partially offset by payments made by 
our D&O insurers, which we received during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Details of the litigation and these payments are described in 
Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURITIES

The Company’s Class A common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “SRG”.

The following graph provides a comparison, from December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2023, of the cumulative total shareholder return (assuming 
reinvestment of dividends) on $100 invested in each of Class A shares of the Company, the Standard & Poor's ("S&P") 500 Index and the MSCI US REIT 
Index, an industry index of publicly-traded REITs.

 

 
 
Index   12/31/2018  12/31/2019  12/31/2020  12/31/2021  12/31/2022  12/31/2023  
Seritage Growth Properties Cumulative$   100   124   45   41   37   29  
 Return %     24   (55 )  (59 )  (63 )  (71 )
S&P 500 Cumulative$   100   129   150   190   153   190  
 Return %     29   50   90   53   90  
MSCI US REIT Index Cumulative$   100   121   108   149   108   118  
 Return %     21   8   49   8   18  
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Common Shares and Operating Partnership Units

On March 28, 2024, the reported closing sale price per share of our Class A common stock on the NYSE was $9.65.

As of March 28, 2024, there were 56,262,944 Class A common shares issued and outstanding which were held by approximately 127 shareholders of 
record. The number of shareholders of record does not reflect persons or entities that held their shares in nominee or “street” name.

As of March 28, 2024, no outstanding Operating Partnership units (“OP Units”) were held by limited partners other than the Company. The OP Units were 
generally exchangeable into shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. Seritage, and its consolidating subsidiaries, is the sole owner of all 
outstanding Operating Partnership interests.

The Class B non-economic common shares have voting rights, but do not have economic rights and, as such, do not receive dividends and are not 
included in earnings per share computations.

Class C non-voting common shares have economic rights, but do not have voting rights. Upon any transfer of a Class C non-voting common share to 
any person other than an affiliate of the holder of such share, such share shall automatically convert into one Class A common share. As of March 28, 
2024, there are no Class B non-economic common shares outstanding and there are no Class C non-voting common shares outstanding.

Share-Based Compensation 

The following table provides information with respect to the Company’s equity compensation plan as of December 31, 2023:

 

  

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

warrants and rights   

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights   

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))   
Plan Category  (a)   (b)   (c)   

Equity compensation plans approved
   by security holders   535,650  (1) n/a  (2)  2,180,562  (3)
Total   535,650    —    2,180,562   

 

(1) Represents restricted stock awards and units previously granted and that remain unvested as of December 31, 2023.
(2) Weighted average exercise price does not apply to restricted stock units (“RSU”).
(3) Shares remaining available for future issuance under the Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan, taking into account 84,216 shares of restricted 
stock previously granted and 985,222 shares subject to grants of RSUs previously granted (including those that remain unvested reported in column (a)).

Dividends and Distributions 

The timing, amount and composition of all distributions will be made by the Company at the discretion of its Board of Trustees. Such distributions will 
depend on the financial position, results of operations, cash flows, capital requirements, debt covenants, applicable law and other factors as the Board of 
Trustees of Seritage deems relevant. 

The Company declared a dividend on the Company’s Class A and Class C common shares for the first quarter of 2019 and has not declared dividends 
on the Company’s Class A and Class C common shares since that time.

REIT Election

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to 
terminate the Company's REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required to 
operate under REIT rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of REIT taxable income to its stockholders, which provides the Company 
with greater flexibility to use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income 
at applicable tax rates and is no longer entitled to a tax deduction for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT for the 2021 tax year and prior 
years, and existing REIT requirements and limitations, including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place 
through December 31, 2021. Refer to Note 7 – Income Taxes of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 6. RESERVED
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This section contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may vary materially from those discussed in the 
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, without limitation, those set forth in “Risk Factors” and the other matters set forth in 
this Annual Report. See “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

For discussion of 2021 items and year-over-year comparisons between 2022 and 2021 that are not included in this Annual Report, refer to “Item 7. – 
Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” found in our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2022, that was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 14, 2023.

All references to numbered Notes are to specific footnotes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report. You should read this 
discussion in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements, the notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report. Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). Capitalized 
terms used, but not defined, in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) have the same 
meanings as in such Notes.

Overview

Prior to our adoption of the Plan for Sale, we were principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment, management, sale and leasing of 
diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2023, our portfolio consisted of interests in 32 properties 
comprised of approximately 4.1 million square feet of GLA or build-to-suit leased area, approximately 126 acres held for or under development until time 
of sale and approximately 1.6 million square feet or approximately 138 acres to be disposed of in its current state. The portfolio consists of approximately 
2.8 million square feet of GLA held by 23 Consolidated Properties and 1.2 million square feet of GLA held by nine Unconsolidated Properties.

Review of Strategic Alternatives

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees has commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives to 
enhance shareholder value. The Board of Trustees created a special committee of the Board of Trustees (the “Special Committee”) to oversee the 
process. The Special Committee retained Barclays as its financial advisor from March 2022 to August 2023 to assist with the strategic review. The 
Company sought a shareholder vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of our assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that would allow our board to 
sell all of our assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company. 

The 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, at which time the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders, following our 
filing of a final proxy statement with the SEC on September 14, 2022. See Note 1 – Organization of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Plan of Sale. The strategic review process remains 
ongoing as the Company executes the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a 
potential sale of the Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will be successful in 
fully executing on the Plan of Sale. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—There can be no assurance that our 
review of strategic alternatives will result in any transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan 
of Sale.

Impairment of real estate assets and investments in unconsolidated entities

In the first quarter of 2022, we announced a review of strategic alternatives and during the second quarter the Company filed a preliminary proxy to seek 
approval for the Plan of Sale to maximize shareholder value. As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s anticipated holding periods with respect to 
certain assets has changed. This affected our view of recoverability of the carrying value of those assets over their respective holding periods and during 
the year ended December 31, 2022, $126.9 million of impairment was recorded. Due to increasing development and construction costs, deteriorating 
market conditions and, in certain instances excluding Aventura, FL, agreeing to sell below carrying value, we have recognized $107.0 million of 
impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is included in impairment on real estate assets within the consolidated statements 
of operations. We recognized $11.7 million and $35.6 million of other-than-temporary impairment losses on our investments in unconsolidated entities 
during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We continue to evaluate our portfolio, including our development plans and offers 
received, which may result in additional impairments in future periods on our consolidated properties and investments in unconsolidated entities.
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Asset Sales and Sales of Unconsolidated Properties 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 60 wholly owned assets, generating gross proceeds of $702.0 million and monetized eight 
unconsolidated properties for an additional $140.7 million of gross proceeds. 

As of March 22, 2024, we had four assets under contract to sell for total anticipated proceeds of $53.6 million, subject to buyer diligence and closing 
conditions.

Effects of Natural Disasters

The Company assessed the impact of the natural disasters that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 and determined that natural 
disasters did not have a material impact on our operating results or financial position. The Company did not experience interruptions in rental payments 
related to natural disasters nor has it incurred material capital expenditures to repair any property damage. As a result of changes to weather patterns 
caused by climate change, our properties could experience increased storm intensity and other natural disasters in future periods and, as such, we 
cannot provide assurance that natural disasters will not have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows over the 
foreseeable future. 
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Results of Operations

We derive substantially all of our revenue from rents received from tenants under existing leases at each of our properties. This revenue generally 
includes fixed base rents and recoveries of expenses that we have incurred and that we pass through to the individual tenants, in each case as provided 
in the respective leases.

Our primary cash expenses consist of our property operating expenses, general and administrative expenses, interest expense, and construction and 
development related costs. Property operating expenses include: real estate taxes, repairs and maintenance, management fees, insurance, ground lease 
costs and utilities; general and administrative expenses include payroll, office expenses, professional fees, and other administrative expenses; and 
interest expense is on our term loan facility. In addition, we incur substantial non-cash charges for depreciation of our properties and amortization of 
intangible assets and liabilities. 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 to the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The following table presents selected data on comparative results from the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

  
Year Ended 

December 31,     
  2023   2022   $ Change  
          
Revenue          
Rental income  $ 15,060   $ 104,609   $ (89,549 )

Expenses          
Property operating   (21,282 )   (41,770 )   20,488  
Real estate taxes   (6,128 )   (23,950 )   17,822  
Depreciation and amortization   (14,471 )   (41,114 )   26,643  
General and administrative   (45,988 )   (47,634 )   1,646 
Litigation settlement   —    (35,533 )   35,533  
Gain on sale of real estate, net   96,214    211,936    (115,722 )
Gain (loss) on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities   6,407   (677 )   7,084 
Impairment of real estate assets   (107,043 )   (126,887 )   19,844  
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities   (55,857 )   (72,080 )   16,223  
Interest and other income   17,067    37,753    (20,686 )
Interest expense   (44,571 )   (86,730 )   42,159  

Rental Income

The following table presents the results for rental income for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the corresponding period in 2022 (in 
thousands):
  Year Ended December 31,   Year Ended December 31,     
  2023   2022     

  Rental Income   
% of Total 

Rental Income   Rental Income   
% of Total 

Rental Income   $ Change  
In-place retail leases  $ 31,904    211.8% $ 103,356    98.8% $ (71,452 )
Straight-line rent (expense) income   (16,872 )   -112.0 %  1,271   1.2 %  (18,143 )
Amortization of above/below market leases   28    0.2 %  (18 )   0.0 %  46  

Total rental income  $ 15,060    100.0%  $ 104,609    100.0% $ (89,549 )

The decrease of $71.5 million in in-place retail tenants rental income during 2023 was primarily due to property sales.

The decrease of $18.1 million in straight-line rental income during 2022 was due primarily to property sales.

Property Operating Expenses and Real Estate Taxes

The decrease of $20.5 million in property operating expense and the decrease of $17.8 million in real estate taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023 
was due primarily to asset sales and partially offset by a decrease in amounts capitalized due to a decrease in development.
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Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

The decrease of $26.6 million in depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 was due primarily to a decrease of $27.8 
million net scheduled depreciation due to sales and partially offset by $1.2 million in depreciation related to placing development assets into service.

Litigation Settlement

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a $35.5 million litigation settlement related to the settlement of our litigation described 
further below, which the Court approved on September 2, 2022, and was settled on October 18, 2022. We paid the settlement amount described above 
in October 2022. See Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies. No such payments were made during the year ended December 31, 2023.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, including share-based compensation, professional fees, office expenses and overhead 
expenses.

The decrease of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily driven by a decrease in legal expenses primarily due to settling the 
outstanding litigation in 2022 and lower compensation expenses due to a decrease in employee headcount. This was partially offset by an increase in 
third-party consultants utilized to execute the Plan of Sale.

Gain on Sale of Real Estate

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 60 properties, for aggregate consideration of $702.0 million and recorded a gain totaling 
$96.2 million, which is included in gain on sale of real estate within the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company sold 65 properties, for aggregate consideration of $650.3 million and recorded a gain totaling 
$211.9 million, which is included in gain on sale of real estate within the consolidated statements of operations.

Gain/Loss on Sale of Interests in Unconsolidated Entities

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold its interest in eight unconsolidated properties, and recorded a gain totaling $6.4 million, 
which is included in gain on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities within the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company sold interests in three unconsolidated entities, and recorded a loss totaling $0.7 million, which 
is included in loss on sale of interests in unconsolidated entities, net within the consolidated statement of operations.

Impairment of Real Estate Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $107.0 million in impairment of real estate assets, which is included within the 
consolidated statements of operations. This impairment arose primarily from recognizing $101.5 million of impairment on the Company's development 
property in Aventura, FL due to continued increasing development and construction costs and deteriorating market conditions, which triggered the need 
for an impairment analysis pursuant to ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment. The Company determined the fair value of this property by applying a 
discount to projected cash flows. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized $126.9 million in impairment of 42 real estate 
assets, as a result of the Company's plan to pursue the Plan of Sale.

Equity in Loss of Unconsolidated Entities

The decrease of $16.2 million in loss in the unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily driven by a impairment charges 
recorded at the joint venture level of our unconsolidated entities. During the year ended December 31, 2023, impairment charges of $70.8 million and 
$41.9 million were recorded on two underlying investments resulting in the Company picking up its share of this impairment of $35.4 million and $5.5 
million, respectively, and an $11.7 million other-than-temporary impairment charge recorded against three other investments. This is compared with an 
aggregate $61.1 million of impairment charges recorded in two underlying properties during the year ended December 31, 2022, resulting in the 
Company picking up its share of impairment totaling $30.6 million plus the Company recording other-than-temporary impairment of $35.6 million. These 
other-than-temporary impairments arose from the Company’s impairment analysis pursuant to ASC 323, Equity Method and Joint Ventures. The 
impairments recorded at the investment entities arose from the Unconsolidated Entity's impairment analysis of the underlying properties pursuant to ASC 
360, Property, Plant and Equipment due to agreeing to sell these assets for less than their carrying value.
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Interest and Other Income

The decrease of $20.7 million in interest and other income is primarily due to the extinguishments of $13.9 million of historical Sears liabilities and $9.5 
million of environmental reserve during the year ended December 31, 2022. This decrease is partially offset by greater interest received on the 
Company’s cash accounts during the year ended December 31, 2023 and refunds of fees and deposits previously held in escrow.

Interest Expense

The decrease of $42.2 million in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was a result of the partial Term Loan pay-downs totaling $670 
million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and debt service 
(collectively, “Obligations”), and the reinvestment in and redevelopment of our properties (“development expenditures”). Property rental income, which is 
the Company’s primary source of operating cash flow, did not fully fund Obligations incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 and the 
Company recorded net operating cash outflows of $53.1 million. Additionally, the Company generated net investing cash inflows of $732.9 million during 
the year ended December 31, 2023, which were driven by asset sales and partially offset by development expenditures and recorded financing cash 
outflows of $675.1 million, primarily due to partial repayments of the Term Loan Facility.

Obligations are projected to continue to exceed property rental income and we expect to fund such Obligations and any development expenditures with 
cash on hand and a combination of capital sources including, but not limited to, sales of Consolidates Properties, sales of interests in Unconsolidated 
Properties and potential financing transactions, subject to any approvals that may be required under the Term Loan Agreement. Below is our sales 
activity since we began our capital recycling program:

• Sales of Consolidated Properties. We began our capital recycling program in July 2017 and have been monetizing assets since. In March of 2022, we 
elected to terminate our REIT status effective January 1, 2022 in order to remove any restrictions around asset sales. On October 24, 2022, we received 
shareholder approval of the Plan of Sale.

o We sold 90 Consolidated Properties, and additional outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $986.8 million of gross 
proceeds from the beginning of our capital recycling program in July 2017 through the date our REIT status terminated on December 31, 2021;

o We sold 40 Consolidated Properties, and additional outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $438.1 million of gross 
proceeds from December 31, 2021, the date we terminated our REIT status, through the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022;

o From the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022 through December 31, 2023, we sold 76 Consolidated Properties, and additional 
outparcels at certain properties, and generated approximately $856.5 million of gross proceeds.

• Sales of interests in Unconsolidated Properties. Certain of our unconsolidated entity agreements also include rights that allow us to sell our interests in 
select Unconsolidated Properties to our partners at fair market value.

o We sold our interests in 15 Unconsolidated Properties and generated approximately $278.1 million of gross proceeds from the beginning of 
our capital recycling program in July 2017 through the date our REIT status terminated on December 31, 2021;

o We sold our interests in 8 Unconsolidated Properties and generated approximately $84.8 million of gross proceeds since we terminated our 
REIT status on December 31, 2021, through the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022;

o From the approval of the Plan of Sale on October 24, 2022 through December 31, 2023, we sold our interests in eight Unconsolidated 
Properties and generated approximately $140.7 million of gross proceeds.

• Unconsolidated Properties. As of December 31, 2023, we had contributed interests in 12 properties to unconsolidated entities, which generated 
approximately $242.4 million of gross proceeds since July 2017. In addition to generating liquidity upon closing, these entities also reduce our 
development expenditures by the amount of our partners’ interests in the unconsolidated entities.

Subsequent to December 31, 2023, we sold five assets for gross proceeds of $48.8 million. As of March 22, 2024, we had one asset under contract for 
sale with no due diligence contingencies for total anticipated proceeds of $3.9 million and three assets under contract for sale subject to customary due 
diligence for total anticipated proceeds of $49.7 million. All asset sales are subject to closing conditions. Additionally, we currently have two assets in 
active auction processes with aggregate reserve prices of $10.0 million.
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Term Loan Facility

On July 31, 2018, the Operating Partnership, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement (as 
amended, the “Term Loan Agreement”) providing for a $2.0 billion term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance 
Company of Nebraska (“Berkshire Hathaway”) as lender and Berkshire Hathaway as administrative agent. The Term Loan Facility provided for an initial 
funding of $1.6 billion at closing (the “Initial Funding”) and includes a $400 million incremental funding facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”) subject 
to certain conditions described below. On February 2, 2023, the Company made a $230 million voluntary prepayment, reducing the unpaid principal 
balance to $800 million, and the debt maturity was extended for two years to July 31, 2025. The Company made additional voluntary prepayments 
aggregating $440 million during the final three quarters of 2023, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $360 million at December 31, 2023.

Funded amounts under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at an annual rate of 7.0% and unfunded amounts under the Incremental Funding Facility are 
subject to an annual fee of 1.0% until drawn. The Company prepays the annual fee and amortizes the expense to interest expense on the consolidated 
statements of operations. 

The Company’s ability to access the Incremental Funding Facility is subject to (i) the Company achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, 
on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the 
date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $200 million, (ii) the Company’s good faith projection that rental income from non-
Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive 
fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $200 million, and (iii) the 
repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the Term Loan Amendment as further described below. As of 
December 31, 2023, the Company has not yet achieved the requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility.

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, is required to be guaranteed by all existing and future 
subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a first lien basis by a pledge of the capital stock of the direct subsidiaries 
of the Operating Partnership and the guarantors, including its joint venture interests, except as prohibited by the organizational documents of such 
entities or any joint venture agreements applicable to such entities.

The Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern springing collateral requirements and certain covenant exceptions set forth in the 
Term Loan Agreement, including: (i) a total fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed 
charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.30 to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 65%; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of 
not more than 60%; and (v) a minimum net worth of at least $1.2 billion. Any failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics limits the Company’s ability to 
dispose of assets via sale or joint venture and triggers the springing mortgage and collateral requirements but will not result in an event of default. The 
Term Loan Facility also includes certain limitations relating to, among other activities, the Company’s ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or 
transfer all or substantially all of its assets; incur additional debt; incur certain liens; enter into, terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the 
material agreements for the Company’s properties; make certain investments (including limitations on joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay 
distributions on or repurchase the Company’s capital stock; and enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

The Term Loan Facility contains customary events of default, including (subject to certain materiality thresholds and grace periods) payment default, 
material inaccuracy of representations or warranties, and bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. If there is an event of default, the lenders may declare all 
or any portion of the outstanding indebtedness to be immediately due and payable, exercise any rights they might have under any of the Term Loan 
Facility documents, and require the Company to pay a default interest rate on overdue amounts equal to 2.0% in excess of the then applicable interest 
rate.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company was not in compliance with certain of the financial metrics described above. The Company was previously 
required to receive the consent of Berkshire Hathaway to dispose of assets via sale or contribution to another entity and, as of June 16, 2022, Berkshire 
Hathaway had provided such consent for all such transactions submitted for approval. The Third Term Loan Amendment (defined below) executed on 
June 16, 2022 eliminates this requirement. The Company believes it is in compliance with all other terms and conditions of the Term Loan Agreement. 

The Company incurred $2.1 million of debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility which are recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying 
amount of the Term Loan Facility and amortized over the term of the Term Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's debt issuance 
costs were fully amortized and as of December 31, 2022, the unamortized balance of the Company’s debt issuance costs were $0.2 million.
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On May 5, 2020, the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan 
Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway as initial lender and administrative agent that permits the deferral of 
payment of interest under the Term Loan Agreement if, as of the first day of each applicable month, (x) the amount of unrestricted and unencumbered 
(other than liens created under the Term Loan Agreement) cash on hand of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries, minus (y) the aggregate 
amount of anticipated necessary expenditures for such period (such sum, “Available Cash”) is equal to or less than $30.0 million. In such instances, for 
each interest period, the Operating Partnership is obligated to make payments of interest in an amount equal to the difference between (i) Available Cash 
and (ii) $20.0 million (provided that such payment shall not exceed the amount of current interest otherwise due under the Term Loan Agreement). Any 
deferred interest shall accrue interest at 2.0% in excess of the then applicable interest rate and shall be due and payable on the maturity date of the Term 
Loan; provided, that the Operating Partnership is required to pay any deferred interest from Available Cash in excess of $30.0 million (unless otherwise 
agreed to by the administrative agent under the Term Loan Agreement in its sole discretion). In addition, repayment of any outstanding deferred interest 
is a condition to any borrowings under the $400 million incremental funding facility under the Term Loan Agreement. The Company has paid all interest 
due under the Term Loan Agreement and has not deferred any interest as permitted under the Term Loan Amendment. 

Additionally, the Term Loan Amendment provides that the administrative agent and the lenders express their continued support for asset dispositions, 
subject to the administrative agent’s right to approve the terms of individual transactions due to the occurrence of a Financial Metric Trigger Event, as 
such term is defined under the Term Loan Agreement. 

On November 24, 2021, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Second Term Loan 
Amendment”) to the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating 
Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that (i) the “make whole” provision in the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement 
shall not be applicable to prepayments of principal ; and (ii) the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, as amended for (i) above, may at the Operating 
Partnership's election be extended for two years from July 31, 2023 to July 31, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”) if its principal has been reduced to $800 million 
by July 31, 2023. The outstanding principal balance was reduced to $800 million on February 2, 2023, and the Maturity Date has been extended to July 
31, 2025. In all other respects, the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement remains unchanged.

On June 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Third Term Loan Amendment”) to 
the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the 
Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the asset sale covenant, the parent, borrower, and 
their respective subsidiaries will be permitted without the consent of the administrative agent to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of properties (including 
but not limited to properties or equity interests of any subsidiary) to unaffiliated third parties for no less than fair market value, provided that the borrower 
deposits all net proceeds received into a controlled account and the use of such net proceeds will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Term 
Loan Agreement, including but not limited to the restricted payments and investments/loans covenants.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has paid down $1.24 billion towards the Term Loan’s unpaid principal balance. The aggregate principal amount 
outstanding under the Term Loan Facility as of December 31, 2023 was $360 million. Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Company paid down an 
additional $30 million on the Term Loan Facility, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $330 million as of March 22, 2024. 

The Company currently anticipates it will continue to use cash on hand together with sales of Consolidated Properties, sales of interests in 
Unconsolidated Properties and potential financing transactions as the primary source of capital to repay principal on the Term Loan and its obligations. 

Preferred Shares

As of December 31, 2023, we had 2,800,000 7.00% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares”) outstanding. 
As of December 14, 2022, we may redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares at $25.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Dividends and Distributions 
The Company’s Board of Trustees did not declare dividends on the Company’s Class A common shares during 2023. The last dividend on the 
Company’s Class A and C common shares that the Board of Trustees declared was on February 25, 2019, which was paid on April 11, 2019 to 
shareholders of record on March 29, 2019.
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The Company’s Board of Trustees also declared the following dividends on Company’s Series A Preferred Shares during 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

      Series A  
Declaration Date  Record Date  Payment Date  Preferred Share  
2024        
February 29  March 29  April 15  $ 0.43750  
2023        
October 30  December 29  January 16, 2024  $ 0.43750  
July 25  September 29  October 13   0.43750  
April 27  June 30  July 14   0.43750  
February 15  March 31  April 17   0.43750  
2022        
November 1  December 30  January 16, 2023  $ 0.43750  
July 26  September 30  October 17   0.43750  
April 26  June 30  July 15   0.43750  
February 16  March 31  April 15   0.43750  
2021        
October 26  December 31  January 14, 2022  $ 0.43750  
July 27  September 30  October 15   0.43750  
April 27  June 30  July 15   0.43750  
February 23  March 31  April 15   0.43750  

Our Board of Trustees will continue to assess the Company’s investment opportunities and its expectations of taxable income in its determination of 
future distributions, if any. 

Minimum Cash Requirements

Our contractual obligations relate to our Term Loan Facility and non-cancelable operating leases in the form of a ground lease at one of our properties, as 
well as an operating lease for our corporate office.

Information concerning our obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts for these loan and lease agreements as of December 
31, 2023 is aggregated in the following table (in thousands):

     Payments due by Period  
     Within         After  
Minimum Cash Requirements  Total   1 year   2 - 3 years   4 -5 years   5 years  

Long-term debt (1)(2)  $ 401,580   $ 25,620   $ 375,960   $ —   $ —  

Operating leases   7,599   1,151   2,368   2,055   2,025 
Total  $ 409,179   $ 26,771   $ 378,328   $ 2,055  $ 2,025 

                
(1) Includes expected interest payments.  
(2) Due to the reduction of the Term Loan Facility to $800 million as of February 2, 2023, the maturity date was extended to July 31, 2025.  

Capital Expenditures

During the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company invested $79.7 million in our consolidated development and operating properties and an 
additional $13.4 million into our unconsolidated joint ventures. 

During year ended December 31, 2022, the Company invested $99.3 million in our consolidated development and operating properties and an additional 
$25.5 million into our unconsolidated joint ventures.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we incurred no maintenance capital expenditures that were not associated with 
retenanting and redevelopment projects.
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Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to December 31, 2022

The following table summarizes the Company’s cash flow activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,     
  2023   2022   $ Change  
 Net cash used in operating activities  $ (53,061 )  $ (117,923 )  $ 64,862  
 Net cash provided by investing activities   732,911    586,079    146,832  
 Net cash used in financing activities   (675,089 )   (436,970 )   (238,119 )

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Significant components of net cash used in operating activities include:

− In 2023, a decrease in rental income and gain on sale of real estate assets and a decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.

− In 2022, a decrease in rental income and a decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.
 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Significant components of net cash provided by investing activities include:

− In 2023, $673.5 million of net proceeds from the sale of real estate and $152.6 million of distributions and proceeds from the disposition of interests in 
unconsolidated entities offset by development of real estate of ($79.7) million and investments in unconsolidated entities of ($13.4) million; and

− In 2022, $643.3 million of net proceeds from the sale of real estate and $67.6 million of distributions and proceeds from the disposition of interests in 
unconsolidated entities offset by development of real estate of ($99.3) million and investments in unconsolidated entities of ($25.5) million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Significant components of net cash used in financing activities include:

− In 2023, ($670.0) million cash repayment of Term Loan Facility principal and ($4.9) million cash payment of preferred dividends; and

− In 2022, ($410.0) million cash repayment of Term Loan Facility principal, ($22.1) million cash repayment to terminate sale-leaseback financing 
obligation, and ($4.9) million cash payment of preferred dividends.

Litigation and Other Matters 

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, we accrue an undiscounted liability for those contingencies where the incurrence 
of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and we disclose the amount accrued and the amount of a reasonably possible loss in 
excess of the amount accrued or disclose the fact that such a range of loss cannot be estimated. We do not record liabilities when the likelihood that the 
liability has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, or when the liability is believed to be only reasonably possible or 
remote. In such cases, we disclose the nature of the material contingency, and an estimate of the possible loss, range of loss, or disclose the fact that an 
estimate cannot be made. 

Beginning in 2019, the Company had been engaged in litigation related to the bankruptcy of Sears Holding (the “Litigation”). On September 2, 2022, the 
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York entered an order approving a settlement amongst the parties to the Litigation and, 
on October 18, 2022, the Litigation was dismissed. 

We made a settlement payment of $35.5 million based on our contributions to the settlement of the Litigation. This payment is recorded as litigation 
settlement in the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

On March 2, 2021, we brought a lawsuit in Delaware state court against QBE Insurance Corporation, Endurance American Insurance Company, Allianz 
Global Risks US Insurance Company and Continental Casualty Company, each of which are D&O insurance providers of the Company (the “D&O 
Insurers”). Our lawsuit sought, among other things, declaratory relief and money damages as a result of certain of the D&O Insurers refusal to pay certain 
costs and expenses related to the defense of the Litigation. Any amounts received from the insurers will offset the Seritage Defendants’ contribution. We 
reached settlement agreements with two of the D&O Insurers for gross proceeds of $12.7 million which is recorded in interest and other income in the 
consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we reached settlement 
agreements with the other two D&O Insurers for gross proceeds of $11.6 million. We received $11.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, 
which is recorded in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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We are subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business and due to the current 
environment. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available information, the 
final outcome of such ordinary course legal proceedings and claims will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, results of 
operations or liquidity of the Company.

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, we have made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. Refer to the discussion of our accounting policies included in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Annual Report.

Real Estate Investments

The Company on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators, including macroeconomic conditions, that the value of the real estate assets 
may be impaired. If an indicator is identified, management will estimate the real estate asset recoverability based on projected operating cash flows 
(undiscounted and unleveraged), taking into account the anticipated holding period and capitalization rates, to determine if the undiscounted cash flows 
are less than a real estate asset’s carrying value. If the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an analysis is performed to 
determine the estimated fair value of the real asset. In estimating the fair value of an asset, various factors are considered, including expected future 
operating income, trends and leasing prospects including the effects of demand, competition, and other economic factors such as discount rates and 
market comparables. Changes in any estimates and/or assumptions, including the anticipated holding period, could have a material impact on the 
projected operating cash flows. If management determines that the carrying value of a real estate asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the 
excess of its carrying amount over its estimated fair value. The Company recognized $107.0 million and $126.9 million in impairment losses for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

On a periodic basis, management assesses whether there are indicators, including the operating performance of the underlying real estate and general 
market conditions which include macroeconomic conditions that the value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated entities may be impaired. An 
investment’s value is impaired if management’s estimate of the fair value of the Company’s investment is less than its carrying value and such difference 
is deemed to be other-than-temporary. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the 
investment over its estimated fair value. The Company recorded $11.7 million and $35.6 million in other-than-temporary impairment losses in 
investments in unconsolidated entities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 

Revenue Recognition

We evaluate on an individual lease basis whether it is probable that we will collect substantially all amounts due from our tenants and recognize changes 
in the collectability assessment of our operating leases as adjustments to rental revenue. Management exercises judgment in assessing collectability of 
tenant receivables and considers payment history, current credit status, publicly available information about the financial condition of the tenant, and other 
factors. Our assessment of the collectability of tenant receivables can have a significant impact on the rental revenue recognized in our consolidated 
statements of income. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements for recently issued accounting pronouncements.
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Non-GAAP Supplemental Financial Measures and Definitions

The Company makes reference to NOI and Total NOI which are financial measures that include adjustments to GAAP.

Net Operating Income (“NOI”) and Total NOI

NOI is defined as income from property operations less property operating expenses. Other real estate companies may use different methodologies for 
calculating NOI, and accordingly, the Company's depiction of NOI may not be comparable to other real estate companies. The Company believes NOI 
provides useful information regarding Seritage, its financial condition, and results of operations because it reflects only those income and expense items 
that are incurred at the property level.

The Company also uses Total NOI, which includes its proportional share of Unconsolidated Properties. The Company believes this form of presentation 
offers insights into the financial performance and condition of the Company as a whole given our ownership of Unconsolidated Properties that are 
accounted for under GAAP using the equity method. 

The Company also considers NOI and Total NOI to be a helpful supplemental measure of its operating performance because it excludes from NOI 
variable items such as termination fee income, as well as non-cash items such as straight-line rent and amortization of lease intangibles.

Due to the adjustments noted, NOI and Total NOI should only be used as an alternative measure of the Company's financial performance.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures to GAAP Financial Measures

Neither NOI nor Total NOI are measures that (i) represent cash flow from operations as defined by GAAP; (ii) are indicative of cash available to fund all 
cash flow needs, including the ability to make distributions; (iii) are alternatives to cash flow as a measure of liquidity; or (iv) should be considered 
alternatives to net income (which is determined in accordance with GAAP) for purposes of evaluating the Company’s operating performance. 
Reconciliations of these measures to the respective GAAP measures we deem most comparable are presented below on a comparative basis for all 
periods.

The following table reconciles NOI and Total NOI to GAAP net loss for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands): 
  Year Ended December 31,  
NOI and Total NOI  2023   2022   2021  
Net loss  $ (154,911 )  $ (120,097 )  $ (38,985 )

Termination fee income   —    (369 )   (3,378 )
Management and other fee income   (5,719 )   (2,446 )   (1,032 )
Depreciation and amortization   14,471    41,114    51,199  
General and administrative expenses   45,988    47,634    41,949  
Litigation settlement   —    35,533    —  
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities   55,857    72,080    9,226 
(Gain) loss on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities   (6,407 )   677    —  
Gain on sale of real estate, net   (96,214 )   (211,936 )   (221,681 )
Impairment of real estate assets   107,043    126,887    95,826  
Interest and other income, net   (17,067 )   (37,753 )   (9,285 )
Interest expense   44,571    86,730    107,975  
Provision for income taxes   38    466    196  
Straight-line rent   16,874    (1,271 )   (2,269 )
Above/below market rental expense   176    223    176  

NOI  $ 4,700  $ 37,472   $ 29,917  
Unconsolidated entities (1)          

Net operating income of unconsolidated entities (2)   8,384   7,785   6,942 
Straight-line rent   (4,512 )   (1,017 )   (885 )
Above/below market rental expense   28    24    131  
Termination fee income   —    (787 )   (588 )

Total NOI  $ 8,600  $ 43,477   $ 35,517  
(1) Activity represents the Company's proportionate share of unconsolidated entity activity.
(2) NOI of Unconsolidated Properties excludes depreciation and amortization, gains, losses and impairments and management and administrative costs.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2023, we had $360 million of consolidated debt, all of which is borrowed under our fixed-rate Term Loan Facility which is based on a 
fixed term and imputed interest rate and therefore, neither are subject to interest rate fluctuations.

As of December 31, 2023, the estimated fair value of our consolidated debt was $349.5 million. The estimated fair value of our consolidated debt is 
calculated based on current market prices and discounted cash flows at the current rate at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar 
credit ratings for the remaining term of such debt.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule beginning on page F-1 for the required 
information.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d – 15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, (the “Exchange Act”)). Because of inherent limitations, disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weaknesses described 
below.

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have 
concluded that the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d 
– 15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of our principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of our financial statements for 
external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As of December 31, 2023, we conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework 
utilizing the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework 
(2013).” Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of 
December 31, 2023 as a result of the material weaknesses described below. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who audited our consolidated financial statements contained in this Form 10-K, 
has issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report is included herein.

Material Weaknesses

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

In the course of preparing our financial statements, management identified material weaknesses due to deficiencies in the design and operating 
effectiveness of our controls over the impairment of investments in real estate and other than temporary impairment of 
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equity method investments. The deficiencies relate to the identification of impairment indicators. Additionally, management did not maintain adequate 
evidence of the review of information used in the impairment indicator analysis and the fair value of investments in real estate and equity method 
investments. Further, management identified a deficiency in the operating effectiveness in our review over the calculation of other than temporary 
impairments. These deficiencies contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Additionally, management identified a material weakness due to a deficiency in the design of our controls over the accounting for certain non-routine 
transactions, particularly related to accounting for transactions with joint ventures and certain consulting contracts. For these transactions, Management 
did not possess the adequate technical capabilities to appropriately assess these non-routine transactions to ensure compliance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. This deficiency contributed to the potential for there to be material errors in our financial statements.

Remediation Plan

In response to the material weaknesses, management, with oversight of the Audit Committee has identified and begun to implement steps to remediate 
the material weaknesses. While the Company has made progress with the remediation of these material weaknesses during 2023, the remediation 
efforts are ongoing, because additional time is needed to complete the remediation and allow for the internal controls to be tested by management. Our 
continued internal control remediation efforts include the following: 

• enhancement of our internal control over the identification of impairment indicators for investments in real estate to include specific indicators 
related to development assets as well as an expanded set of potential indicators for all investments in real estate and equity method investments, 

• inclusion of additional members of management outside the accounting function in the identification of impairment indicator process, 

• updated policies and education for our reviewers to properly document and maintain adequate evidence of review of information used in 
preparation of the financial statements,

• the engagement of third-party resources to assist with technical accounting for non-routine transactions, and

• create a checklist to ensure all necessary inputs are utilized in the calculation of other than temporary impairment. 

However, the material weaknesses cannot be considered completely remediated until the applicable controls are fully implemented, have operated for a 
sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. Accordingly, we will continue to 
monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Other than described above, there were no other changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 
31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers  adopted or  terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a 
“non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” (as such terms are defined under Item 408 of Regulation S-K).
 
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2024 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders, to be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the end of our fiscal year. 
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(a) Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule.

The consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule are filed as part of this Annual Report.

(b) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit No.  Description  SEC Document Reference
     

    2.1  Subscription, Distribution and Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of 
June 8, 2015, by and between Seritage Growth Properties and Sears 
Holdings Corporation

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Registration 
Statement on Form S-11, filed on June 9, 2015.

     

    3.1  Articles of Amendment and Restatement  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

3.2  Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and 
Preferences of 7.00% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred 
Shares of Beneficial Interest, par value $0.01 per share

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration 
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on December 14, 2017.

     

3.3  Articles of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation, dated October 31, 
2022

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 9, 2022.

     

    3.4  Amended and Restated Bylaws  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 3, 2019.

     

    4.1  Registration Rights Agreement by and among Seritage Growth 
Properties, ESL Investments, Inc., and Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., 
dated as of July 7, 2015

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

4.2  Form of specimen certificate evidencing the 7.00% Series A Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest, par value $0.01 per 
share

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration 
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on December 14, 2017.

     

    4.3  Description of Capital Stock of Seritage Growth Properties Registered 
Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2020.

     

  10.1  Transition Services Agreement by and between Sears Holdings 
Management Corporation and Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., dated as 
of July 7, 2015

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

10.2  Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Seritage 
Growth Properties, L.P., dated as of January 4, 2023

 Filed herewith.

     

  10.3*  Holdco Master Lease by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, 
Seritage KMT Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and 
Transform KM Operations LLC, dated as of February 28, 2019

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 15, 2019.

     

  10.4*  Side Letter to Holdco Master Lease, by and among Seritage KMT 
Finance LLC, Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC 
and Transform KM Operations LLC, dated as of February 28, 2019

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 15, 2019.

     

  10.5  Mortgage Loan Agreement by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, 
Seritage KMT Finance LLC, certain other subsidiaries of Operating 
Partnership, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National 

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.
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  Association and H/2 SO III Funding LLC, dated as of July 7, 2015   
     

  10.6  Omnibus Amendment to the Mortgage Loan Agreement, dated as of 
September 28, 2015, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, 
Seritage KMT Finance LLC, certain other subsidiaries of Operating 
Partnership, Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties 
L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association and H/2 SO III 
Funding LLC

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

     

  10.7  Second Amendment to Mortgage Loan Agreement, dated as of 
November 8, 2016, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage 
KMT Finance LLC, certain other subsidiaries of Operating Partnership, 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties L.P. and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association 

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

     

  10.8  Mezzanine Loan Agreement by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine 
Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, National Association and H/2 Special Opportunities III Corp., dated 
as of July 7, 2015

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

  10.9  Omnibus Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, dated as of 
September 28, 2015, by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance 
LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage Growth Properties, 
Seritage Growth Properties L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, National 
Association and H/2 Special Opportunities III Corp.

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

     

  10.10  Second Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, dated as of 
November 8, 2016, by and among Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance 
LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage Growth Properties, 
Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.

     

  10.11  Third Amendment to Mezzanine Loan Agreement, entered into as of 
November 8, 2017 and effective as of June 30, 2017, by and among 
Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance LLC, Seritage KMT Mezzanine 
Finance LLC, Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, 
L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 28, 2018.

     

10.12  Term Loan Facility by and among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., 
Seritage Growth Properties, JPP, LLC and JPP II, LLC, dated as of 
February 23, 2017

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 24, 2017.

     

  10.13  Senior Unsecured Term Loan Agreement, dated as of December 27, 
2017, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., Seritage Growth 
Properties, JPP, LLC, JPP II, LLC and Empyrean Investments, LLC, as 
lenders, and JPP, LLC, as administrative agent

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 28, 2017.

     

  10.14†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Registration 
Statement on Form S-11, filed on May 11, 2015.

     

  10.15†  Seritage Growth Properties Restricted Share Agreement  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

  10.16†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties Restricted Share Agreement  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 1, 2017.
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  10.17†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties Time-Vesting Restricted Share Unit 

Agreement
 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Current 

Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.
     

  10.18†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties Annual P-RSU Restricted Share 
Agreement

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 10, 2015.

     

  10.19†  Letter Agreement, dated May 15, 2015, between Matthew Fernand and 
Seritage Growth Properties

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration 
Statement on Form S-11, filed on May 26, 2015.

     

  10.20  Exchange Agreement by and among Seritage Growth Properties, 
Seritage Growth Properties, L.P., ESL Partners, L.P., and Edward S. 
Lampert, dated as of June 26, 2015

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2015.

     

  10.21  Exchange Agreement by and among Seritage Growth Properties and 
Fairholme Capital Management, L.L.C., dated as of June 30, 2015

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 2, 2015.

     

  10.22  Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated July 31, 2018, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and 
Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 31, 2018.

     

  10.23†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties Time-Vesting Restricted Share Unit 
Agreement – 2018 Incentive RSUs

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 3, 2018. 

     

  10.24†  Form of Seritage Growth Properties Performance-Vesting Restricted 
Share Unit Agreement – 2018 Incentive P-RSUs

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 3, 2018. 

     

  10.25  First Amendment to the Master Lease, effective as of October 29, 2019, 
by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC and Seritage KMT Finance 
LLC

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 2, 2020.

     

  10.26  Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated May 
5, 2020, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire 
Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 8, 2020.

     

  10.27  Master Lease Modification and Settlement Agreement, dated as of June 
3, 2020, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage KMT 
Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and Transform KM 
Operations LLC

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 4, 2020.

     

  10.28  Second Master Lease Modification and Settlement Agreement, dated 
December 02, 2020, by and among Seritage SRC Finance LLC, Seritage 
KMT Finance LLC, Transform SR Operations LLC and Transform KM 
Operations LLC

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 15, 2021.
 

     

  10.29†  Employment Agreement, dated February 7, 2021, among Seritage 
Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Andrea Olshan

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 9, 2021.

     

  10.30  Amendment No. 2 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated 
November 24, 2021, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and 
Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 26, 2021.

 
     

  10.31†  Employment Agreement Amendment, dated March 15, 2022, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Andrea 
Olshan

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022

     

  10.32  Amendment No. 3 to Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, dated June 
16, 2022, among Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Berkshire 
Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current 
Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 21, 2022
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  10.33†  Employment Offer Letter Addendum, dated March 15, 2022, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and 
Matthew Fernand

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022

     

  10.34†  Employment Offer Letter Addendum, dated March 15, 2022, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Eric 
Dinenberg

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 10, 2022

     

  10.35†  Letter Agreement, dated March 14, 2019, between Eric Dinenberg and 
Seritage Growth Properties

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 14, 2023

     

  10.36†  Employment Agreement Amendment, dated October 23, 2023, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Eric 
Dinenberg

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 8, 2023

     

  10.37†  Employment Agreement Amendment, dated October 23, 2023, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and 
Matthew Fernand

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to our Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, filed on November 8, 2023

     

  10.38†  Employment Offer Letter Addendum, dated December 28, 2023, among 
Seritage Growth Properties, Seritage Growth Properties, L.P. and Andrea 
Olshan

 Filed herewith.

     

   21.1  List of subsidiaries  Filed herewith.
     

    23.1  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm

 Filed herewith.

     

    31.1  Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith.

     

    31.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 Filed herewith.

     

    32.1  Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

 Furnished herewith.

     

    32.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

 Furnished herewith.

     

    97.1  Seritage Growth Properties 2023 Clawback Policy  Filed herewith.
     

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not 
appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded 
within the Inline XBRL document.

 Filed herewith.

     

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  Filed herewith.
     

101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document  Filed herewith.
     

101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  Filed herewith.
     

101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document  Filed herewith.
     

101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  Filed herewith.
     

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and 
contained in Exhibit 101)  Filed herewith.

 

* Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for confidential 
treatment.
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† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
  SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
   
Dated: April 1, 2024  /s/ Andrea Olshan
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Signature  Title  Date
     

/s/ Andrea Olshan  Chief Executive Officer and President
(principal executive officer)

 April 1, 2024
Andrea Olshan    
     

/s/ John Garilli  Interim Chief Financial Officer 
(principal financial and accounting officer)

 April 1, 2024
John Garilli    
     

/s/ Adam Metz  Trustee  April 1, 2024
Adam Metz     
     

/s/ John T. McClain  Trustee  April 1, 2024
John T. McClain     
     

/s/ Mitchell Sabshon  Trustee  April 1, 2024
Mitchell Sabshon     

     

/s/ Talya Nevo-Hacohen  Trustee  April 1, 2024
Talya Nevo-Hacohen     
     
/s/ Allison Thrush  Trustee  April 1, 2024
Allison Thrush     
     
/s/ Mark Wilsmann  Trustee  April 1, 2024
Mark Wilsmann     
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 

To the Board of Trustees and shareholders of Seritage Growth Properties

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Seritage Growth Properties and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2023, and the related notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated April 1, 2024, expressed an adverse opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial 
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included 
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures 
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or 
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) 
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion 
on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the 
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Liquidity – Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and 
debt service (collectively, “Obligations”), and certain development expenditures. Property rental income, which is the Company’s primary source of 
operating cash flow, did not fully fund Obligations and certain development expenditures incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023. Obligations 
are projected to continue to exceed property rental income and the Company expects to fund such costs with a combination of capital sources including, 
cash on hand, and sales of consolidated and unconsolidated properties.

We identified the Company’s liquidity disclosure as a critical audit matter because of the significant judgments in management’s plans to fund its 
Obligations and certain development expenditures. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort when performing 
audit procedures to evaluate management’s conclusion that it is probable management’s plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the 
date the financial statements are issued and will provide the necessary cash flows to fund the Company’s Obligations and certain development 
expenditures.
 

F-2



 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s liquidity disclosure included the following, among others:

• We tested management’s key assumptions, including projected rental income and property operating costs by comparing such assumptions to 
underlying lease agreements and historical operating costs. 

• We evaluated management’s estimates relating to development expenditures by comparing to underlying development budgets and costs spent 
to date and performing corroborating inquiries with management outside of accounting. 

• We evaluated the timing and likelihood of potential asset sales by comparing expected proceeds to executed contracts, comparable market 
information and historical transactions executed by the Company. 

• We evaluated management’s plans in the context of other audit evidence and analyzed external filings and press releases to determine whether 
it supported or contradicted the conclusion reached by management.

• We evaluated management’s ability to accurately forecast by performing a retrospective review of management’s projections and comparing the 
projections made in the prior period plan to the current period actual activity.

• We performed a sensitivity analysis on management’s projected sources and uses of cash to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s 
projections.

Real Estate Investments and Investment in Unconsolidated Entities - Determination of Impairment Indicators – Refer to Note 2 to the financial 
statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company, on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators that (i) the carrying value of real estate assets may not be recoverable and (ii) 
investments in unconsolidated entities may be other-than-temporarily impaired.

Possible indications of impairment and other-than-temporary impairment may include tenant financial instability, decrease in occupancy, significant 
adverse legal factors, including an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally 
expected for the construction of a long-lived asset, significant decreases in the market price of a long-lived asset or other adverse asset-specific and/or 
market conditions.

If an indicator is identified for a real estate asset, management will evaluate the real estate asset for recoverability based on projected operating cash 
flows or estimated fair value to determine if the undiscounted cash flows or estimate fair value is less than the real estate asset’s carrying value. If an 
indicator is identified for an investment in an unconsolidated entity for which management determines the estimated fair value is less than the carrying 
value, management will determine if such difference is other than temporary.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the evaluation of real estate assets and investments in unconsolidated entities for possible indications of impairment or 
other-than-temporary impairment included the following, among others:

• We evaluated the Company’s identification of impairment and other-than-temporary impairment indicators by:

• Searching for adverse asset-specific and/or market conditions.

• Developing an independent expectation of impairment indicators and comparing such expectation to management’s analysis. 

• Inquiring of management outside of accounting to corroborate the progress of leasing up assets under development, delays in sales of 
assets under contract, or changes in the use of assets that may indicate the carrying value of the asset maybe not be recoverable.

• Inquiring of management outside of accounting regarding assets that have significant tenants experiencing financial instability and 
corroborating management’s conclusions by reviewing the Company’s bad debt analysis and performing online search for contradictory 
evidence.

• Inquiring of management outside of accounting on development assets that have experienced significant construction cost overruns and 
corroborating management’s conclusions by comparing construction budgets to actual costs.

• Inquiries of the management regarding ongoing negotiations with or offers received from the Company’s partners in the unconsolidated 
entities and comparing those offers to the carrying value of the investment.
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• Comparing the Company’s assessment of significant decreases in the market price of a long-lived asset to current market data. 

Impairment of an Investment in Real Estate – Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements.

Critical Audit Matter Description

If the carrying value of a real estate asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the Company performs an analysis to determine the estimated fair value 
of the real estate asset. If management determines that the carrying value of a real estate asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the excess of its 
carrying value over its estimated fair value.

The Company made significant assumptions in the discounted cash flow valuation used to estimate the fair value of the Company’s development 
property in Aventura, FL. The significant assumptions included the capitalization rate, discount rate, anticipated hold period, capital expenditure 
estimates, rental rates and growth rates. The Company’s assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the development property in Aventura, FL are 
subjective and require judgment. Because of this, auditing these assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgment and extensive auditor effort, 
including the need to involve our internal fair value specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to evaluating management’s estimated fair value of the Company's development property in Aventura, FL included the 
following, among others:

• Evaluating whether the assumptions in determining the estimated fair value of the development property in Aventura, FL were consistent with 
evidence obtained in other areas of the audit and comparable market data.

• Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future cash flows by agreeing in-place tenant rentals to executed lease agreements and 
comparing the estimated future rental assumptions to recently executed leases.

• Evaluating management’s estimates relating to projected development expenditures by comparing to general contractor estimates and executed 
lease agreements, assessed speculative tenant improvements for reasonableness by comparing to market data, and performing corroborating 
inquiries with management.

• With the assistance of our fair value specialists, we evaluated the reasonableness of the (1) valuation methodology; (2) significant assumptions 
made, including the determination of discount rate, rental rates, anticipated hold period, growth rates, and capitalization rates and; (3) 
mathematical accuracy of the cash flow model utilized by management.

 
 
/s/  Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
April 1, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Board of Trustees and shareholders of Seritage Growth Properties
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Seritage Growth Properties and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses identified below on the achievement of the objectives of the 
control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated April 1, 2024, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Material Weakness

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following 
material weaknesses have been identified and included in management's assessment: Deficiencies in the design and operating effectiveness of controls 
over the impairment of investments in real estate and other than temporary impairment of equity method investments. 

The deficiencies relate to the identification of impairment indicators as management did not maintain adequate evidence of the review of information used 
in the impairment indicator analysis and the fair value of investments in real estate and equity method investments. Additionally, management also 
identified a deficiency in the operating effectiveness in its review over the calculation of other than temporary impairments. 

Management also identified a material weakness due to a deficiency in the design of controls over the accounting for certain non-routine transactions, 
particularly related to accounting for transactions with joint ventures and certain consulting contracts. For these 
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transactions, Management did not possess the adequate technical capabilities to appropriately assess these non-routine transactions to ensure 
compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company, and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements.

 

 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

 

New York, New York

April 1, 2024 
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
 

  December 31, 2023   December 31, 2022  
ASSETS       
Investment in real estate       

Land

 $

        
         102,090

  $

        
         172,813

 
Buildings and improvements

  

        
         344,972

   

        
         463,616

 

Accumulated depreciation

  

(
        

         36,025
)   

(
        

         57,330
)

 

  

        
         411,037

   

        
         579,099

 
Construction in progress

  

        
         135,305

   

        
         185,324

 
Net investment in real estate

  

        
         546,342

   

        
         764,423

 
Real estate held for sale

  

        
         39,332

   

        
         455,617

 
Investment in unconsolidated entities

  

        
         196,437

   

        
         382,597

 
Cash and cash equivalents

  

        
         134,001

   

        
         133,480

 
Restricted cash

  

        
         15,699

   

        
         11,459

 
Tenant and other receivables, net

  

        
         12,246

   

        
         41,495

 
Lease intangible assets, net

  

        
         886

   

        
         1,791

 
Prepaid expenses, deferred expenses and other assets, net

  

        
         28,921

   

        
         50,859

 
Total assets 

 $

        
         973,864

  $

        
         1,841,721

 
       
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY       
Liabilities       

Term loan facility, net

 $

        
         360,000

  $

        
         1,029,754

 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

  

        
         50,700

   

        
         89,368

 
Total liabilities 

  

        
         410,700

   

        
         1,119,122

 

(1)

(1)



       
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)       
       
Shareholders' Equity       

Class A common shares $
        
         
          0.01
         
         par value; 
        
         
          100,000,000
         
         shares authorized; 
   
        
         
          56,194,727
         
         and 
        
         
          56,052,546
         
         shares issued and outstanding
   as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively   

        
         562

   

        
         561

 
Series A preferred shares $
        
         
          0.01
         
         par value; 
        
         
          10,000,000
         
         shares authorized;
   
        
         
          
           
            2,800,000
           
          
         
         shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and
   December 31, 2022; liquidation preference of $
        
         
          70,000
         
          

        
         28

   

        
         28

 

Additional paid-in capital   

        
         1,361,742

   

        
         1,360,411

 

Accumulated deficit   

(
        

         800,342
)   

(
        

         640,531
)

Total shareholders' equity

  

        
         561,990

   

        
         720,469

 
Non-controlling interests

  

        
         1,174

   

        
         2,130

 
Total equity

  

        
         563,164

   

        
         722,599

 
Total liabilities and equity

 $

        
         973,864

  $

        
         1,841,721

 

(1)



 The Company's consolidated balance sheets include assets and liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs"). See Note 2. The consolidated balance sheets, as of December 31, 2023, include the following amounts related to our 
consolidated VIEs, excluding the Operating Partnership: $
        
         3.3
         million of land, $
        
         2.8
         million of building and improvements, $(
        
         0.8
        ) million of accumulated depreciation and $
        
         2.4
         million of other assets included in other line items. The Company's consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022, include the following amounts related to our consolidated VIEs, excluding the Operating Partnership: $
        
         6.6
         million of land, $
        
         3.9
         million of building and improvements, $(
        
         1.0
        ) million of accumulated depreciation and $
        
         4.0
         million of other assets included in other line items.

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

  
Year Ended 

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
REVENUE          

Rental income

 $

        
         15,060

  $

        
         104,609

  $

        
         115,651

 
Management and other fee income

  

        
         5,719

   

        
         2,446

   

        
         1,032

 
Total revenue

  

        
         20,779

   

        
         107,055

   

        
         116,683

 
EXPENSES          

Property operating

  

        
         21,282

   

        
         41,770

   

        
         45,007

 
Real estate taxes

  

        
         6,128

   

        
         23,950

   

        
         35,256

 
Depreciation and amortization

  

        
         14,471

   

        
         41,114

   

        
         51,199

 
General and administrative

  

        
         45,988

   

        
         47,634

   

        
         41,949

 
Litigation settlement

  —    

        
         35,533

   —  
Total expenses

  

        
         87,869

   

        
         190,001

   

        
         173,411

 
Gain on sale of real estate, net

  

        
         96,214

   

        
         211,936

   

        
         221,681

 
Gain (loss) on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities

  

        
         6,407

   

(
        

         677
)   —  

Impairment of real estate assets

  

(
        

         107,043
)   

(
        

         126,887
)   

(
        

         95,826
)

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities

  

(
        

         55,857
)   

(
        

         72,080
)   

(
        

         9,226
)

Interest and other income, net

  

        
         17,067

   

        
         37,753

   

        
         9,285

 
Interest expense

  

(
        

         44,571
)   

(
        

         86,730
)   

(
        

         107,975
)

Loss before income taxes

  

(
        

         154,873
)   

(
        

         119,631
)   

(
        

         38,789
)

Provision for income taxes

  

(
        

         38
)   

(
        

         466
)   

(
        

         196
)



Net loss

  

(
        

         154,911
)   

(
        

         120,097
)   

(
        

         38,985
)

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests

  —    

        
         46,152

   

        
         10,836

 
Net loss attributable to Seritage

 $

(
        

         154,911
)  $

(
        

         73,945
)  $

(
        

         28,149
)

Preferred dividends

  

(
        

         4,900
)   

(
        

         4,900
)   

(
        

         4,900
)

Net loss attributable to Seritage common shareholders

 $

(
        

         159,811
)  $

(
        

         78,845
)  $

(
        

         33,049
)

          
Net loss per share attributable to Seritage Class A
   common shareholders - Basic

 $

(
        

         2.85
)  $

(
        

         1.59
)  $

(
        

         0.78
)

Net loss per share attributable to Seritage Class A
   common shareholders - Diluted

 $

(
        

         2.85
)  $

(
        

         1.59
)  $

(
        

         0.78
)

Weighted average Class A common shares
   outstanding - Basic

  

        
         56,151

   

        
         49,729

   

        
         42,393

 
Weighted average Class A common shares
   outstanding - Diluted

  

        
         56,151

   

        
         49,729

   

        
         42,393

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except per share and unit amounts)

 
              Additional      Non-     

  Class A Common   Series A Preferred   Paid-In   
Accumulat

ed   Controlling   Total  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Interests   Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2021

  

        

38,896
  $

        
         389

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,177,260
  $

(
        

528,637
)  $

        

233,687
  $

        

882,727
 

Net loss

  —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

28,149
)   

(
        

10,836
)   

(
        

38,985
)

Preferred dividends
   declared ($
        
         1.75
         per share)   —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

4,900
)   —    

(
        

4,900
)

Vesting of restricted share units

  

        
         88

   

        
         1

   —    —    

(
        

         1
)   —    —    —  

Share-based compensation

  —    —    —    —    

        

2,000
   —    —    

        

2,000
 

OP Unit exchanges
   (
        
         4,647,943
         units)

  

        
         4,648

   

        
         46

   —    —    

        

61,789
   —    

(
        

61,835
)   —  

Contributions to consolidated VIEs

  —    —    —    —    —    

        

7,915
   

(
        

3,957
)   

        

3,958
 

Balance at December 31, 2021

  

        

43,632
  $

        
         436

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,241,048
  $

(
        

553,771
)  $

        

157,059
  $

        

844,800
 

 

              Additional      Non-     

  Class A Common   Series A Preferred   Paid-In   
Accumulat

ed   Controlling   Total  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Interests   Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2022

  

        

43,632
  $

        
         436

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,241,048
  $

(
        

553,771
)  $

        

157,059
  $

        

844,800
 

Net loss

  —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

73,945
)   

(
        

46,152
)   

(
        

120,097
)

Preferred dividends
   declared ($
        
         1.75
         per share)   —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

4,900
)   —    

(
        

4,900
)

Vesting of restricted share units

  

        
         66

   

        
         1

   —    —    

(
        

         1
)   —    —    —  

Share-based compensation

  —    —    —    —    

        

2,796
   —    —    

        

2,796
 



OP Unit exchanges
   (
        
         12,345,963
         units)

  

        

12,355    
        

         124   —    —    

        

116,568    

(
        

7,915 )   

(
        

108,777 )   —  

Balance at December 31, 2022

  

        

56,053
  $

        
         561

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,360,411
  $

(
        

640,531
)  $

        

2,130
  $

        

722,599
 

 

              Additional      Non-     

  Class A Common   Series A Preferred   Paid-In   
Accumulat

ed   Controlling   Total  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Interests   Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2023

  

        

56,053
  $

        
         561

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,360,411
  $

(
        

640,531
)  $

        

2,130
  $

        

722,599
 

Net loss

  —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

154,911
)   —    

(
        

154,911
)

Preferred dividends
   declared ($
        
         1.75
         per share)   —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

4,900
)   —    

(
        

4,900
)

Vesting of restricted share units

  

        
         142

   

        
         1

   —    —    

(
        

         316
)   —    —    

(
        

         315
)

Share-based compensation

  —    —    —    —    

        

2,782
   —    —    

        

2,782
 

Sale of consolidated joint venture

  —    —    —    —    

(
        

1,135
)   —    

(
        

1,082
)   

(
        

2,217
)

Contributions to consolidated VIEs

  —    —    —    —    —    —    

        
         126

   

        
         126

 

Balance at December 31, 2023

  

        

56,195
  $

        
         562

   

        
         2,800

  $

        
         28

  $

        

1,361,742
  $

(
        

800,342
)  $

        

1,174
  $

        

563,164
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES          

Net loss  $

(
        

         154,911
)  $

(
        

         120,097
)  $

(
        

         38,985
)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:          

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities   

        
         55,857

   

        
         72,080

   

        
         9,226

 

Distributions from unconsolidated entities   —    —    

        
         1,623

 

(Gain) loss on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities   

(
        

         6,407
)   

        
         677

   —  

Gain on sale of real estate, net   

(
        

         96,214
)   

(
        

         211,936
)   

(
        

         221,681
)

Impairment of real estate assets   

        
         107,043

   

        
         126,887

   

        
         95,826

 

Share-based compensation   

        
         2,735

   

        
         2,767

   

        
         1,856

 

Depreciation and amortization   

        
         14,471

   

        
         41,114

   

        
         51,199

 

Amortization of deferred financing costs   

        
         246

   

        
         422

   

        
         422

 

Amortization of above and below market leases, net   

        
         176

   

        
         223

   

        
         176

 

Straight-line rent adjustment   

        
         16,872

   

(
        

         1,271
)   

(
        

         2,269
)

Interest on sale-leaseback financing obligations   —    

        
         447

   

        
         202

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities

         

Tenants and other receivables   

        
         12,544

   

(
        

         10,823
)   

        
         5,771

 

Prepaid expenses, deferred expenses and other assets   

        
         5,948

   

        
         2,839

   

(
        

         3,588
)

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities   

(
        

         11,421
)   

(
        

         21,252
)   

(
        

         35,774
)

Net cash used in operating activities   

(
        

         53,061
)   

(
        

         117,923
)   

(
        

         135,996
)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES          

Investment in unconsolidated entities   

(
        

         13,370
)   

(
        

         25,519
)   

(
        

         38,644
)



Distributions from unconsolidated entities   

        
         152,553

   

        
         67,598

   

        
         12,584

 

Net proceeds from sale of real estate   

        
         673,473

   

        
         643,294

   

        
         392,422

 

Development of real estate   

(
        

         79,745
)   

(
        

         99,294
)   

(
        

         105,655
)

Net cash provided by investing activities   

        
         732,911

   

        
         586,079

   

        
         260,707

 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

Repayment of term loan   

(
        

         670,000
)   

(
        

         410,000
)   

(
        

         160,000
)

Repayment of sales-leaseback financing obligations   —    

(
        

         22,070
)   —  

Purchase of shares related to stock grant recipients' tax withholdings   

(
        

         315
)   —    

(
        

         269
)

Preferred dividends paid   

(
        

         4,900
)   

(
        

         4,900
)   

(
        

         4,900
)

Contributions from noncontrolling interests in to consolidated VIEs   

        
         126

   —    

        
         3,957

 

Net cash used in financing activities   

(
        

         675,089
)   

(
        

         436,970
)   

(
        

         161,212
)

Net increase and (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   

        
         4,761

   

        
         31,186

   

(
        

         36,501
)

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period   

        
         144,939

   

        
         113,753

   

        
         150,254

 

Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period  $

        
         149,700

  $

        
         144,939

  $

        
         113,753
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(Amounts in thousands)

 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  $

        
         133,480

  $

        
         106,602

  $

        
         143,728

 

Restricted cash at beginning of period   

        
         11,459

   

        
         7,151

   

        
         6,526

 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period  $

        
         144,939

  $

        
         113,753

  $

        
         150,254

 
          

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $

        
         134,001

  $

        
         133,480

  $

        
         106,602

 

Restricted cash at end of period   

        
         15,699

   

        
         11,459

   

        
         7,151

 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $

        
         149,700

  $

        
         144,939

  $

        
         113,753

 
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION          

Cash payments for interest

 $

        
         46,046

  $

        
         98,955

  $

        
         115,359

 

Capitalized interest

  

        
         3,742

   

        
         13,918

   

        
         12,464

 

Income taxes paid   

        
         38

   

        
         466

   

        
         197

 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND 
   FINANCING ACTIVITIES          

Development of real estate financed with accounts payable  $

        
         19,575

  $

        
         37,983

  $

        
         27,198

 

Preferred dividends declared and unpaid   

        
         1,225

   

        
         1,225

   

        
         1,225

 
Decrease in real estate, net resulting from deconsolidated properties          

Real estate, net   —    —    

(
        

         6,650
)

Prepaid expenses, deferred expenses and other assets, net   —    —    

(
        

         761
)

Transfer to / (from) real estate assets held for sale   

(
        

         416,285
)   

        
         455,617

   

(
        

         1,864
)

Recording (removal) of right of use assets   —    —    

(
        

         983
)



Recording (removal) of lease liabilities   —    —    

        
         983

 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 – Organization

Seritage Growth Properties (“Seritage”) (NYSE: SRG), was formed as a Maryland real estate investment trust on June 3, 2015, operated as a fully 
integrated, self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) as defined under Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (the 
“Code”) from formation through December 31, 2021. On March 31, 2022, Seritage revoked its REIT election and became a taxable C Corporation 
effective January 1, 2022. Seritage’s assets are held by and its operations are primarily conducted, directly or indirectly, through Seritage Growth 
Properties, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, Seritage, 
as the sole general partner, has exclusive responsibility and discretion in the management and control of the Operating Partnership. Unless otherwise 
expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the “Company” and “Seritage” refer to Seritage, the Operating Partnership and its owned and 
controlled subsidiaries.

Prior to the adoption of the Company’s Plan of Sale (defined below), Seritage was principally engaged in the ownership, development, redevelopment, 
management, sale and leasing of diversified retail and mixed-use properties throughout the United States. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s 
portfolio consisted of interests in 
      
       32
       properties comprised of approximately 
      
       4.1
       million square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”) or build-to-suit leased area, approximately 
      
       126
       acres held for or under development until time of sale and approximately 
      
       1.6
       million square feet or approximately 
      
       138
       acres to be disposed of in its current state. The portfolio consists of approximately 
      
       2.8
       million square feet of GLA held by 
      
       23
       wholly owned properties (such properties, the “Consolidated Properties”) and 
      
       1.3
       million square feet of GLA held by 
      
       nine
       unconsolidated entities (such properties, the “Unconsolidated Properties”).

The Company commenced operations on July 7, 2015 following a rights offering to the shareholders of Sears Holdings Corporation (“Sears Holdings” or 
“Sears”) to purchase common shares of Seritage in order to fund, in part, the $
      
       2.7
       billion acquisition of certain of Sears Holdings’ owned properties and its 
      
       50
      % interests in 
      
       three
       joint ventures which were simultaneously leased back to Sears Holdings under a master lease agreement (the “Original Master Lease” and the 
“Original JV Master Leases”, respectively).

As of March 15, 2021, the Company no longer had any remaining properties leased to Holdco (as defined below) or Sears Holdings, as further described 
in Note 5.

On March 1, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees had commenced a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives. The 
Board of Trustees has created a Special Committee (the “Special Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Trustees to oversee the process. The Special 
Committee retained Barclays as its financial advisor. The agreement with Barclays expired in August 2023. The Company’s strategic review process 
remains ongoing as the Company executes sales pursuant to the Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing 
alternatives, including a potential sale of the Company. There can be no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the 
Company will be successful in fully executing the Plan of Sale. The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees, with the recommendation of the Special Committee, approved a plan to 
terminate the Company’s REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation, effective for the year ended December 31, 2022. As a result, the Company 
is no longer required to operate under REIT rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 
      
       90
      % of REIT taxable income to its stockholders, which provides the Company with greater flexibility to use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, 
the Company is subject to federal and state income taxes on its taxable income at applicable tax rates and is no longer entitled to a tax deduction for 
dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT since inception and through the 2021 tax year, and existing REIT requirements and limitations, 
including those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place until December 31, 2021.

As a result of the Company’s change in corporate structure to a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022, the Company incurred a one-time, non-
cash deferred tax benefit of approximately $
      
       161.3
       million during the quarter ended March 31, 2022. The Company also recorded a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset pursuant to 
ASC 740, Income Taxes, as discussed in more detail below.



The Company sought a shareholder vote to approve a proposed plan of sale of the Company’s assets and dissolution (the “Plan of Sale”) that would 
allow the Board to sell all of the Company’s assets, distribute the net proceeds to shareholders and dissolve the Company. The Plan of Sale is expected 
to increase the universe of potential buyers by allowing Seritage and potential buyers to enter into and complete value maximizing transactions without 
subjecting any such transaction to the delay and conditionality associated with having to seek and obtain shareholder approval. On July 6, 2022, Edward 
Lampert, the Company’s former Chairman, entered into a Voting and Support Agreement under which he exchanged his equity interest in the Operating 
Partnership for Class A common shares and agreed to vote his shares in favor of the Plan of Sale. As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Lampert owns 
approximately 
      
       25
      % of the Company’s outstanding Class A common shares, and Seritage, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is the sole owner of all outstanding 
Operating Partnership interests.
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The affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all outstanding common shares of the Company was required to approve the Plan of Sale. The 2022 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders occurred on October 24, 2022, following the Company’s filing of a final proxy statement with the SEC on September 14, 2022. 
During the meeting, the Plan of Sale was approved by the shareholders. The strategic review process remains ongoing as the Company executes the 
Plan of Sale, and the Company remains open minded to pursuing value maximizing alternatives, including a potential sale of the Company. There can be 
no assurance that the review process will result in any transaction or that the Company will be successful in fully executing on the Plan of Sale. See “Item 
1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations—There can be no assurance that our review of strategic alternatives will result in any 
transaction or any strategic change at this time.” The Board of Trustees is currently overseeing the Plan of Sale.

Liquidity 

The Company’s primary uses of cash include the payment of property operating and other expenses, including general and administrative expenses and 
debt service (collectively, “Obligations”), and certain development expenditures. Property rental income, which is the Company’s primary source of 
operating cash flow, did not fully fund Obligations incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 and the Company recorded net operating cash 
outflows of $
      
       53.1
       million. Additionally, the Company generated net investing cash inflows of $
      
       732.9
       million during the year ended December 31, 2023, which were driven by asset sales and partially offset by development expenditures. 

Obligations are projected to continue to exceed property rental income and the Company expects to fund such costs with a combination of capital sources 
including, but not limited to cash on hand, and sales of Consolidated, sales of Unconsolidated Properties and potential financing transactions. During the 
year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold 
      
       60
       consolidated assets and 
      
       eight
       unconsolidated properties for gross proceeds of $
      
       845.0
       million and made aggregate principal prepayments of $
      
       670.0
       million on the Term Loan Facility, reducing the outstanding Term Loan Facility balance to $
      
       360.0
       million as of December 31, 2023. Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Company made an additional $
      
       30
       million principal prepayment reducing the balance of the Term Loan Facility to $
      
       330
       million as of March 22, 2024. Pursuant to the terms of the Term Loan Facility, by reducing the outstanding principal balance to $
      
       800
       million, the maturity date for the Term Loan Facility was extended for  two years to  July 31, 2025 . 

Going Concern

In accordance with ASC 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, for each annual and interim reporting period, management 
evaluates whether there are conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one 
year after the date that the financial statements are issued. As part of this evaluation, the Company takes into consideration all Obligations and certain 
development expenditures due within the subsequent 12 months, as well as cash on hand and expected cash receipts. Management has determined that 
it is probable its plans, as described under Liquidity, will be effectively implemented within one year after the date the financial statements are issued and 
that these actions will provide the necessary cash flows to fund the Company’s Obligations and development expenditures for the one-year period.

As the outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility is not due within the 12 month period subsequent to the date that the financial statements are 
issued, the Company’s Term Loan Facility is not factored into the Company’s analysis as a current obligation.

The anticipated proceeds from the sales of assets under contract of $
      
       53.6
       million and existing cash on hand, would allow the Company to fund its Obligations and certain development expenditures. As a result, the Company 
has concluded that management’s plans do alleviate substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
(“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the Operating Partnership, each of their consolidated properties, 
and all other entities in which they have a controlling financial interest. For entities that meet the definition of a variable interest entity (“VIE”), the 
Company consolidates such entities when the Company is the primary beneficiary of the entity. The Company is determined to be the primary beneficiary 
when it possesses both the unilateral power to direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and the obligation to 
absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company continually evaluates whether it qualifies as the 
primary beneficiary and reconsiders its determination of whether an entity is a VIE upon reconsideration events. As of December 31, 2023, the Company 
consolidates 
        
         one
         VIE in which we are considered the primary beneficiary, as the Company has the power to direct the activities of the entity, specifically surrounding 
the development plan. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has investments in several unconsolidated VIEs and does not consolidate 
these entities because the Company is not the primary beneficiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
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To the extent such variable interests are in entities that are not evaluated under the VIE model, the Company evaluates its interests using the voting 
interest entity model.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company, and its wholly owned subsidiaries, holds a 
        
         100
        % interest in the Operating Partnership and is the sole general partner which gives the Company exclusive and complete responsibility for the day-
to-day management, authority to make decisions, and control of the Operating Partnership. 

Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported amounts to conform to the current period's presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and 
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant assumptions and estimates relate to 
real estate impairment assessments, and assessing the recoverability of accounts receivable. These estimates are based on historical experience and 
other assumptions which management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Management evaluates its estimates on an ongoing basis and 
makes revisions to these estimates and related disclosures as experience develops or new information becomes known. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates.

Segment Reporting

The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment which includes the ownership, development, redevelopment, management, sale and 
leasing of real estate properties. The Company’s chief operating decision maker, its principal executive officer, assesses and measures the operating 
and financial results for each property on an individual basis and does not distinguish or group properties based on geography, size, or type. The 
Company, therefore, aggregates all properties into 
        
         one
         reportable segment due to their similarities with regard to the nature and economics of the properties, tenants, and operational process.

Real Estate

Real estate assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Expenditures for ordinary repairs and maintenance will be expensed as incurred. Significant renovations which improve the property or extend the useful 
life of the assets are capitalized. As real estate is undergoing redevelopment activities, all amounts directly associated with and attributable to the project, 
including planning, development and construction costs, interest costs, personnel costs of employees directly involved, and other miscellaneous costs 
incurred during the period of redevelopment, are capitalized. The capitalization period begins when redevelopment activities are underway and ends 
when the project is substantially complete.

Depreciation of real estate assets, excluding land, is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which generally range between:
 

Buildings:
              
               25
               – 
              
               40 years
              

Site improvements:
              
               5
               – 
              
               15 years
              

Tenant improvements: shorter of the estimated useful life or non-cancelable term of lease
 
The Company amortizes identified intangibles that have finite lives over the period they are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the future cash 
flows of the property or business acquired, generally the remaining non-cancelable term of a related lease.

The Company, on a periodic basis, assesses whether there are indicators that the value of the real estate assets may be impaired. If an indicator is 
identified, management will estimate the real estate asset recoverability based on projected operating cash flows (undiscounted and unleveraged), taking 
into account the anticipated holding period and capitalization rates, to determine if the undiscounted cash flows are less than a real estate asset’s 
carrying value. If the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an analysis is performed to determine the estimated fair value of 
the real asset. In estimating the fair value of an asset, various factors are considered, including expected future operating income, trends and leasing 
prospects, including the effects of demand, competition, and other economic factors, such as discount rates and market comparables. Changes in any 
estimates and/or assumptions, including the anticipated holding period, could have a material impact on the projected operating cash flows. If 
management determines that the carrying value of a real estate asset is impaired, a loss will be recorded for the excess of its carrying amount over its 
estimated fair value. The Company recognized impairment losses of $
        
         107.0
         million, $
        
         126.9
         million and $
        
         95.8
         million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Real Estate Dispositions

When the Company disposes of all or a portion of a real estate asset, it recognizes a gain or loss on sale of real estate as the difference between the 
carrying value and consideration received. Consideration consists of cash proceeds received and in certain circumstances, non-cash consideration when 
a property is contributed to an investment in unconsolidated entity. Gains and losses from the 
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disposition of real estate are recorded as gain (loss) on sale of real estate on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Refer to Note 4 for 
more information on the Company’s unconsolidated entity transactions. 

The following table summarizes the Company’s gain on sale of real estate, net during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 (in millions):
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Contributions to unconsolidated entities          

    Gross proceeds  $ —   $ —   $

              
               30.0

 

    Gain on sale of real estate, net   —    —    

              
               22.6

 
          
Dispositions to third parties          

    Gross proceeds  $

              
               702.0

  $

              
               650.3

  $

              
               395.4

 

    Gain on sale of real estate, net   

              
               96.2

   

              
               211.9

   

              
               197.0

 

Total gains on dispositions, net  $

              
               96.2

  $

              
               211.9

  $

              
               219.6

 

Real Estate Held for Sale

When a real estate asset is identified by management as held for sale, the Company ceases depreciation of the asset and estimates its fair value, net of 
estimated costs to sell. If the estimated fair value, net of estimated costs to sell, of an asset is less than its net carrying value, an adjustment is recorded 
to reflect the estimated fair value. Properties classified as real estate held for sale generally represent properties that are under contract for sale and are 
expected to close within a year.

In evaluating whether a property meets the held for sale criteria, the Company makes a determination as to the point in time that it is probable that a sale 
will be consummated. Given the nature of all real estate sales contracts, it is not unusual for such contracts to allow potential buyers a period of time to 
evaluate the property prior to formal acceptance of the contract. In addition, certain other matters critical to the final sale, such as financing arrangements, 
often remain pending even upon contract acceptance. As a result, properties under contract may not close within the expected time period or at all.

As of December 31, 2023, 
        
         six
         properties were classified as held for sale with assets of $
        
         39.3
         million and 
        
         no
         liabilities, and as of December 31, 2022, 
        
         34
         properties were classified as held for sale with assets of $
        
         455.6
         million and 
        
         no
         liabilities.

Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

The Company accounts for its investments in Unconsolidated Entities using the equity method of accounting as the Company exercises significant 
influence but does not have a controlling financial interest. These investments are initially recorded at cost and are subsequently adjusted for cash 
contributions, cash distributions, and earnings and losses which are recognized in accordance with the terms of the applicable agreement.

On a periodic basis, management assesses whether there are indicators, including the operating performance of the underlying real estate and general 
market conditions which include macroeconomic conditions, that the value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated entities may be impaired. An 
investment’s value is impaired if management’s estimate of the fair value of the Company’s investment is less than its carrying value and such difference 
is deemed to be other-than-temporary. To the extent impairment has occurred, the loss is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the 
investment over its estimated fair value.

The Company recorded $
        
         11.7
         million in other-than-temporary impairment losses in investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2023 in equity in loss 
of unconsolidated entities on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The Company recorded $
        
         35.6
         million in other-than-temporary impairment losses in investments in unconsolidated entities for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
        
         No



         such impairment losses were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, restricted cash represents cash collateral for letters of credit and cash escrowed for development purposes.

Rental Revenue Recognition and Tenant Receivables

Rental income is comprised of base rent and reimbursements of property operating expenses. The Company commences rental revenue recognition 
when the lessee takes control of the physical use of the leased asset based on an evaluation of several factors. Base rent is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the non-cancelable terms of the related leases. For leases that have fixed and measurable base rent escalations, the difference between such 
rental income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease is recorded as straight-line rent receivable and included as a component of 
tenant and other receivables on the consolidated balance sheets. Reimbursement of property operating expenses arises from tenant leases which 
provide for the recovery of all or a 
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portion of the operating expenses and real estate taxes of the respective property. This revenue is accrued in the same periods as the expenses are 
incurred. 

The Company periodically reviews its receivables for collectability, taking into consideration changes in factors such as the tenant’s payment history, the 
financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates, and economic conditions in the area where the property 
is located. Tenant receivables, including receivables arising from the straight-lining of rents, are written-off directly when management deems that the 
collectability of substantially all future lease payments from a specified lease is not probable of collection, at which point, the Company will begin 
recognizing revenue on a cash basis, based on actual amounts received. Any receivables that are deemed to be uncollectible are recognized as a 
reduction to rental income in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. If future circumstances change such that the Company believes that 
it is reasonably certain that the Company will collect all rental income remaining on such leases, the Company will resume accruing rental income and 
recognize a cumulative catch up for previously written-off receivables. 

The Company recorded an increase to rental income of $
        
         0.4
         million during the year ended December 31, 2023 and a reduction to rental income of $
        
         1.4
         million and $
        
         0.2
         million during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, as a result of the Company’s evaluation of collectability. In addition, the 
Company recorded an increase of income of previously recorded bad debt on straight-line rent of $
        
         0.1
         million and $
        
         4.6
         million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and a reduction of income of previously recorded straight-line rent of $
        
         1.2
         million during the year ended December 31, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2023 there was 
        
         no
         impact on income related to deferral agreements. During the years ended 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded an increase to rental income of $
        
         0.7
         million, an increase to rental income of $
        
         0.8
         million related to the allowance for deferral agreements, respectively.

In leasing tenant space, the Company may provide funding to the lessee through a tenant allowance. In accounting for a tenant allowance, the Company 
will determine whether the allowance represents funding for the construction of leasehold improvements and evaluate the ownership of such 
improvements. If the Company is considered the owner of the improvements for accounting purposes, the Company will capitalize the amount of the 
tenant allowance and depreciate it over the shorter of the useful life of the improvements or the related lease term. If the tenant allowance represents a 
payment for a purpose other than funding leasehold improvements, or in the event the Company is not considered the owner of the improvements for 
accounting purposes, the allowance is considered a lease incentive and is recognized over the lease term as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-
line basis.

Tenant and Other Receivables 

Tenant and other receivables includes unpaid amounts billed to tenants, accrued revenues for future billings to tenants for property expenses, and 
amounts arising from the straight-lining of rent, as discussed above. Tenant and other receivables also includes management fees receivable for services 
performed for the benefit of certain unconsolidated entities. In the event that the collectability of a management fee receivable is in doubt, a provision for 
uncollectible amounts will be established or a direct write-off of the specific receivable will be made.

Management and Other Fee Income

Management and other fee income represents property management, construction, leasing and development fees for services performed for the benefit 
of certain unconsolidated entities. 

Property management fee income is reported at 
        
         100
        % of the revenue earned from such Unconsolidated Properties in management and other fee income on the consolidated statements of operations. 
The Company’s share of management expenses incurred by the unconsolidated entities is reported in equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the 
consolidated statements of operations and in other expenses in the combined financial data in Note 4. 

Leasing and development fees are initially reported at the portion of revenue earned attributable to outside ownership of the related unconsolidated 
entities. The Company’s share in leasing and development fee income is recognized over the useful life of the associated development project, in the 
case of development fees, or lease term, in the case of leasing fees, as the associated asset is depreciated over the same term and included in equity in 
loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations and in other expenses in the combined financial data in Note 4. 

Management determined that property and asset management and construction and development management services each represent a series of 
stand-ready performance obligations satisfied over time with each day of service being a distinct performance obligation. For property and asset 
management services, the Company is typically compensated for its services through a monthly management fee earned based on a specified 
percentage of monthly rental income or rental receipts generated from the property under management. For construction and development services, the 
Company is typically compensated for planning, administering and monitoring the design and construction of projects within our unconsolidated entities 
based on a percentage of project costs or a fixed fee. Revenues from such management contracts are recognized over the life of the applicable contract.
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Conversely, leasing services are considered to be performance obligations, satisfied as of a point in time. The Company’s leasing fee is typically paid 
upon the occurrence of certain contractual event(s) that may be contingent and the pattern of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment. 
For these services, the obligations are typically satisfied at lease execution and tenant opening date, and revenue is recognized in accordance with the 
related agreement at the point in time when the obligation has been satisfied.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company generally recognizes equity awards to employees as compensation expense and includes such expense within general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Compensation expense for equity awards is based on the grant date fair value of the awards. 
Compensation expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period for awards with time-based vesting and awards with market-based vesting 
conditions (e.g. total shareholder return). For awards with performance-based vesting determined by Company operating criteria, the Company 
recognizes compensation expense at the date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable for the amount which would have been 
recognized ratably from the date of the grant through the date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable, and then ratably from the 
date the achievement of performance criteria is deemed probable through the remainder of the vesting period. The Company utilizes a third-party 
valuation firm to measure the grant date fair value of restricted stock unit awards with market-based criteria using the Monte Carlo model. Forfeitures are 
recorded on an actual basis.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of operators, tenants, or obligors related to the Company’s investments are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations, including those to the Company, to be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. Management believes the Company’s portfolio is 
reasonably diversified and does not contain any significant concentrations of credit risk. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has 
        
         one
         tenant that comprises 
        
         15.7
        % of annualized based rent, with no other tenants exceeding 10.0% of annualized based rent. The Company’s portfolio of 
        
         23
         Consolidated Properties and 
        
         nine
         Unconsolidated Properties was diversified by location across 
        
         13
         states.

Earnings per Share

The Company has three classes of common stock. The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights, of the holders of the Company’s Class A 
common shares and Class C non-voting common shares are identical, except with respect to voting. As the liquidation and dividend rights are identical, 
the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis. The net earnings (loss) per share amounts are the same for Class A and Class C 
common shares because the holders of each class are legally entitled to equal per share distributions whether through dividends or in liquidation. Since 
August 29, 2018, all outstanding Class C common shares had been exchanged for Class A common shares and there are currently 
        
         no
         Class C common shares outstanding.

Class B non-economic common shares are excluded from earnings per share computations as they do not have economic rights. As of December 31, 
2020, all outstanding Class B common shares had been surrendered and there are currently 
        
         no
         Class B common shares outstanding. 

All outstanding non-vested shares that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities and are included in computing 
earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method which specifies that all outstanding non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-
forfeitable rights to distributions are considered participating securities and should be included in the computation of earnings per share.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, no new accounting pronouncements were adopted. Any other recently issued accounting standards or 
pronouncements not disclosed have been excluded as they either are not applicable to the Company, or they are not expected to have a material effect 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
 
The following presents Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) issued by FASB which the Company expects to adopt:
 

ASU Description Adoption Date Effect on the financial statements or other 
significant matters

ASU 2023-07, 
Segment Reporting 
(Topic 280) 
Improvements to 
Reportable 

The amendments in the ASU improve disclosures 
about a public entity’s reportable segments and 
addresses requests from investors for additional, more 
detailed information about a reportable segment’s 
expenses. Additionally, public entities with a single 
reportable segment have to provide all of the 
disclosures required by 

The amendments in 
this update are 
effective for annual 
periods beginning 
after December 31, 
2023.

The adoption of ASU 2023-07 is not expected to 
have a material impact consolidated financial 
statements.
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Segment Disclosures ASC 280, including the significant segment expense 

disclosures.
  

ASU 2023-09, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740) 
Improvements to 
Income Tax 
Disclosures

The amendments in the ASU expand the existing rules 
on income tax disclosures. This update requires entities 
to disclose specific categories in the tax rate 
reconciliation, provide additional information for 
reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold and 
disclose additional information about income taxes paid 
on an annual basis. 

The amendments in 
this update are 
effective for annual 
periods beginning 
after December 31, 
2024.

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 
the new standard on its consolidated financial 
statements.

 

Note 3 – Lease Intangible Assets and Liabilities 

The following tables summarize the Company’s lease intangible assets (acquired in-place leases and above-market leases) and liabilities (acquired 
below-market leases, which is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets), net of 
accumulated amortization, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
 
December 31, 2023          
  Gross   Accumulated     
Lease Intangible Assets  Asset   Amortization   Balance  

In-place leases, net  $

            
             1,541

  $

(
            

             655
)  $

            
             886

 
Above-market leases, net   —    —    —  

Total  $

            
             1,541

  $

(
            

             655
)  $

            
             886

 
 
  Gross   Accumulated     
Lease Intangible Liabilities  Liability   Amortization   Balance  

Below-market leases, net  $

            
             1,304

  $

(
            

             456
)  $

            
             848

 

Total  $

            
             1,304

  $

(
            

             456
)  $

            
             848

 
 
December 31, 2022          
  Gross   Accumulated     
Lease Intangible Assets  Asset   Amortization   Balance  

In-place leases, net  $

            
             8,614

  $

(
            

             6,978
)  $

            
             1,636

 

Above-market leases, net   

            
             908

   

(
            

             753
)   

            
             155

 

Total  $

            
             9,522

  $

(
            

             7,731
)  $

            
             1,791

 
 
  Gross   Accumulated     

Lease Intangible Liabilities  Liability   Amortization   Balance  

Below-market leases, net  $

            
             1,826

  $

(
            

             848
)  $

            
             978

 

Total  $

            
             1,826

  $

(
            

             848
)  $

            
             978

 

Amortization of acquired below-market leases, net of acquired above-market leases, resulted in additional rental income of $
      
       
        
         0.1
        
       
       million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization of an acquired below-market ground lease 
resulted in additional property expense of $
      
       
        



         0.2
        
       
       million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. Amortization of acquired in-place leases resulted in additional depreciation 
and amortization expense of $
      
       0.3
       million, $
      
       2.3
       million and $
      
       3.1
       million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  Future amortization of these lease intangibles is set forth below (in 
thousands): 
 
 

  
(Above) / below market 

leases, net   Below market ground lease   In-place leases  

2024  $

            
             54

  $

            
             203

  $

            
             77

 

2025   

            
             54

   

            
             203

   

            
             77

 

2026   

            
             54

   

            
             203

   

            
             77

 

2027   

            
             54

   

            
             203

   

            
             77

 

2028   

            
             54

   

            
             203

   

            
             77

 

Thereafter   

            
             578

   

            
             9,027

   

            
             501
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Note 4 – Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

The Company conducts a portion of its property rental activities through investments in unconsolidated entities. The Company’s partners in these 
unconsolidated entities are unrelated real estate entities or commercial enterprises. The Company and its partners in these unconsolidated entities make 
initial and/or ongoing capital contributions to these unconsolidated entities. The obligations to make capital contributions are governed by each 
unconsolidated entity’s respective operating agreement and related governing documents.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had investments in 
        
         seven
         unconsolidated entities as follows:

      Seritage %  # of  Total  
Unconsolidated Entities  Entity Partner(s)  Ownership  Properties  GLA  

GS Portfolio Holdings II LLC
   ("GGP I JV")  

Brookfield Properties Retail
   (formerly GGP Inc.)  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             1

              

            

87,500
 

GS Portfolio Holdings (2017) LLC
   ("GGP II JV")  

Brookfield Properties Retail
   (formerly GGP Inc.)  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             1

              

            

93,500
 

SPS Portfolio Holdings II LLC
   ("Simon JV")  Simon Property Group, Inc.  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             3

              

            

275,700
 

Mark 302 JV LLC
   ("Mark 302 JV")  

An investment fund managed
   by Invesco Real Estate  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             1

              

            

51,500
 

SI UTC LLC
   ("UTC JV")  

A separate account advised by
   Invesco Real Estate  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             1

              

            

106,200
 

Tech Ridge JV Holding LLC
   ("Tech Ridge JV")  

An affiliate of
   RD Management  

            
             50.0

            %  

            
             1

              —  

Landmark Land Holdings, LLC
   ("Landmark JV")  

The Howard Hughes Corporation and 
Foulger-Pratt  

            
             31.3

            %  

            
             1

              —  

        

            
             9

              

            

614,400

 
The Company has contributed certain properties to unconsolidated entities in exchange for equity interests in those unconsolidated entities. The 
contribution of property to unconsolidated entities is accounted for as a sale of real estate and the Company recognizes the gain or loss on the sale (the 
“Gain (loss)”) based upon the transaction price attributed to the property at the closing of the unconsolidated entities transaction (the “Contribution 
Value”). The Gain (loss) is included in gain on sale of real estate on the consolidated statements of operations.

In certain circumstances, the Contribution Value is subject to revaluation as defined in the respective unconsolidated entity agreements, which may result 
in an adjustment to the gain or loss recognized. If the Contribution Value is subject to revaluation, the Company initially recognizes the gain or loss at the 
value that is the expected amount within the range of possible outcomes and will re-evaluate the expected amount on a quarterly basis through the final 
determination date.

Upon revaluation, the primary inputs in determining the Contribution Value will be updated for actual results and may result in a cash settlement or 
capital account adjustment between the unconsolidated entity partners, as well as an adjustment to the initial gain or loss.

Each reporting period, the Company re-analyzes the primary inputs that determine the Contribution Value and the gain or loss for those unconsolidated 
entities subject to a revaluation.  The following table summarizes the properties contributed to the Company’s unconsolidated entities (in millions):
 

    December 31, 2023  
Unconsolidated Entities  Contribution Date  Contribution Value   Gain (Loss)  
2019         

Tech Ridge JV (1)  

            
             September 27, 

2019
 $

            
             3.0

  $

            
             0.1

 

(1) The Tech Ridge JV is subject to a revaluation primarily based upon the number of residential units constructed by the Tech Ridge JV. The 
Contribution Value cannot be less than $ 
          
           2.75
           million.



F-19



 
Summarized Financial Information for Unconsolidated Entities
 
The Company has determined that for the periods presented in the Company’s financial statements, the UTC JV has met the conditions of a significant 
subsidiary under Rule 4-08(g) of Regulation S-X, pursuant to which the Company is required to provide summarized financial information for this 
unconsolidated entity. 
 
The following tables presents summarized financial data for UTC JV (in thousands): 

  December 31, 2023   December 31, 2022  
ASSETS       
Investment in real estate       

Land  $

            
             27,992

  $

            
             27,992

 

Buildings and improvements   

            
             149,625

   

            
             69,261

 

Accumulated depreciation   

(
            

             6,592
)   

(
            

             1,568
)

   

            
             171,025

   

            
             95,685

 

Construction in progress   

            
             2,362

   

            
             71,047

 

Net investment in real estate   

            
             173,387

   

            
             166,732

 

Cash and cash equivalents   

            
             7,355

   

            
             3,115

 
Investment in unconsolidated entities   —    —  

Tenant and other receivables, net   

            
             11,289

   

            
             242

 

Other assets, net   

            
             11,927

   

            
             7,499

 

Total assets  $

            
             203,958

  $

            
             177,588

 
       
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS       

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities   

            
             18,133

   

            
             7,277

 

Total liabilities   

            
             18,133

   

            
             7,277

 
       
Members' Interest       

Additional paid in capital   

            
             180,628

   

            
             169,223

 

Retained earnings   

            
             5,197

   

            
             1,088

 

Total members' interest   

            
             185,825

   

            
             170,311

 



Total liabilities and members' interest  $

            
             203,958

  $

            
             177,588

 

Carrying value of Company's investments in equity investments  $

            
             97,018

  $

            
             88,026

 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Total revenue  $

            
             15,489

  $

            
             3,430

  $

            
             1,926

 

Property operating expenses   

(
            

             2,986
)   

(
            

             1,442
)   

(
            

             604
)

Depreciation and amortization   

(
            

             5,341
)   

(
            

             891
)   

(
            

             364
)

Operating income   

            
             7,162

   

            
             1,097

   

            
             958

 

Other expenses   

(
            

             1,965
)   

(
            

             9
)   

(
            

             94
)

Net income  $

            
             5,197

  $

            
             1,088

  $

            
             864

 

Equity in income of unconsolidated
   entities (1)  $

            
             851

  $

            
             544

  $

            
             432

 
(1) Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations includes basis difference adjustments.
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Summarized Financial Information for Unconsolidated Entities 
 
The following tables present combined financial data for all of the Company’s Unconsolidated Entities, excluding UTC JV (in thousands): 
 
  December 31, 2023   December 31, 2022  
ASSETS       
Investment in real estate       

Land  $

            
             117,439

  $

            
             235,177

 

Buildings and improvements   

            
             96,016

   

            
             350,658

 

Accumulated depreciation   

(
            

             43,070
)   

(
            

             66,913
)

   

            
             170,385

   

            
             518,922

 

Construction in progress   

            
             104,866

   

            
             148,823

 

Net investment in real estate   

            
             275,251

   

            
             667,745

 

Cash and cash equivalents   

            
             2,795

   

            
             25,957

 

Investment in unconsolidated entities   —    

            
             55,248

 

Tenant and other receivables, net   

            
             6

   

            
             4,799

 

Other assets, net   

            
             34,098

   

            
             6,745

 

Total assets  $

            
             312,150

  $

            
             760,494

 
       
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' INTERESTS       

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities   

            
             65,522

   

            
             45,531

 

Total liabilities   

            
             65,522

   

            
             45,531

 
       
Members' Interest       

Additional paid in capital   

            
             340,311

   

            
             787,931

 

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)   

(
            

             93,683
)   

(
            

             72,968
)

Total members' interest   

            
             246,628

   

            
             714,963

 



Total liabilities and members' interest  $

            
             312,150

  $

            
             760,494

 

Carrying value of Company's investments in equity investments  $

            
             99,419

  $

            
             294,571

 
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Total revenue  $

            
             10,188

  $

            
             24,958

  $

            
             24,126

 

Property operating expenses   

(
            

             6,588
)   

(
            

             11,769
)   

(
            

             10,364
)

Depreciation and amortization   

(
            

             12,104
)   

(
            

             21,549
)   

(
            

             27,779
)

Operating loss   

(
            

             8,504
)   

(
            

             8,360
)   

(
            

             14,017
)

Other expenses   

(
            

             697
)   

(
            

             3,204
)   

(
            

             4,270
)

Gains (losses) and (impairments)   

(
            

             154,938
)   

(
            

             27,980
)   

(
            

             1,087
)

Net loss  $

(
            

             164,139
)  $

(
            

             39,544
)  $

(
            

             19,374
)

Equity in loss of unconsolidated
   entities (1)  $

(
            

             56,708
)  $

(
            

             72,624
)  $

(
            

             9,663
)

(1)  Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations includes basis difference adjustments.

The Company shares in the profits and losses of these unconsolidated entities generally in accordance with the Company’s respective equity interests. In 
some instances, the Company may recognize profits and losses related to investment in an unconsolidated entity that differ from the Company’s equity 
interest in the unconsolidated entity. This may arise from impairments that the Company recognizes related to its investment that differ from the 
impairments the unconsolidated entity recognizes with respect to its assets, differences between the Company’s basis in assets it has transferred to the 
unconsolidated entity and the unconsolidated entity’s basis in those assets or other items. In conjunction with the adoption of the Plan of Sale in 2022, 
the Company recognized a change in plan to reduce the holding periods of all its investments in unconsolidated entities, which triggered the need for a 
quarterly impairment analysis pursuant to ASC 323, Equity Method and Joint Ventures. The Company utilizes appraisals and third-party prepared fair 
value estimates as well as negotiated offers to sell the investments for the impairment analysis. As a result of the Company’s analysis, other-than-
temporary impairment of $
      
       11.7
       million and $
      
       35.6
       million was recorded against equity method investments for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for agreeing to sell its 
interests in unconsolidated properties for less than their carrying value. This impairment is included in the equity in loss of unconsolidated entities line in 
the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold its interest in 
      
       eight
       unconsolidated properties, resulting in a gain of $
      
       6.4
       million, which is included in gain (loss) on sale of interest in unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company exercised its put right on one Unconsolidated Property. The Company has exercised its put 
rights on seven Unconsolidated Properties since January 1, 2022. The Company closed on the sale of four exercised put rights during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company closed on the sale of three of the previously exercised put rights. 

The Company’s partners assess impairment on its underlying assets pursuant to ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment, and recorded impairment on 
unconsolidated properties of $
      
       112.7
       million and $
      
       4.6
       million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company's 
      
       50
      % share of these impairment charges, adjusted to reflect the impact of basis differences, is $
      
       41.8
       million and $
      
       2.3
       million, respectively, and is included in equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Unconsolidated Entity Management and Related Fees

The Company acts as the operating partner and day-to-day manager for the Mark 302 JV, the UTC JV, and Tech Ridge JV. The Company is entitled to 
receive certain fees for providing management, leasing, and construction supervision services to certain of its unconsolidated entities. Refer to Note 2 for 
the Company’s accounting policies. The Company earned $
      
       5.8
       million, $
      
       2.4
       million and $
      
       1.0
       million from these services for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 5 – Leases 
 

Lessor Disclosures

Future minimum rental receipts, excluding variable payments and tenant reimbursements of expenses, under non-cancelable operating leases executed 
as of December 31, 2023 is approximately as follows:
 

(in thousands)  December 31, 2023  
2024

 $

            
             21,473

 
2025

  

            
             24,423

 
2026

  

            
             23,217

 
2027

  

            
             21,984

 
2028

  

            
             19,401

 
Thereafter

  

            
             96,495

 
Total

 $

            
             206,993

 
 
The components of lease revenues for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

(in thousands)  Year Ended December 31,  

  2023   2022   2021  



Fixed rental income

 $

            
             30,457

  $

            
             88,699

  $

            
             91,494

 
Variable rental income

  

            
             1,447

   

            
             14,657

   

            
             21,861

 
Total rental income

 $

            
             31,904

  $

            
             103,356

  $

            
             113,355

 

Lessee Disclosures

The Company has 
      
       one
       ground lease and 
      
       one
       corporate office lease which are classified as operating leases. As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, the outstanding amount of right of use assets 
were $
      
       14.4
       million and $
      
       16.2
       million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into a sublease agreement to sublease a portion of its 
corporate office. As a result, this triggered the need for an ROU impairment assessment and the Company determined that the ROU asset was impaired. 
The Company recorded impairment of $
      
       0.8
       million which is included in impairment of real estate assets on the consolidated statements of operations. 

The Company recorded rent expense related to leased corporate office space of $
      
       1.1
       million, $
      
       1.1
       million, and $
      
       1.2
       million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Such rent expense is classified within general and administrative 
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

In addition, the Company recorded ground rent expense of approximately $
      
       
        
         0.1
        
       
       million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Such ground rent expense is classified within property 
operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. The ground lease requires the Company to make fixed annual rental payments and 
expires in  2073 assuming all extension options are exercised.
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The Company expects to make cash payments on operating leases of $
      
       1.2
       million in 2024, $
      
       1.2
       million in 2025, $
      
       1.2
       million in 2026, $
      
       1.2
       million in 2027, $
      
       0.8
       million in 2028 and $
      
       2.0
       million for the periods thereafter. The present value discount is ($
      
       3.2
      ) million.

The following table sets forth information related to the measurement of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023:

  December 31, 2023  
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)

  

            
             11.0

 
Weighted average discount rate

  

            
             6.76

%
Cash paid for operating leases (in thousands)

 $

            
             1,932

 

Sale-leaseback Financing Obligations

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company completed a sale-leaseback transaction for its property in Hialeah, Florida for $
      
       21.0
       million which was included in sale-leaseback financing obligations on the consolidated balance sheets. As part of the sale-leaseback transaction, 
the Company agreed to lease all land and improvements on the land for a fixed term of  25 years at an initial base rent of $
      
       1.5
       million per annum which increased by 
      
       1.5
      % per year thereafter. For the initial periods of the sale-leaseback, cash payments are less than the interest expense recognized, which caused the 
obligation to increase during the initial years of the lease term. The implied interest rate was approximately 
      
       7.00
      %.  The Company has a purchase option during years four, five or seven of the 25-year term to reacquire, solely at the Company’s option, the 
Hialeah property at a predetermined price . The Hialeah property was reflected as a long-lived asset and depreciated over its remaining useful life. 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased the property and concurrently sold it to another buyer, thus terminating the sale-
leaseback financing obligation. The Company did not enter into any other sale-leaseback arrangements in 2023.
 

Note 6 – Debt

Term Loan Facility

On  July 31, 2018 , the Operating Partnership, as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor, entered into a Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement (the 
“Term Loan Agreement”) providing for a $
      
       2.0
       billion term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) with Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska (“Berkshire Hathaway”) as lender 
and Berkshire Hathaway as administrative agent. The Term Loan Facility provided for an initial funding of $
      
       1.6
       billion at closing (the “Initial Funding”) and includes a $
      
       400
       million incremental funding facility (the “Incremental Funding Facility”) subject to certain conditions described below. On February 2, 2023, the 
Company made a $
      
       230
       million voluntary prepayment, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $
      
       800



       million, and the debt maturity was extended for  two years to  July 31, 2025 . The Company made additional voluntary prepayments aggregating $
      
       440
       million during the remainder of 2023, reducing the unpaid principal balance to $
      
       360
       million at December 31, 2023. Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Company made an additional $
      
       30
       million principal prepayment reducing the balance of the Term Loan Facility to $
      
       330
       million as of March 22, 2024.

Funded amounts under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at an annual rate of 
      
       7.0
      % and unfunded amounts under the Incremental Funding Facility are subject to an annual fee of 
      
       1.0
      % until drawn. The Company prepays the annual fee and amortizes the expense to interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company’s ability to access the Incremental Funding Facility is subject to (i) the Company achieving rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants, 
on an annualized basis (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to commence rent payment within 12 months) for the fiscal quarter ending prior to the 
date of incurrence of the Incremental Funding Facility, of not less than $
      
       200
       million, (ii) the Company’s good faith projection that rental income from non-Sears Holdings tenants (after giving effect to SNO Leases expected to 
commence rent payment within 12 months) for the succeeding four consecutive fiscal quarters (beginning with the fiscal quarter during which the 
incremental facility is accessed) will be not less than $
      
       200
       million, and (iii) the repayment by the Operating Partnership of any deferred interest permitted under the amendment to the Term Loan Amendment 
as further described below. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not yet achieved the requirements to access the Incremental Funding Facility. 

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, is required to be guaranteed by all existing and future 
subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a first lien basis by a pledge of the capital stock of the direct subsidiaries 
of the Operating Partnership and the guarantors, including its joint venture interests, except as prohibited by the organizational documents of such 
entities or any joint venture agreements applicable to such entities, and contains a requirement to provide mortgages and other customary collateral upon 
the breach of certain financial metrics described below, the occurrence and continuation of an event of default and certain other conditions set forth in the 
Term Loan Agreement. During 2019, mortgages were recorded on a majority of the Company’s portfolio and during the year ended December 31, 2021, 
mortgages were recorded on the remaining unmortgaged properties in all but two locations.
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The Term Loan Facility includes certain financial metrics to govern springing collateral requirements and certain covenant exceptions set forth in the 
Term Loan Agreement, including: (i) a total fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 
      
       1.20
       to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (ii) an unencumbered fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 
      
       1.30
       to 1.00 for each fiscal quarter; (iii) a total leverage ratio of not more than 
      
       65
      %; (iv) an unencumbered ratio of not more than 
      
       60
      %; and (v) a minimum net worth of at least $
      
       1.2
       billion. Any failure to satisfy any of these financial metrics limits the Company’s ability to dispose of assets via sale or joint venture and triggers the 
springing mortgage and collateral requirements but will not result in an event of default. The Term Loan Facility also includes certain limitations relating 
to, among other activities, the Company’s ability to: sell assets or merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of its assets; incur additional debt; 
incur certain liens; enter into, terminate or modify certain material leases and/or the material agreements for the Company’s properties; make certain 
investments (including limitations on joint ventures) and other restricted payments; pay distributions on or repurchase the Company’s capital stock; and 
enter into certain transactions with affiliates. 

The Term Loan Facility contains customary events of default, including (subject to certain materiality thresholds and grace periods) payment default, 
material inaccuracy of representations or warranties, and bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. If there is an event of default, the lenders may declare all 
or any portion of the outstanding indebtedness to be immediately due and payable, exercise any rights they might have under any of the Term Loan 
Facility documents, and require the Company to pay a default interest rate on overdue amounts equal to 
      
       2.0
      % in excess of the then applicable interest rate.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company was not in compliance with certain of the financial metrics described above. As a result, the Company was 
previously required to receive the consent of Berkshire Hathaway to dispose of assets via sale or contribution to another entity and, as of June 16, 2022, 
Berkshire Hathaway had provided such consent for all such transactions submitted for approval. The Third Term Loan Amendment (defined below) 
executed on June 16, 2022 eliminates this requirement. The Company believes it is in compliance with all other terms and conditions of the Term Loan 
Agreement.

The Company incurred $
      
       2.1
       million of debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility which are recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the Term Loan 
Facility and amortized over the term of the Term Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's debt issuance costs were fully amortized 
and as of December 31, 2022, the unamortized balance of the Company’s debt issuance costs were $
      
       0.2
       million.

On May 5, 2020, the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Term Loan Amendment”) to the Term Loan 
Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership and Berkshire Hathaway as initial lender and administrative agent that permits the deferral of 
payment of interest under the Term Loan Agreement if, as of the first day of each applicable month, (x) the amount of unrestricted and unencumbered 
(other than liens created under the Term Loan Agreement) cash on hand of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries, minus (y) the aggregate 
amount of anticipated necessary expenditures for such period (such sum, “Available Cash”) is equal to or less than $30.0 million. In such instances, for 
each interest period, the Operating Partnership is obligated to make payments of interest in an amount equal to the difference between (i) Available Cash 
and (ii) $20.0 million (provided that such payment shall not exceed the amount of current interest otherwise due under the Term Loan Agreement). Any 
deferred interest shall accrue interest at 
      
       2.0
      % in excess of the then applicable interest rate and shall be due and payable on the Term Loan maturity date; provided, that the Operating 
Partnership is required to pay any deferred interest from Available Cash in excess of $
      
       30.0
       million (unless otherwise agreed to by the administrative agent under the Term Loan Agreement in its sole discretion). In addition, repayment of any 
outstanding deferred interest is a condition to any borrowings under the $
      
       400.0
       million incremental funding facility under the Term Loan Agreement. The Company has paid all interest due under the Term Loan Agreement and 
has not deferred any interest as permitted under the Term Loan Amendment. 

Additionally, the Term Loan Amendment provides that the administrative agent and the lenders express their continued support for asset dispositions, 
subject to the administrative agent’s right to approve the terms of individual transactions due to the occurrence of a Financial Metric Trigger Event, as 
such term is defined under the Term Loan Agreement.

On November 24, 2021, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Second Term Loan 
Amendment”) to the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating 
Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that (i) the “make whole” provision in the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement 
shall not be applicable to prepayments of principal ; and (ii) the Senior Secured Term Loan Agreement, as amended for (i) above, may at the Operating 
Partnership’s election be extended for  two years from  July 31, 2023 to  July 31, 2025 (the “Maturity Date”) if its principal has been reduced to $
      
       800
       million by July 31, 2023. The outstanding principal balance was reduced to $
      
       800
       million on February 2, 2023, and the Maturity Date has been extended to  July 31, 2025 . In all other respects, the Senior Secured Term Loan 
Agreement remains unchanged.
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On June 16, 2022, the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway entered into an amendment (the “Third Term Loan Amendment”) to 
the Term Loan Agreement by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company and Berkshire Hathaway to which the Operating Partnership, the 
Company and Berkshire Hathaway mutually agreed that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the asset sale covenant, the parent, borrower, and 
their respective subsidiaries will be permitted without the consent of the administrative agent to sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of properties (including 
but not limited to properties or equity interests of any subsidiary) to unaffiliated third parties for no less than fair market value, provided that the borrower 
deposits all net proceeds received into a controlled account and the use of such net proceeds will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Term 
Loan Agreement, including but not limited to the restricted payments and investments/loans covenants.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has paid down $
      
       1.24
       billion towards the Term Loan Facility’s unpaid principal balance. The aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Term Loan Facility as of 
December 31, 2023 was $
      
       360
       million. Subsequent to December 31, 2023, the Company paid down an additional $
      
       30
       million reducing the Term Loan Facility’s unpaid principal balance to $
      
       330
       million.

Note 7 – Income Taxes

The Company had previously elected to be taxed as a REIT as defined under Section 856(c) of the Code for federal income tax purposes upon formation 
and through December 31, 2021. On March 31, 2022, the Company announced that its Board of Trustees unanimously approved a plan to terminate the 
Company’s REIT status and become a taxable C Corporation effective January 1, 2022. As a result, the Company is no longer required to operate under 
REIT rules, including the requirement to distribute at least 
      
       90
      % of REIT taxable income to its stockholders, which provides the Company with greater flexibility to use its free cash flow. Effective January 1, 2022, 
the Company is subject to federal, state and local income taxes on its taxable income at applicable tax rates and is no longer entitled to a tax deduction 
for dividends paid. The Company operated as a REIT for the 2021 tax year and prior years, and existing REIT requirements and limitations, including 
those established by the Company’s organizational documents, remained in place through December 31, 2021.

As a result of the Company’s revocation of its REIT status in fiscal year 2022, the Company incurred a one-time, non-cash deferred tax benefit of 
approximately $
      
       161.3
       million during the three months ended March 31, 2022. As a result of ongoing operations and sales activity, the Company recognized a deferred tax 
benefit of $
      
       35.5
       million and $
      
       1.5
       million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded full 
valuation allowances of $198.8 million and $
      
       162.8
       million, respectively, against the deferred tax asset pursuant to ASC 740, as discussed in more detail below. 

The Company’s effective tax rate of 
      
       
        0
       
      % differs from the U.S. statutory rate of 
      
       
        21
       
      % in 2023 and 2022 primarily due to the recognition of a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate is calculated below (in thousands):

      For the year ended   For the year ended  
      December 31, 2023   December 31, 2022  

Pre-tax book income (loss) $

(
            

             154,911
)  $

(
            

             120,097
)

           

 Tax on pre-tax book income (loss)  

(
            

             32,532
)   

(
            

             25,221
)

 Non-controlling interest  —    

            
             11,852

 



 State taxes on current year income, permanent items  

(
            

             7,200
)   

(
            

             5,620
)

 Deferred tax asset build-up  —    

(
            

             161,321
)

 Valuation allowance  

            
             36,054

   

            
             175,328

 

 Deferred rate change  

            
             483

   

            
             3,202

 

 Other  

            
             3,195

   

            
             1,780

 
Income tax expense $ —   $ —  
           
Effective tax rate  0 %  0 %
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The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities of $198.8 million and $
      
       
        162.8
       
       as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, consist of book to tax basis differences, net operating losses, and carryover net operating losses. 
As discussed below, the Company has recorded full valuation allowances on the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

The total deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):

      2023   2022  
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):      
           

 Loss carryforwards and credits $

            
             119,720

  $

            
             38,992

 

 Difference between book and tax basis of property, plant, and equipment  

            
             83,068

   

            
             114,485

 

 Straight-line rent  

(
            

             926
)   

(
            

             5,206
)

 Prepaid insurance  

(
            

             716
)   

(
            

             841
)

 Allowance for bad debts  

            
             441

   

            
             802

 

 Joint ventures  

(
            

             9,568
)   

            
             8,950

 

 Accrued bonus  

            
             3,335

   

            
             1,177

 

 Stock compensation  

            
             3,192

   

            
             2,480

 

 Prepaid rent  —    

            
             904

 

 Unearned revenue  

            
             531

   

            
             1,275

 

 State depreciation differences  

(
            

             270
)   

(
            

             265
)

 Valuation allowance  

(
            

             198,807
)   

(
            

             162,753
)

           
Net deferred income tax asset $ —   $ —  

Valuation allowances are recorded related to deferred tax assets based on the “more likely than not” criteria. ASC 740 states that deferred tax assets 
shall be reduced by a valuation allowance if there is insufficient objectively verifiable evidence to support that it is more likely than not that they will be 
realized. This evaluation requires significant judgment which should be weighted commensurate with the extent to which the evidence can be objectively 
verified. Additionally, under ASC 740, forming a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence such as 
cumulative losses in recent years. Given the Company’s history of cumulative losses combined with the fact that the Company’s utilization of deferred 
tax assets is highly dependent on the outcome of the review of a broad range of strategic alternatives announced by its Board of Trustees and the 
uncertainty in timing and volume of future property sales, we have deemed that their realization, at this time, cannot be objectively verified. The Company 
has therefore recorded full valuation allowances against the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company will 
evaluate this position each quarter as verifiable positive evidence becomes available, such as the execution of asset sales, to support the future 
utilization of the deferred tax assets.

A summary of the Company’s valuation allowance activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands):

      2023   2022  



Balance, beginning of year
$

            
             162,753

  $ —  

 Charged to costs and expenses (1)  

            
             36,054

   

            
             175,328

 
 (Credited) charged to other accounts (2)  —    (12,575 )
Balance, end of year $ 198,807   $ 162,753  
(1) Includes $
        
         161.3
         million of valuation allowance recorded for change in taxable status during the year ended December 31, 2022.
(2) Relates to valuation allowance impact recorded through additional paid-in capital due to exchange of equity interest in operating partnership for Class 
A shares.

Note 8 – Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value and establishes a framework for measuring fair value. The objective of fair value is to determine 
the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date (the “exit price”). ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair 
value into three levels:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities

Level 2 - observable prices based on inputs not quoted in active markets, but corroborated by market data

Level 3 - unobservable inputs used when little or no market data is available

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Company utilizes 
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. The Company also 
considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value.

F-26



 

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
 
The following tables present the Company's assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, aggregated by 
the level in the fair value hierarchy within which those measurements fall: 
 
  Balance   Fair Value Measurements Using  

Description (1)  December 31, 2023   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  

Impaired real estate assets  $

            
             207,968

  $

            

6,000
  $

            
             5,000

  $

            

196,968
 

Impaired right-of-use assets   

            
             3,020

   -    -    

            
             3,020

 

Other-than-temporary impaired investments in 
unconsolidated entities   

            
             14,739

   -    

            
             14,739

   -  
 (1) Represents non-recurring fair value measurement. The fair value is calculated as of the impairment date.  
             
  Balance   Fair Value Measurements Using  

Description (1)  December 31, 2022   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  

Impaired real estate assets  $

            
             247,264

  $

            

48,500
  $

            

177,657
  $

            
             21,107

 

Other-than-temporary impaired investments in 
unconsolidated entities   

            
             119,174

   -    

            
             33,820

   

            
             85,354

 
 (1) Represents non-recurring fair value measurement. The fair value is calculated as of the impairment date.  

In accordance with ASC 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment, the Company reviews the carrying value of its real estate assets at each reporting 
period. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 the Company recorded impairment losses of $
      
       107.0
       million, $
      
       126.9
       million and $
      
       95.8
       million, respectively, on real estate assets which is included in impairment on real estate assets within the consolidated statements of operations. 
The $
      
       107.0
       million of impairment recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily the result of increased development and construction costs 
and deteriorating market conditions with respect to the property at Aventura, FL which created delays in leasing and tenant openings. Other instances of 
impairment were driven by deteriorating market conditions and the Company agreeing to sell a property for less than its carrying value. We continue to 
evaluate our portfolio, including our development plans and holding periods, which may result in additional impairments in future periods on our 
consolidated properties.

In accordance with ASC 323, Equity Method and Joint Ventures, the Company reviews the carrying value in its investments in unconsolidated entities at 
each reporting period. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded other-than-temporary impairment losses on 
investments in unconsolidated entities of $
      
       11.7
       million and $
      
       35.6
       million, respectively, as a result of agreeing to sell Unconsolidated Properties below their carrying value and updated appraisals obtained. 
      
       No
       such impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021. This impairment is included in the equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 
line in the consolidated statements of operations.

The fair value estimates used to determine the impairment charges for consolidated and unconsolidated properties were determined primarily by 
discounted cash flow analyses, market comparable data, third-party appraisals/valuations and/or offers received, as applicable. The cash flows utilized in 
such analyses are comprised of unobservable inputs which include, among other things, estimated revenue and expense growth rates, discount rates 
and capitalization rates based upon market conditions and future expectations. The most significant unobservable inputs utilized in determining the fair 
value of these assets are capitalization rates and discount rates which were between 
      
       5.5
      % and 
      
       8.0
      %. Because of these inputs, we have determined that the fair values of these properties are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The 
most significant observable inputs utilized in determining the fair value of these assets are market comparables for land and building. Comparable data 



utilizes comparable sales, listings, sales contracts and letters of intent which are subject to judgment as to comparability to the valued property. Because 
these inputs are derived from observable market data, we have determined that the fair values of these properties are classified within Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy. We consider fair values based upon the agreed-upon contract sales price to be classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial Assets and Liabilities not Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets include cash equivalents and the Term Loan 
Facility. The fair value of the Term Loan Facility is classified as Level 2. Cash equivalents and restricted cash are carried at cost, which approximates fair 
value. The fair value of debt obligations is calculated by discounting the future contractual cash flows of these instruments using current risk-adjusted 
rates available to borrowers with similar credit ratings. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the estimated fair values of the Company’s debt obligations 
were $
      
       349.5
       million and $
      
       1.0
       billion, respectively, which approximated the carrying value at such dates as the current risk-adjusted rate approximates the stated rates on the 
Company’s debt obligations.
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Note 9 – Commitments and Contingencies 

Insurance

The Company maintains general liability insurance and all-risk property and rental value, with sub-limits for certain perils such as floods and earthquakes 
on each of the Company’s properties. The Company also maintains coverage for terrorism acts as defined by Terrorism Risk Insurance Program 
Reauthorization Act, which expires in December 2027.

Insurance premiums are charged directly to each of the properties. The Company will be responsible for deductibles and losses in excess of insurance 
coverage, which could be material. The Company continues to monitor the state of the insurance market and the scope and costs of coverage for acts of 
terrorism. However, the Company cannot anticipate what coverage will be available on commercially reasonable terms in the future.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, the Company may be considered an owner or operator of real property or may 
have arranged for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances. As a result, the Company may be liable for certain costs including removal, 
remediation, government fines and injuries to persons and property.

Litigation and Other Matters

In accordance with accounting standards regarding loss contingencies, the Company accrues an undiscounted liability for those contingencies where the 
incurrence of a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, and the Company discloses the amount accrued and the amount of a 
reasonably possible loss in excess of the amount accrued or discloses the fact that such a range of loss cannot be estimated. The Company does not 
record liabilities when the likelihood that the liability has been incurred is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated, or when the liability 
is believed to be only reasonably possible or remote. 

Beginning in 2019, the Company had been in litigation related to the bankruptcy of Sears Holdings (the “Litigation”). On September 2, 2022, the United 
States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York entered an order approving a settlement amongst the parties to the Litigation and, on 
October 18, 2022, the Litigation was dismissed. 

The Company made a settlement payment of $
      
       35.5
       million based on the Company’s contributions to the settlement of the Litigation. This payment is recorded as litigation settlement in the consolidated 
statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

On March 2, 2021, the company brought a lawsuit in Delaware state court against QBE Insurance Corporation, Endurance American Insurance 
Company, Allianz Global Risks US Insurance Company and Continental Casualty Company, each of which are D&O insurance providers of the Company 
(the “D&O Insurers”). The Company’s lawsuit sought, among other things, declaratory relief and money damages as a result of certain of the D&O 
Insurers refusal to pay certain costs and expenses related to the defense of the Litigation. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company 
reached settlement agreements with two of the D&O Insurers and received gross proceeds of $
      
       12.7
       million, which was recorded in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations during the year ended December 31, 2022. 
During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company reached settlement agreements with the other two D&O Insurers for gross proceeds of $
      
       11.6
       million. The Company received $
      
       11.6
       million during the year ended December 31, 2023, which is recorded in interest and other income in the consolidated statements of operations. 

In addition to the litigation described above, the Company is subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary 
course of business and due to the current environment. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, 
based on currently available information, that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, 
results of operations, cash flows or liquidity of the Company.
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Note 10 – Related Party Disclosure

Edward S. Lampert

Edward S. Lampert is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ESL, which owns Holdco, and was Chairman of Sears Holdings. Mr. Lampert was 
also the Chairman of Seritage prior to his retirement effective March 1, 2022. 

On July 6, 2022, Mr. Lampert converted all of his remaining Operating Partnership Units (“OP Units”) to Class A common shares. As a result, he no 
longer holds a direct interest in the Operating Partnership and he owns approximately 
      
       25.0
      % of the outstanding Class A shares as of December 31, 2023. 

Subsidiaries of Holdco, as lessees, and subsidiaries of the Company, as lessors, were parties to the Holdco Master Lease and subsidiaries of Sears 
Holdings, as lessees, and subsidiaries of the Company, as lessors, were parties to the Original Master Lease (see Note 5). 

Winthrop Capital Advisors

On December 29, 2021, the Company entered into a Services Agreement with Winthrop Capital Advisors LLC to provide additional staffing to the 
Company. On January 7, 2022, the Company announced that John Garilli, an employee of Winthrop, has been appointed interim chief financial officer on 
a full-time basis, effective January 14, 2022. The Company pays Winthrop a monthly fee of $
      
       0.1
       million and reimbursement for certain employee expenses. The Company paid Winthrop $
      
       2.5
       million and $
      
       1.8
       million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Unconsolidated Entities

Certain unconsolidated entities have engaged the Company to provide management, leasing, construction supervision and development services at the 
properties owned by the unconsolidated entities. Refer to Note 2 for the Company’s significant accounting policies. 

In addition, as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had incurred no development expenditures at properties owned by certain 
unconsolidated entities for which the Company will be repaid by the respective unconsolidated entities.

The Company had certain put rights on properties held by the Unconsolidated Entities, which may require the Company’s partner to buy out the 
Company’s investment in such properties. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company exercised its put rights on 
      
       one
       property. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company exercised its put rights on 
      
       six
       properties to two of their partners. The Company closed on the sale of four and three of the previously exercised put rights during the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 11 – Non-Controlling Interests

Partnership Agreement

On July 7, 2015, Seritage and ESL entered into the agreement of limited partnership of the Operating Partnership which was amended and restated on 
December 14, 2017 and further amended and restated on January 4, 2023. Pursuant to this partnership agreement, as the sole general partner of the 
Operating Partnership, Seritage exercises exclusive and complete responsibility and discretion in its day-to-day management, authority to make 
decisions, and control of the Operating Partnership, and may not be removed as general partner by the limited partners.

On July 6, 2022, ESL converted all of his remaining Operating Partnership Units to Class A common shares. As a result, as of July 6, 2022 the Company, 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, holds a 
      
       100
      % interest in the Operating Partnership.
 

Note 12 – Shareholders’ Equity

Class A Common Shares

As of December 31, 2023, 
      
       
        56,194,727
       
       Class A common shares were issued and outstanding. Class A shares have a par value of $
      
       0.01
       per share.

Class B Non-Economic Common Shares

As of December 31, 2023, there were 
      
       
        no
       



       Class B non-economic common shares issued or outstanding. 
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Series A Preferred Shares

In December 2017, the Company issued 
      
       2,800,000
       
      
       7.00
      % Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares”) in a public offering at $
      
       25.00
       per share. The Company received net proceeds from the offering of approximately $
      
       66.4
       million, after deducting payment of the underwriting discount and offering expenses.

On and after December 14, 2022, the Company may redeem any or all of the Series A Preferred Shares at $
      
       25.00
       per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series A Preferred Shares have no stated maturity, are not subject to any sinking fund or 
mandatory redemption and will remain outstanding indefinitely unless the Company redeems or otherwise repurchases them or they are converted.

Dividends and Distributions

The Company’s Board of Trustees has not declared dividends on the Company’s Class A common shares during 2023, 2022 or 2021. The last dividend 
on the Company’s Class A and C common shares that the Board of Trustees declared was on February 25, 2019, which was paid on April 11, 2019 to 
shareholders of record on March 29, 2019.

Our Board of Trustees will determine future distributions following the pay down of the Term Loan Facility.

The Company’s Board of Trustees also declared the following dividends on preferred shares during 2024, 2023, 2022 and 2021:
 

      Series A  
Declaration Date  Record Date  Payment Date  Preferred Share  
2024        

February 29  March 29  April 15  $

            
             0.43750

 
2023        

October 30  December 29  January 16, 2024  $

            
             0.43750

 

July 25  September 29  October 13   

            
             0.43750

 

April 27  June 30  July 14   

            
             0.43750

 

February 15  March 31  April 17   

            
             0.43750

 
2022        

November 1  December 30  

            
             January 16, 2023
             $

            
             0.43750

 

July 26  September 30  October 17   

            
             0.43750

 

April 26  June 30  July 15   

            
             0.43750

 

February 16  March 31  April 15   

            
             0.43750

 
2021        

October 26  December 31  

            
             January 14, 2022
             $

            
             0.43750

 



July 27  September 30  October 15   

            
             0.43750

 

April 27  June 30  July 15   

            
             0.43750

 

February 23  March 31  April 15   

            
             0.43750

 
 

Note 13 – Earnings per Share

The table below provides a reconciliation of net loss and the number of common shares used in the computations of “basic” earnings per share (“EPS”), 
which utilizes the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding without regard to dilutive potential common shares, and “diluted” EPS, which 
includes all such shares. Potentially dilutive securities consist of shares of non-vested restricted stock and the redeemable non-controlling interests in the 
Operating Partnership.

All outstanding non-vested shares that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities and are included in computing 
EPS pursuant to the two-class method which specifies that all outstanding non-vested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to 
distributions are considered participating securities and should be included in the computation of EPS.
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Earnings per share has not been presented for Class B shareholders, as they do not have economic rights.

(in thousands except per share amounts)  Year Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Numerator - Basic and Diluted          
Net loss

 $

(
            

154,911
)  $

(
            

120,097
)  $

(
            

38,985
)

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests

  —    

            

46,152
   

            

10,836
 

Preferred dividends

  

(
            

             4,900
)   

(
            

             4,900
)   

(
            

             4,900
)

Net loss attributable to common shareholders - Basic

 $

(
            

159,811

)  $

(
            

78,845

)  $

(
            

33,049

)
          

Denominator - Basic and Diluted          
Weighted average Class A common shares outstanding

  

            

56,151
   

            

49,729
   

            

42,393
 

Weighted average Class A common shares
   outstanding - Basic

  

            

56,151
   

            

49,729
   

            

42,393
 

Weighted average Class A common shares
   outstanding - Diluted

  

            

56,151
   

            

49,729
   

            

42,393
 

          
Loss per share attributable to Class A
   common shareholders - Basic

 $

(
            

             2.85
)  $

(
            

             1.59
)  $

(
            

             0.78
)

Loss per share attributable to Class A
   common shareholders - Diluted

 $

(
            

             2.85
)  $

(
            

             1.59
)  $

(
            

             0.78
)

No adjustments were made to the numerator for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021 because the Company generated a net loss. During 
periods of net loss, undistributed losses are not allocated to the participating securities as they are not required to absorb losses.

No adjustments were made to the denominator for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021 because (i) the inclusion of outstanding non-
vested restricted shares would have had an anti-dilutive effect and (ii) including the non-controlling interest in the Operating Partnership would also 
require that the share of Operating Partnership loss attributable to such interests be added back to net loss, therefore, resulting in no effect on earnings 
per share.

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, there were 
      
       361,645
      , 
      
       535,650
       and 
      
       288,068
       shares, respectively, of non-vested restricted shares outstanding.

Note 14 – Share-Based Compensation

On July 7, 2015, the Company adopted the Seritage Growth Properties 2015 Share Plan (the “Plan”). The number of shares of common stock reserved 
for issuance under the Plan is 
      
       3,250,000
      . The Plan provides for grants of restricted shares, share units, other share-based awards, options, and share appreciation rights, each as defined in 
the Plan (collectively, the “Awards”). Directors, officers, other employees, and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates are eligible 
for Awards.



Restricted Shares and Share Units

Pursuant to the Plan, the Company has periodically made grants of restricted shares or share units. The vesting terms of these grants are specific to the 
individual grant and vary in that a portion of the restricted shares and share units vest in equal annual amounts over the subsequent  three years (time-
based vesting) and a portion of the restricted shares and share units vest on the third, and in some instances, the fourth anniversary of the grants subject 
to the achievement of certain performance criteria (performance-based and market-based vesting).

In general, participating employees are required to remain employed for vesting to occur (subject to certain limited exceptions). Restricted shares and 
share units that do not vest are forfeited. Dividends on restricted shares and share units with time-based vesting are paid to holders of such shares and 
share units and are not returnable, even if the underlying shares or share units do not ultimately vest. Dividends on restricted shares and share units with 
performance-based vesting are accrued when declared and paid to holders of such shares on the third, and in some instances, the fourth anniversary of 
the initial grant subject to the vesting of the underlying shares. See Note 2 for valuation information related to the grants of the awards that are subject to 
market-based vesting conditions. 
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The following table summarizes restricted share activity for the grant periods ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

  Year Ended December 31, 2023   Year Ended December 31, 2022   Year Ended December 31, 2021  
     Weighted-      Weighted-      Weighted-  
     Average Grant      Average Grant      Average Grant  
  Shares   Date Fair Value   Shares   Date Fair Value   Shares   Date Fair Value  

Unvested restricted shares at beginning of 
period   

            

535,650

  $

            

14.31
   

            

288,068

  $

            
             17.65

   

            

157,465

  $

            
             38.73

 

Share units granted   —    —    

            

335,033
   

            
             11.31

   

            

345,262
   

            
             19.25

 

Restricted shares vested   

(
            

161,729
)   

            

13.63
   

(
            

69,530
)   

            
             14.16

   

(
            

156,146
)   

            
             38.65

 

Restricted shares forfeited   

(
            

12,276
)   

            

24.22
   

(
            

17,921
)   

            
             12.62

   

(
            

58,513
)   

            
             27.77

 

Unvested restricted shares at end of period   

            

361,645
  $

            

14.27
   

            

535,650
  $

            
             14.31

   

            

288,068
  $

            
             17.65

 

The Company recognized $
      
       2.7
       million, $
      
       2.8
       million and $
      
       1.9
       million in share-based compensation expense related to the restricted shares for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
Compensation expenses related to the restricted shares are included in general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements 
of operations.

As of December 31, 2023, there were approximately $
      
       1.7
       million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to the outstanding restricted shares which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of approximately  1.0 years. As of December 31, 2022, there were $
      
       4.5
       million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to the outstanding restricted shares which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of approximately  1.8 years.

In light of the actions taken by the Board of Trustees to commence a process to review a broad range of strategic alternatives, on March 9, 2022, the 
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) approved certain modifications to the Company’s existing performance-based 
compensation programs to reflect the Company’s current focus on this strategic process and approved retention incentives to employees whose efforts 
will be critical to the execution of the strategic review process in the coming months.

These actions include: (i) amending the Company’s 2021 annual equity award program, pursuant to which grants are scheduled to be made in 2022 to be 
comprised entirely of time-based restricted stock units (rather than a mix of time-based and performance-based restricted stock units), which will vest 
ratably over a period of  3 years , subject to acceleration provisions in the event of certain termination of employment events; (ii) amending the 
Company’s annual cash bonus program to provide that annual cash bonuses for the 2022 performance year will be paid to employees who are eligible to 
receive a bonus in an amount equal to each individual’s target annual cash bonus incentive; and (iii) amending the Company’s 2022 and future annual 
equity award programs to provide for awards that would be scheduled to be granted in 2023 and subsequent years to be comprised of cash awards, in 
lieu of any further equity awards, with the cash awards to be in an amount equal to the eligible individual’s annual target equity award value and, unless 
otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant, subject to the vesting conditions applicable to the 2021 annual equity award 
program above. No previously granted awards were modified during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

SCHEDULE III—REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
DECEMBER 31, 2023
(Dollars in thousands)

 

       Acquisition Costs   
Subsequent to Acquisition 

(1)   at Close of Period (2)        Life Upon Which  

          
Buildings 

and      
Buildings 

and      
Buildings 

and      
Accumulat

ed   Date  Depreciation  

City  
Sta
te  

Encumbrance
s   Land   

Improveme
nts   Land   

Improveme
nts   Land   

Improveme
nts   Total   

Depreciatio
n   Acquired  is Computed  

North Little Rock  AR  (3)   $

          

1,288

  $

          

2,881

  $ —   $

          

2,836

  $

          

1,288

  $

          

5,717

  $

          

7,005

  $

(

          

1,060

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Mesa/East  AZ  (3)    

          

2,661

   

          

2,559

   —    

(

          

642

)   

          

2,661

   

          

1,917

   

          

4,578

   

(

          

494

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Yuma  AZ  (3)    

          

1,485

   

          

1,596

   —    

(

          

401

)   

          

1,485

   

          

1,195

   

          

2,680

   

(

          

338

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Riverside  CA  (3)    

          

1,054

   

          

494

   —    —    

          

1,054

   

          

494

   

          

1,548

   

(

          

146

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Riverside  CA  (3)    

          

3,343

   

          

2,778

   —    —    

          

3,343

   

          

2,778

   

          

6,121

   

(

          

817

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

San Bernardino  CA  (3)    

          

4,131

   

          

2,066

   —    

(

          

780

)   

          

4,131

   

          

1,286

   

          

5,417

   

(

          

364

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Temecula  CA  (3)    

          

6,098

   

          

2,214

   —    

          

13,582

   

          

6,098

   

          

15,796

   

          

21,894

   

(

          

1,805

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Boca Raton  FL  (3)    

          

16,089

   

          

7,480

   —    

(

          

515

)   

          

16,089

   

          

6,965

   

          

23,054

   

(

          

1,910

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Clearwater/Cntrysd  FL  (3)    

          

5,852

   

          

17,777

   —    

          

182

   

          

5,852

   

          

17,959

   

          

23,811

   

(

          

4,964

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Doral(Miami)  FL  (3)    

          

9,214

   

          

2,654

   —    

(

          

600

)   

          

9,214

   

          

2,054

   

          

11,268

   

(

          

563

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Ft Myers  FL  (3)    

          

3,168

   

          

2,853

   —    

(

          

418

)   

          

3,168

   

          

2,435

   

          

5,603

   

(

          

693

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Miami  FL  (3)    

          

13,264

   

          

61,577

   

(

          

5,022

)   

          

135,191

   

          

8,242

   

          

196,768

   

          

205,010

   

(

          

5,366

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Panama City  FL  (3)    

          

3,227

   

          

1,614

   —    

(

          

461

)   

          

3,227

   

          

1,153

   

          

4,380

   

(

          

316

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Plantation  FL  (3)    

          

6,933

   

          

2,509

   

(

          

3,360

)   

(

          

1,641

)   

          

3,573

   

          

868

   

          

4,441

   

(

          

366

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  



Cedar Rapids  IA  (3)    

          

2,833

   

          

2,197

   

(

          

1,841

)   

(

          

790

)   

          

992

   

          

1,407

   

          

2,399

   

(

          

533

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Braintree  MA  (3)    

          

6,585

   

          

5,614

   —    

          

14,596

   

          

6,585

   

          

20,210

   

          

26,795

   

(

          

4,352

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Edgewater  MD  (3)    

          

5,534

   

          

2,116

   

(

          

1,429

)   

(

          

970

)   

          

4,105

   

          

1,146

   

          

5,251

   

(

          

358

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Watchung  NJ  (3)    

          

6,704

   

          

4,110

   

(

          

1,945

)   

          

26,612

   

          

4,759

   

          

30,722

   

          

35,481

   

(

          

3,881

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Albany  NY  (3)    

          

8,289

   

          

6,523

   

(

          

1,012

)   

          

10,194

   

          

7,277

   

          

16,717

   

          

23,994

   

(

          

3,491

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

King of Prussia
 

PA
 

(3)
   —    

          

42,300
   —    

          

1,168
   -    

          

43,468
   

          

43,468
   

(

          

11,086
)  

          

           

July, 2015

          
 

(4)
 

Valley View  TX   (3 )   

          

4,706

   

          

3,230

   —    

(

          

3,230

)   

          

4,706

   -    

          

4,706

   -   

          

           

July, 2015

            (4 )

Redmond-Overlake 
Pk  WA  (3)    

          

5,133

   

          

4,133

   

          

14,514

   

(

          

1,552

)   

          

19,647

   

          

2,581

   

          

22,228

   

(

          

731

)  

          

           

July, 2015

           (4)  

Various    (3)    —    —    —    

          

136,818

   -    

          

136,818

   

          

136,818

   —   n/a  (4)  

       $

          

117,591

  $

          

181,275

  $

(
          

95

)  $

          

329,179

  $

          

117,496

  $

          

510,454

  $

          

627,950

  $

(
          

43,634

)      

(1) Includes reductions related to partial site sales and impairment of long-lived assets. 
(2) The aggregate cost of land, building and improvements for U.S. federal income tax purposes is approximately $
       
        858
        million.
(3) The Term Loan Facility is secured on a first lien basis by individual mortgages and a pledge of the capital stock of the direct subsidiaries of the Company, including those that own 
each of the Company’s properties. See Note 6.
(4) Depreciation is computed based on the following estimated useful lives:

            Building:  

          
           25
           – 
          
           40 years
          

            Site improvements:  

          
           5
           – 
          
           15 years
          

            Tenant improvements:  

          
           shorter of the estimated useful life or non-cancelable term of 
lease
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SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES

NOTES TO SCHEDULE III
(Dollars in thousands)

Reconciliation of Real Estate
 

  2023   2022   2021  

Balance at beginning of year  $

          

1,341,849
  $

          

1,851,082
  $

          

2,053,078
 

Additions   

          
           59,182

   

          

106,511
   

          

109,549
 

Impairments   

(
          

107,043
)   

(
          

126,887
)   

(
          

           95,826
)

Dispositions   

(
          

663,089
)   

(
          

486,976
)   

(
          

208,413
)

Write-offs   

(
          

           2,949
)   

(
          

           1,881
)   

(
          

           7,306
)

Balance at end of year  $

          

627,950
  $

          

1,341,849
  $

          

1,851,082
 

 

Reconciliation of Accumulated Depreciation
 

  2023   2022   2021  

Balance at beginning of year  $

          

124,131
  $

          

154,971
  $

          

142,206
 

Depreciation expense   

          
           13,020

   

          
           35,123

   

          
           43,744

 

Dispositions   

(
          

           89,815
)   

(
          

           65,963
)   

(
          

           23,145
)

Write-offs   

(
          

           3,702
)   —    

(
          

           7,834
)

Balance at end of year  $

          
           43,634

  $

          

124,131
  $

          

154,971
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Exhibit 10.2
 

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
OF SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES, L.P.

THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP of Seritage 
Growth Properties, L.P. (the “Partnership”), dated January 4, 2023 (this “Agreement”), is entered into between the 
undersigned (herein called the “Partners,” which term shall include any persons hereafter admitted to the Partnership and 
shall exclude any persons who cease to be Partners).

WHEREAS, the Partnership was formed as a limited partnership under the laws of the State of Delaware 
including, without limitation, the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act (the “Delaware Act”) on April 22, 2015; 

WHEREAS, the initial general partner and limited partners of the Partnership entered into an original 
agreement of limited partnership of the Partnership, effective as of July 7, 2015 (the “Original Partnership Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Original Partnership Agreement was amended and restated by the Amended and Restated 
Agreement of Limited Partnership, effective as of December 14, 2017 (the “Prior Partnership Agreement”);

WHEREAS, effective January 1, 2022, Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust 
and the general partner of the Partnership (the “General Partner”), revoked its election to be a real estate investment trust 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

WHEREAS, on July 6, 2022, ESL Partners, L.P. and Edward S. Lampert, as limited partners of the 
Partnership, exercised their redemption rights with respect to all of their Common Units (as defined in the Prior Partnership 
Agreement), and the General Partner elected to acquire all of such tendered Common Units in exchange for the REIT 
Shares Amount (as defined in the Prior Partnership Agreement) (the “Exchange”);

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the Exchange, the General Partner transferred 12,354,963 Common Units 
to SRG Limited Partner, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“SRG Limited Partner”), and SRG Limited Partner was 
admitted as a limited partner of the Partnership. SRG Limited Partner is a wholly owned subsidiary of the General Partner 
and is disregarded as a separate entity from the General Partner for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

WHEREAS, the Partners of the Partnership are Seritage Growth Properties, as the General Partner and a 
limited partner, and SRG Limited Partner, as a limited partner; and

WHEREAS, Seritage Growth Properties and SRG Limited Partner believe it is desirable and in the best 
interest of the Partnership to amend and restate the Prior Partnership Agreement as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:
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ARTICLE I 

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1 Continuation

The Partners hereby agree to continue the limited partnership (the “Partnership”) pursuant to and in 
accordance with the Delaware Act. The term of the Partnership commenced on April 22, 2015 and shall continue until 
dissolution of the Partnership in accordance with the provisions of Article V.

1.2 Partnership Name

The name of the Partnership is Seritage Growth Properties, L.P.

1.3 Registered Agent; Place of Business and Office

The registered agent of the Partnership for service of process in the State of Delaware and the registered 
office of the Partnership in the State of Delaware is at The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 
Orange St., Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware 19801. The principal place of business of the Partnership shall be at 
500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1530, New York, New York 10110, or such other place as the General Partner may determine.

1.4 Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Partnership (the “Fiscal Year”) for accounting and tax purposes shall be the calendar 
year. The General Partner is authorized to take such action as it may deem necessary or appropriate to adopt a Fiscal Year 
ending on any other date. The General Partner is also authorized to make all elections for tax or other purposes as it may 
deem necessary or appropriate in such connection, including the establishment and implementation of transition periods.

1.5 General Partner

The general partner of the Partnership is Seritage Growth Properties.

1.6 Limited Partners

The limited partners of the Partnership (the “Limited Partners”) are Seritage Growth Properties and SRG 
Limited Partner, LLC.

1.7 Liability of Partners

Except as provided herein or by the Delaware Act, the General Partner shall have the liabilities of a partner 
in a partnership without limited partners. The Limited Partners shall have no liability under this Agreement except as 
provided herein or by the Delaware Act.

-2-
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1.8 Purposes of the Partnership

The purpose of the Partnership is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which limited partnerships may 
be organized under the Delaware Act.

1.9 Reliance by Third Parties

Persons dealing with the Partnership are entitled to rely conclusively upon the power and authority of the 
General Partner as herein set forth.

ARTICLE II 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS OF THE PARTNERSHIP

2.1 Management Generally

The management of the Partnership shall be vested exclusively in the General Partner. The Limited 
Partners shall have no part in the management or control of the Partnership and shall have no authority or right to act on 
behalf of the Partnership in connection with any matter.

2.2 Authority of the General Partner

The General Partner shall have the power on behalf and in the name of the Partnership to carry out any and 
all of the objects and purposes of the Partnership set forth in Section 1.8 and to perform all acts which it may deem 
necessary or advisable.

Each of the Partners agrees that all determinations, decisions and actions made or taken by the General 
Partner shall be conclusive and absolutely binding upon the Partnership, the Partners and their respective successors, 
assigns and personal representatives.

2.3 Tax Matters 

The Partners intend that the Partnership will be treated as disregarded as a separate entity from Seritage 
Growth Properties for U.S. federal, state and local tax purposes, and agree that the Partners shall not take any action 
inconsistent with such treatment without the prior written consent of the General Partner.

ARTICLE III 

CONTRIBUTIONS

3.1 Capital Contributions of the General Partner

The General Partner has made capital contributions to the Partnership in such amounts as are reflected on 
the books and records of the Partnership. The General Partner may, but is not required to, lend any funds or make 
additional capital contributions to the Partnership.

-3-
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3.2 Capital Contributions of the Limited Partners

The Limited Partners have made capital contributions to the Partnership in such amount as is reflected on 
the books and records of the Partnership. The Limited Partners are not required to lend any funds or to make additional 
capital contributions to the Partnership.

ARTICLE IV 

DISTRIBUTIONS

The Partnership shall make all distributions to the Partners at the times and in the amounts that the General 
Partner determines. Distributions will be made to the Partners pro rata (based upon value) in accordance with the Partners’ 
relative equity interests (which are set out in Exhibit A).
 
 

ARTICLE V 

DURATION

The Partnership shall continue until the General Partner’s determination to dissolve the Partnership and to 
wind up the Partnership’s affairs.

ARTICLE VI 

TRANSFERABILITY OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

6.1 Transfer

No Partner may sell, exchange, transfer, assign, make a gift of, donate, bequeath, devise, pledge, 
hypothecate or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its interest in the Partnership without the consent of the General 
Partner.

6.2 Payment Upon Withdrawal

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, unless the General Partner determines otherwise, no 
distribution shall be paid to a Partner upon its withdrawal, whether in the connection with the voluntary assignment of its 
entire partnership interest or otherwise.

ARTICLE VII 

ADMISSION OF LIMITED PARTNERS

The General Partner may cause the Partnership to admit additional limited partners (“Additional Limited 
Partners”) at any time.
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ARTICLE VIII 

INDEMNIFICATION AND EXCULPATION 

8.1 Indemnification. 

(a) The Partnership shall indemnify an Indemnitee (as defined below) from and against any and all losses, 
claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, settlements, 
and other amounts arising from any and all claims, demands, actions, suits or proceedings, civil, criminal, administrative or 
investigative, that relate to the operations of the Partnership as set forth in this Agreement in which any Indemnitee may be 
involved, or is threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, unless (i) it is established that the act or omission of the 
Indemnitee constituted fraud, intentional harm or gross negligence on the part of the Indemnitee; (ii) the claim is brought by 
the Indemnitee (other than to enforce the Indemnitee’s rights to indemnification or advance of expenses); or (iii) the 
Indemnitee is found to be liable to the Partnership, and then only with respect to each such claim. Without limitation, the 
foregoing indemnity shall extend to any liability of any Indemnitee, pursuant to a loan guaranty or otherwise, for any 
indebtedness of the Partnership or any Subsidiary of the Partnership (including, without limitation, any indebtedness that 
the Partnership or any Subsidiary of the Partnership has assumed or taken subject to), and the General Partner is hereby 
authorized and empowered, on behalf of the Partnership, to enter into one or more indemnity agreements consistent with 
the provisions of this Section 8.1 in favor of any Indemnitee having or potentially having liability for any such indebtedness. 
The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order or settlement does not create a presumption that the Indemnitee did 
not meet the requisite standard of conduct set forth in this Section 8.1(a). The termination of any proceeding by conviction 
or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, or any entry of an order of probation prior to judgment, creates a 
rebuttable presumption that the Indemnitee acted in a manner contrary to that specified in this Section 8.1(a). Any 
indemnification pursuant to this Section 8.1 shall be made only out of the assets of the Partnership.

(b) Reasonable expenses incurred by an Indemnitee who is a party to a proceeding may be paid or 
reimbursed by the Partnership in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding upon receipt by the Partnership of (i) a 
written affirmation by the Indemnitee of the Indemnitee’s good faith belief that the standard of conduct necessary for 
indemnification by the Partnership as authorized in Section 8.1(a) has been met and (ii) a written undertaking by or on 
behalf of the Indemnitee to repay the amount if it shall ultimately be determined that the standard of conduct has not been 
met.

(c) The indemnification provided by this Section 8.1 shall be in addition to any other rights to which an 
Indemnitee or any other Person may be entitled under any agreement, pursuant to any vote of the Partners, as a matter of 
law or otherwise, and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to serve in such capacity.

(d) The Partnership may purchase and maintain insurance, on behalf of the Indemnitees and such other 
Persons as the General Partner shall determine, against any liability that may be asserted against or expenses that may be 
incurred by such Person in connection with the Partnership’s activities, regardless of whether the Partnership would have 
the power to indemnify such Person against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement.

-5-
 DOCPROPERTY "CUS_DocIDChunk0" 31293378



 

(e) For purposes of this Section 8.1, the Partnership shall be deemed to have requested an Indemnitee to 
serve as fiduciary of an employee benefit plan whenever the performance by it of its duties to the Partnership also imposes 
duties on, or otherwise involves services by, it to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan; excise taxes assessed 
on an Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law shall constitute fines within the 
meaning of this Section 8.1; and actions taken or omitted by the Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan in the 
performance of its duties for a purpose reasonably believed by it to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of 
the plan shall be deemed to be for a purpose which is not opposed to the best interests of the Partnership.

(f) In no event may an Indemnitee subject the Limited Partners to personal liability by reason of the 
indemnification provisions set forth in this Agreement.

(g) An Indemnitee shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 8.1 because the 
Indemnitee had an interest in the transaction with respect to which the indemnification applies if the transaction was 
otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement.

(h) The provisions of this Section 8.1 are for the benefit of the Indemnitees, their heirs, successors, assigns 
and administrators and shall not be deemed to create any rights for the benefit of any other persons. Any amendment, 
modification or repeal of this Section 8.1 or any provision hereof shall be prospective only and shall not in any way affect 
the limitations on the Partnership’s liability to any Indemnitee under this Section 8.1 as in effect immediately prior to such 
amendment, modification or repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, 
prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

(i) If and to the extent any reimbursements to the General Partner pursuant to this Section 8.1 constitute 
gross income of the General Partner (as opposed to the repayment of advances made by the General Partner on behalf of 
the Partnership) such amounts shall constitute guaranteed payments within the meaning of section 707(c) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time (the “Code”), shall be treated consistently therewith by the 
Partnership and all Partners, and shall not be treated as distributions for purposes of computing the Partners’ Capital 
Accounts.

(j) “Indemnitee” means (i) any person made a party, or threatened to be made a party, to a proceeding by 
reason of his, her or its status as (a) Seritage Growth Properties, (b) the General Partner or (c) a director, trustee, officer, or 
employee of Seritage Growth Properties, the General Partner or the Partnership, and (ii) such other persons (including, 
without limitation, affiliates, officers, employees and agents of Seritage Growth Properties, the General Partner or the 
Partnership or any of their respective Subsidiaries) as the General Partner may designate from time to time (whether 
before or after the event giving rise to potential liability), in its sole and absolute discretion. “Subsidiary” means, with respect 
to any person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or other entity of which 50% or more of 
(i) the voting power of the voting equity securities or (ii) the outstanding equity interests is owned, directly or indirectly, by 
such person.

8.2 Liability of the General Partner

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the 
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General Partner shall not be liable or accountable in damages or otherwise to the Partnership, any Partners or any 
Assignees for losses sustained, liabilities incurred or benefits derived as a result of errors in judgment or mistakes of fact or 
law or any act or omission except in the event of the General Partner’s willful misconduct or recklessness.

(b) The Limited Partners expressly acknowledge that the General Partner is acting for the benefit of the 
Partnership, the Limited Partners and the General Partner’s shareholders collectively, that the General Partner is under no 
obligation to give priority to the separate interests of the Limited Partners or the General Partner’s shareholders (including, 
without limitation, the tax consequences to Limited Partners or Assignees or to shareholders) in deciding whether to cause 
the Partnership to take (or decline to take) any actions and that the General Partner shall not be liable to the Partnership or 
to any Partner for monetary damages for losses sustained, liabilities incurred, or benefits not derived by Limited Partners in 
connection with such decisions, except in the event of the General Partner’s willful misconduct or recklessness.

(c) Subject to its obligations and duties as General Partner set forth in Section 2.1 and Section 2.2, the 
General Partner may exercise any of the powers granted to it by this Agreement and perform any of the duties imposed 
upon it hereunder either directly or by or through its agents. The General Partner shall not be responsible for any 
misconduct or negligence on the part of any such agent appointed by it, except in the event of the General Partner’s willful 
misconduct or recklessness.

(d) Any amendment, modification or repeal of this Section 8.2 or any provision hereof shall be prospective 
only and shall not in any way affect the limitations on the General Partner’s liability to the Partnership and the Limited 
Partners under this Section 8.2 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or repeal with respect to 
claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, 
regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

8.3 Other Matters Concerning the General Partner

(a) The General Partner may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any 
resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture, or other paper 
or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

(b) The General Partner may consult with legal counsel, accountants, appraisers, management consultants, 
investment bankers and other consultants and advisers selected by it, and any act taken or omitted to be taken in reliance 
upon the advice or opinion of such persons as to matters which such General Partner reasonably believes to be within such 
person’s professional or expert competence shall be conclusively presumed to have been done or omitted in good faith and 
in accordance with such advice or opinion.

(c) The General Partner shall have the right, in respect of any of its powers or obligations hereunder, to act 
through any of its duly authorized officers and a duly appointed attorney or attorneys-in-fact. Each such attorney shall, to the 
extent provided by the General 
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Partner in the power of attorney, have full power and authority to do and perform all and every act and duty which is 
permitted or required to be done by the General Partner hereunder.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement or any nonmandatory provision of the Act, any 
action of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership or any decision of the General Partner to refrain from acting on 
behalf of the Partnership, undertaken in the good faith belief that such action or omission is necessary or advisable in order 
(i) to protect the ability of the General Partner to qualify as a REIT through December 31, 2021 or (ii) to avoid the General 
Partner incurring any taxes under section 857 or section 4981 of the Code for any taxable period ended on or before 
December 31, 2021, is expressly authorized under this Agreement and is deemed approved by all of the Limited Partners.

ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS

9.1 Amendments to the Agreement

This Agreement may be changed or amended by the General Partner without the consent of the Limited 
Partners. 

9.2 Governing Law; Severability

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware. 
In particular, it shall be construed to the maximum extent possible to comply with all of the terms and conditions of the 
Delaware Act. If, nevertheless, it shall be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that any provision or wording of this 
Agreement shall be invalid or unenforceable under the Delaware Act or other applicable law, such invalidity or 
unenforceability shall not invalidate the entire agreement. In that case, this Agreement shall be construed to the extent 
permitted by applicable law so as to limit any term or provision so as to make it enforceable or valid within the requirements 
of any applicable law, and, in the event such term or provision cannot be so limited, this Agreement shall be construed to 
omit such invalid or unenforceable provisions.

9.3 Power of Attorney

The Limited Partners do hereby constitute and appoint the General Partner as their true and lawful 
representatives and attorneys-in-fact, in their name, place and stead to make, execute, sign and file any such instruments, 
documents and certificates which may from time to time be required by the laws of the United States of America, the State 
of Delaware or any other state in which the Partnership shall determine to do business or any political subdivision or agency 
thereof, to effectuate, implement and continue the valid and subsisting existence or qualification to do business of the 
Partnership or in connection with any tax returns, filings or related matters or in relation to any admissions of any Additional 
Limited Partners in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The power of attorney granted hereby is coupled with an 
interest and shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the subsequent death, bankruptcy, incompetence or 
dissolution of any Limited Partner.

9.4 Effectiveness of Agreement
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In accordance with section 17-201 of the Delaware Act, this Agreement shall be effective as of July 6, 2022.
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The undersigned have executed and delivered this Agreement on the date first above written.

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
as General Partner

 
By:  

Name: 
Title: Authorized Person

 

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
as Limited Partner

 
By:  

Name: 
Title: Authorized Person

 

SRG LIMITED PARTNER, LLC
as Limited Partner

 
By:  

Name: 
Title: Authorized Person

 

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Seritage Growth Properties L.P.]
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EXHIBIT A

PARTNERS, CONTRIBUTIONS AND PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

As of January 4, 2023

Common Units

Name and Address of 
Partner

 
Economic 

Units

Economic 
Percentage 

Interest
    
GENERAL PARTNER   

   

Seritage Growth Properties 31,856,054 56.85294%

   

LIMITED PARTNERS   

SRG Limited Partner, LLC 12,354,963 22.04968%

Seritage Growth Properties 11,821,364 21.09738%
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Exhibit 10.38
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 2
 
 

December 28, 2023 Andrea Olshan
 

Dear Andrea,
 

Reference is made to that certain employment agreement between you and Seritage Growth Properties (the 
“Company”), dated February 7, 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”), as amended by that certain Employment Agreement 
Amendment 1, dated March 15, 2022 (the “Original Amendment”). Capitalized terms that are not defined herein shall have the 
meanings assigned to such terms in the Employment Agreement.

 
In recognition of the contributions that you have made, and which we expect you to continue to make, to the success of 

the Company, the Compensation Committee has approved certain amendments to the Employment Agreement, subject to all of 
the terms and conditions of this Employment Agreement Amendment 2 (this “Amendment”), which terms and conditions shall (i) 
be deemed to be added to the terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement and (ii) supersede the terms and conditions of 
the Original Amendment.

 
1. Employment Agreement Amendments.

 
a. Annual Salary. Your Annual Salary will continue to be paid in periodic installments in accordance with the 

Company’s customary payroll practices and applicable wage payment laws. During the period of your employment with the 
Company, your “Annual Salary” will be
(i) $1,000,000 for the Annual Period beginning March 16, 2023; (ii) $1,050,000 for the Annual Period beginning March 16, 2024; 
(iii) $1,102,500 for the Annual Period beginning March 16, 2025; and (iv) for each Annual Period thereafter, an amount equal to 
105% of your Annual Salary for the immediately preceding Annual Period. For purposes of this Amendment, “Annual Period” 
means the period of time beginning on March 16th of a particular calendar year and ending on March 15th of the following calendar 
year.

b. Annual Bonus. Your annual bonus for each calendar year during the period of your employment with the 
Company will be paid no later than March 15 of the following calendar year, if you are employed on the payment date, in the 
amount of your Target Bonus Amount for the Annual Period beginning in such calendar year, and there will be no performance 
metrics applicable to your annual bonus. For purposes of this Amendment, “Target Bonus Amount” means (i) $1,400,000 for the 
Annual Period beginning March 16, 2023; (ii) $1,470,000 for the Annual Period beginning March 16, 2024; (iii)
$1,543,500 for the Annual Period beginning March 16, 2025; and (iv) for each Annual Period thereafter, an amount equal to 105% 
of the Target Bonus Amount for the immediately preceding Annual Period.

c. Outstanding Equity Awards. The 2021 annual equity award granted to you in calendar year 2022 (the “2021 
Award”) will continue to vest ratably in three annual installments measured from the grant date, subject to your employment 
through the applicable vesting date; provided, that vesting of the 2021 Award will fully accelerate in the event of a termination of 
the your employment by the Company without Cause or by you for Good Reason, or in the event the 2021 Award is not assumed 
in a transaction that is a Change in Control, all in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement with respect to Annual 
RSUs. For the avoidance of doubt, the terms of Sections 2(g) and 3(b)(v) of the Employment Agreement, in each case, concerning the 
treatment of outstanding equity awards in the event of a Change 

 



 
 

in Control and in the event of certain termination events, respectively, will continue to govern your outstanding equity awards.

d. Cash in Lieu of Future Equity Grants. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2(d) of the 
Employment Agreement regarding the applicable form of equity awards, in lieu of any future annual equity grants, your Target 
Equity Amount will be granted to you in the form of a cash award on March 15th of the applicable year during the period of your 
employment with the Company, rather than in the form of an equity award (each, a “Cash Award”). For purposes of this 
Amendment, “Target Equity Amount” means $2,000,000. Each Cash Award will vest in the manner set forth below, subject to 
your employment through the applicable vesting date (except as otherwise provided below). The vested portion of each Cash 
Award will be paid to you on the Company’s first regular payroll date after the applicable vesting date.

e.
i. 2022 Award. Pursuant to the terms of the Original Amendment, in lieu of your 2022 annual equity 

grant, you were granted a Cash Award of $2,000,000 on March 15, 2023 (the “2022 Award”). The 2022 Award was originally 
scheduled to vest in three equal annual installments measured from the grant date, subject to your employment in through the 
applicable vesting date. This Amendment modifies the vesting schedule of the 2022 Award, such that (A) one-third of the award 
will vest on March 15, 2024, (B) one-third of the award will vest on December 31, 2024, and (C) one-third of the award will vest on 
December 31, 2025, in each case, subject to your employment through the applicable vesting date.

ii. Future Awards. Beginning in 2024 and for each subsequent calendar year thereafter during the 
period of your employment with the Company, in lieu of all future annual equity grants, you will be granted a Cash Award with a 
value equal to the Target Equity Amount on March 15 of the applicable year (each, a “Future Award”), subject to your continued 
employment on the grant date. Each Future Award will vest as to (A) one-third of the award on the grant date, (B) one-third of the 
award on December 31st of the calendar year in which the grant date occurs, and (C) one-third of the award on December 31st of 
the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the grant date occurs, in each case, subject to your 
employment through the applicable vesting date.

iii. Accelerated Vesting Events. In the event of a termination of your employment by the Company 
without Cause or by you for Good Reason, or in the event the Cash Awards are not assumed in a transaction that is a Change in 
Control, the vesting of your outstanding Cash Awards will accelerate in full as of the date of such event.

f. Enhanced Severance Multiple. The reference to your “two (2) times” severance multiple in Section 3(b)(ii) of 
the Employment Agreement is hereby removed and replaced with a reference to a “two and a half (2.5) times” severance multiple.

2. Miscellaneous.

a. This Amendment shall be considered an amendment to the Employment Agreement, and shall supersede any 
prior amendment thereto (including, without limitation, the Original Amendment), pursuant to the terms thereof. All other terms and 
conditions set forth in the Employment Agreement, except as specifically modified by this Amendment, shall continue in full force 
and effect.

b. This Amendment constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and supersedes all prior 
representations, agreements, and understandings (including any prior course of dealings), both written and oral, between the 
parties hereto with respect to the changes to the Company’s cash bonus program or annual equity grant program.

c. This Amendment shall be binding whether it is between the Company and you or between any such successor 
and you.

d. This Amendment may be executed via PDF or facsimile and in any number of counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

 



 

 
e. This Amendment may be executed via PDF or facsimile and in any number of counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
 

[Signature Page Follows]
 
 



 

We look forward to your continued contributions to the success of the Company. Please acknowledge your acceptance of 
the terms of this Amendment and return it to the Company as soon as possible.

 
Sincerely,

 
Seritage Growth Properties

 
 

By:  Name: Matthew Fernand
Title: Chief Legal Officer & Corporate Secretary

 
 

Acknowledged and agreed:
 
Andrea Olshan

 
Date: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDMENT 2]



 

 
Exhibit 21.1

 

Subsidiary Name  
State or Other Jurisdiction

of Incorporation or Organization
Seritage Growth Properties, L.P.  Delaware
Seritage SRC Finance LLC  Delaware
Seritage KMT Finance LLC  Delaware
Seritage SRC Mezzanine Finance LLC  Delaware
Seritage KMT Mezzanine Finance LLC  Delaware
Seritage Management LLC  Delaware
Seritage GS Holdings LLC  Delaware
Seritage SPS Holdings LLC  Delaware
Seritage MS Holdings LLC  Delaware
Seritage GS Holdings (2017) LLC  Delaware
SRG Mark 302 Member LLC  Delaware
Mark 302 JV LLC  Delaware
Mark 302 Property Owner LLC  Delaware
SRG UTC Member LLC  Delaware
SI UTC LLC  Delaware
SI UTC Property Owner LLC  Delaware
SRC WH Member LLC  Delaware
SF WH Joint Venture LLC  Delaware
SRC NJ Holdings LLC  Delaware
Seritage JV Holdco LLC  Delaware
SRG Landmark Member LLC  Delaware
SRG Cockeysville Member LLC          Delaware 
SRG Tech Ridge Member LLC          Delaware 
Tech Ridge JV Holdings LLC          Delaware
Tech Ridge JV Developer LLC          Delaware 
SRG Carson Member LLC          Delaware
Seritage TRS LLC          Delaware
SRG Riverside Member LLC          Delaware
SRG West Covina Member LLC          Delaware
SRG-FP Riverside JV LLC          Delaware
SRG-FP West Covina JV LLC          Delaware
West Covina Holdings LLC          Delaware
West Covina Property Owner LLC          Delaware
Riverside (CA) Holdings LLC          Delaware
 
 



 

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-205538 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-261418 on 
Form S-3 of our reports dated April 1, 2024, relating to the financial statements of Seritage Growth Properties and the effectiveness of Seritage Growth 
Properties’ internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.
 
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
 
New York, New York
April 1, 2024

 



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrea Olshan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Seritage Growth Properties;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

 
/s/ Andrea Olshan  Date: April 1, 2024
Andrea Olshan   
President and Chief Executive Officer   

 



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, John Garilli, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Seritage Growth Properties;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

 
/s/ John Garilli  Date: April 1, 2024
John Garilli   
Interim Chief Financial Officer   
 



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report of Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Andrea Olshan, President and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ Andrea Olshan
Andrea Olshan
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 1, 2024

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Seritage Growth Properties and will be retained by Seritage 
Growth Properties and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report of Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, John Garilli, Interim Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
/s/ John Garilli
John Garilli
Interim Chief Financial Officer
April 1, 2024

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Seritage Growth Properties and will be retained by Seritage 
Growth Properties and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



 

Exhibit 97.1

SERITAGE GROWTH PROPERTIES
2023 CLAWBACK POLICY

 
Adopted by the Board: November 16, 2023

 
1. Purpose. The Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to create and maintain a 
culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s pay-for-performance compensation 
philosophy. The Board has, therefore, adopted this Policy, which provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in 
the event of an Accounting Restatement and is designed to comply with, and will be interpreted to be consistent with, the 
Applicable Rules.

 
2. Definitions.

 

a. “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement by the Company due to the Company’s material 
noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required restatement to 
correct an error in the Company’s previously issued financial statements (i) that is material to the previously issued 
financial statements (i.e., a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) that would result in a material misstatement if the error were 
corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (i.e., a “little r” restatement).

 
b. “Accounting Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date on which the Board, or the officers of the 
Company authorized to take action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that 
the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement and (ii) the date on which any court, regulator, or other 
legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement, in either case, regardless of whether 
or when the restated financial statements are filed with the SEC.

 
c. “Applicable Rules” means Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and 
Section 303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual, in each case, as amended from time to time.

 
d. “Board” means the Board of Trustees of the Company.

 
e. “Clawback Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the Accounting Restatement Date 
as well as any transition period that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year within or immediately following 
those three completed fiscal years; provided, that a transition period lasting nine months or longer will count as a 
completed fiscal year for purposes determining the Clawback Period.

 
f. “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

 
g. “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

 
h. “Company” means Seritage Growth Properties, a Maryland real estate investment trust.

 
i. “Company Group” means the Company and each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries.
j. “Covered Executives” means the Company’s president, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer (or, if 
there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any 

 



 

vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, 
or finance), any other officer of the Company who performs a policy-making function, and any other person who performs 
similar policy-making functions for the Company. An executive officer of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries is 
deemed to be a Covered Executive if the executive officer performs policy-making functions for the Company. For 
purposes of this definition, policy-making functions are not intended to include policy-making functions that are not 
significant, and identification of a Covered Executive for purposes of this definition would include the minimum executive 
officers identified pursuant to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K.

 
k. “Effective Date” means October 2, 2023.

 
l. “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, in the event of an Accounting Restatement, the amount of Incentive-
Based Compensation Received by a Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that 
otherwise would have been Received by such Covered Executive had it been determined based on the restated amounts 
in such Accounting Restatement, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board based on all applicable facts and 
circumstances (including, without limitation, the time value of money, the gross amount of dividends or other distributions 
received by the Covered Executive in respect of the Incentive-Based Compensation, and any gain realized by the 
Covered Executive upon the subsequent disposition of any property received in connection with any Incentive-Based 
Compensation); provided, that (i) the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation must be computed without regard to 
any taxes paid by such Covered Executive; and (ii) for Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Executive 
based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject 
to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Accounting Restatement, (A) the amount of Erroneously 
Awarded Compensation must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the 
stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received, and (B) the 
Company must maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such 
documentation to the Stock Exchange.

 
m. “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

 
n. “Existing Policy” means the Seritage Growth Properties Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy.

 
o. “Financial Reporting Measures” means any measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the 
accounting principles used in the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part 
from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also Financial Reporting Measures. A Financial 
Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC 
to be considered a Financial Reporting Measure.

 
p. “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part 
upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

 
q. “Policy” means this Seritage Growth Properties 2023 Clawback Policy, as it may be

amended, restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time.
 
 
 



 

r. “Received” means, with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation, actual or deemed receipt of such compensation, 
and Incentive-Based Compensation will be deemed Received by a Covered Executive in the Company’s fiscal period 
during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if 
the payment or grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period. For the avoidance of 
doubt, Incentive-Based Compensation that is subject to deferral pursuant to a deferred compensation plan of the 
Company Group will be deemed Received by the Covered Executive for purposes of this Policy as of the date of deferral.

 
s. “SEC” means that U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
t. “Stock Exchange” means the New York Stock Exchange.

 
3. Administration. This Policy will be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, the Committee, in which case 
references herein to the Board will be deemed references to the Committee. The Board has full and final authority to make all 
determinations under this Policy and in compliance with (or pursuant to an exemption from the application of) Section 409A of the 
Code. The Board may consult with the Audit Committee of the Board in evaluating any determinations made pursuant to this 
Policy. Any determinations made by the Board will be final, conclusive, and binding on all persons, including the Company, its 
shareholders, and the Covered Executives. Any action or inaction by the Board with respect to a Covered Executive under this 
Policy in no way limits the Board’s actions or decisions not to act with respect to any other Covered Executive under this Policy or 
under any similar policy, agreement, or arrangement, nor will any such action or inaction serve as a waiver of any rights the that 
the Company Group may have against any Covered Executive, other than as set forth in this Policy. The Board may authorize and 
empower any officer or employee of the Company Group to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to carry out the 
purpose and intent of this Policy, other than with respect to any recovery under this Policy involving such officer or employee.

 
4. Scope of Application. This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered Executive on or after the 
Effective Date and during any applicable Clawback Period if

(a) such Incentive-Based Compensation was Received by the Covered Executive after beginning service as a Covered 
Executive, (b) the Covered Executive served as a Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for such 
Incentive-Based Compensation, and (c) the Incentive- Based Compensation was Received by the Covered Executive 
while the Company had a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association.

 
5. Clawback Requirement. If the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company Group must recover 
(and each Covered Executive must repay), reasonably promptly, each Covered Executive’s Erroneously Awarded Compensation, 
except as provided in Section 7 of this Policy. The Company may recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation in any manner set 
forth in Section 6 of this Policy.

 
6. Clawback Methods. The Board will determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for recovering each Covered 
Executive’s Erroneously Awarded Compensation in a reasonably prompt manner, which may include, without limitation, one or 
more of the following methods (applied individually or jointly):

 
a. requiring the Covered Executive to repay the Company Group in cash or other property determined to be 
acceptable by the Board;

 
 
 



 

b. offsetting the Erroneously Awarded Compensation against any compensation otherwise owing by the 
Company Group to the Covered Executive or to be earned by the Covered Executive;

 
c. cancelling outstanding vested or unvested cash or equity awards;

 
d. cancelling or offsetting against any planned future cash or equity awards; and

 
e. taking any other remedial and recovery action authorized by law or contract.

 
7. Exceptions to Clawback Requirement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Policy, the Company Group’s recovery 
obligation under this Policy will not apply to the extent that either the Committee or, if the determination is made by the Board, a 
majority of the independent directors serving on the Board, determines that such recovery would be impracticable and that one or 
more of the following applies:

 
a. the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount of the Erroneously 
Awarded Compensation; provided, that before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of 
Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company Group must (i) make a reasonable 
attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, (ii) document such reasonable attempt to recover, and (iii) 
provide that documentation to the Stock Exchange;

 
b. recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022; provided, that 
before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on 
violation of home country law, the Company Group must (i) obtain an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the 
Stock Exchange, that recovery would result in such a violation and

(ii) provide such opinion to the Stock Exchange; or
 

c. recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to 
employees of the Company Group, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) of the Code or Section 411(a) of 
the Code.

 
8. Indemnification. Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification arrangement or insurance policy or contract with, or for the 
benefit of, any Covered Executive, the Company Group may not indemnify any Covered Executive against the loss of Erroneously 
Awarded Compensation, including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of third-party insurance purchased by any Covered 
Executive to fund potential clawback obligations under this Policy, or against the requirement to reimburse the Company 
hereunder for expenses incurred by the Company in recovering Erroneously Awarded Compensation. No member of the Board 
who assists in the administration of this Policy will be liable for any action, determination, or interpretation made with respect to 
this Policy, and each member of the Board will be fully indemnified by the Company Group to the fullest extent under applicable 
law or Company Group policy with respect to such

action, determination, or interpretation.
 
9. Required Disclosures. The Company will file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of 
the federal securities laws, including any disclosures required by the SEC.

 
10. Adoption Date; Effective Date. This Policy was adopted by the Board on November 16, 2023, 

 
 



 

and will be effective as the Effective Date. The terms and conditions of this Policy will apply to Incentive-Based Compensation that 
is Received by any Covered Executive on or after the Effective Date, even if such Incentive-Based Compensation was approved, 
awarded, or granted to the Covered Executive prior to the Effective Date.

 
11. Amendment; Termination. The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion. The Board may suspend, 
discontinue, or terminate this Policy at any time.

 
12. Other Recovery Rights. The Board intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest permissible extent. The Board may 
require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement entered into on or after the Effective Date 
will, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Executive to agree to be subject to and to abide by 
the terms of this Policy. Any right of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of 
recovery that may be available to the Company Group pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, 
equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company Group. In the event of a 
Restatement, the terms of this Policy will be applied first and the Board may apply the terms of the Existing Policy in addition to, 
but not in lieu of, any recovery provided for under this Policy. To the extent that the application of this Policy would provide for 
recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation that the Company Group could also recover, or has previously recovered, from a 
Covered Executive pursuant to the Existing Policy, Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or other recovery obligations, 
the amount such Covered Executive reimburses to, or has already reimbursed to, the Company Group will be credited to the 
required recovery under this Policy.

 
13. Successors. This Policy will be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, 
executors, administrators, and other legal representatives.

 
14. Governing Law; Venue. This Policy and all rights and obligations hereunder are governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the State of New York, excluding any choice of law rules or principles that may direct the application of the laws of 
another jurisdiction. The state and federal courts located in the State of New York will have exclusive jurisdiction in any action, 
lawsuit or proceeding based on or arising out of this Policy.

 
 




